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Chairman’s Message
EFEAL

| am honored to have joined the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) in early 2025 and to serve as the
chairman of the Board. On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present
this report.

Looking back to this financial year, the property sector in Mainland
China faced downward pressure and risks. Although policy adjustments
and optimizations gradually alleviated some of these pressures, the
overall real estate market remained under significant strain. In this
challenging industry environment, real estate developers have slowed
down the progress of their projects generally. After completing certain
existing property projects, the Group was unable to secure new suitable
projects at the desired pace, resulting in a notable decline in revenue for
the relevant business segment. In addition, the termination of operating
rights in the centralised heating business was another major cause of
the decrease in revenue. In response to revenue pressure, the Group
continued to strengthen cost and expense management throughout the
year in an effort to mitigate the impact of declining revenue on financial
results.

On the other hand, building upon the past development in big data
operations, the Group has dedicated full efforts to drive business
transformation. Since early 2025, the Group has anchored the
robotics industry as its core future development and actively pursued
collaborative opportunities with market-leading enterprises in related
fields. As of the date of this report, the Group has established joint
ventures as the operation platforms for the new business, introduced
strategic shareholders to the joint ventures and assembled operation
teams, initiated comprehensive collaborative relationship with upstream
and downstream enterprises across the industry chain, and committed
to stimulating robotics product demand and implementing business
models in diverse application scenarios including property, healthcare,
education, and health and wellness. To demonstrate the commitment
to business transformation, the Company completed the change of
company name in May 2025, reinforcing its renewed corporate identity
and image to deepen roots in the robotics sector. The Group expects to
further refine and finalize integration across products, sales, and supply
chains in the foreseeable future to generate desirable business returns.
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Currently, the momentum of economic development in the Group’s
major operating regions (Mainland China and Hong Kong) is gradually
improving, and the capital market is also embracing multiple favorable
conditions. Despite negative factors such as international geopolitical
situations and global trade disputes have brought some uncertainties to
the market and macroeconomic environment, the Group will adhere to
prudent operation and continuous innovation to cope with challenges.
The robotics industry has a promising prospect. Coupled with the
commercialization and popularization of robot application, the market
growth potential of robotics industry will capture global attention.
Leveraging its foothold in the Hong Kong capital market and integrating
the industry strengths of its various partners, the Group is confident in
establishing its own robotics business field and capturing greater market
share.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my
heartfelt thanks to the management, all our employees and partners
for their contributions to the development of the Group as well as to
shareholders for their continued support to the Company. With the
support and contributions from all parties, the Group will continue to
strive for the best to achieve a better performance and create a greater
value for our shareholders!

Li Mengzhe
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Management Discussion And Analysis
BB wm R

Year ended 31 March
BE-HA=1+—HILEE

2025 2024
—E-RfE —E-mE
HKS$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEET
Financial Results Highlight MBEERHE
Continuing operations FEREETR
Revenue W &= 116.1 213.3
Total operating costs SIS R AN AR EE (84.0) (177.6)
Total expenses x i 4EzE (96.8) (150.7)
Net loss before tax and non-controlling IR IE R IEIZRER AT Z
interests 587358
— from continuing operations —REFEKESER (138.2) (126.9)
— from discontinued operations —KEEARILER 4.1) (1.5)
Loss for the year attributable to owners 2T #EH A
of the Company FE(EE ARS8
— from continuing operations —REFEREER (134.0) (129.6)
— from discontinued operations —KEEARILER (4.1) (1.5)
(138.1) (131.1)
As at 31 March
W=A=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RE —EI@EE
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEET
Extract of Financial Position B AR B 2%
Total assets BEEE 1,536.1 1,722.9
Total liabilities SEME%E (919.0) (964.9)
Net current assets m@],\ﬁﬂaﬁ 60.7 116.5
Bank balances and cash IRITHER MRS
- general accounts ——fRiRP 46.1 34.2
Net assets BEFE 617.1 758.1
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Management Discussion And Analysis

OVERVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's revenue was
approximately HK$116.1 million, representing a decrease of 45.6% as
compared with approximately HK$213.3 million last year. The significant
decrease in the Group’s revenue for the year was mainly attributable
to sluggishness in its real estate related businesses under the prevailing
real estate market conditions in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") and the business suspension of the centralised heating business
as detailed below. To mitigate the impact of sharp decline in its revenue,
the Group endeavoured to enhance costs control measures during the
year. As a result, the net loss attributable to owners of the Company
was slightly increased from approximately HK$131.1 million in last year
to approximately HK$138.1 million in current year, representing an
increase of approximately 5.3%.

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Building Construction Contracting Business

The Group acquired a company, which is principally engaged in building
construction contracting on project basis in the PRC, in May 2020.
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group provided building
construction contracting services for residential and commercial
construction projects mainly located in Xi‘an, Shaanxi Province
and Zhangjiakou, Hebei Province with total construction areas of
approximately 184,000 square meters. The following table sets forth the
movement of backlog of the construction projects during the years:

BEEwR D

B

HE_E_AE-HA=-+—RHLEEE &
%lz%ﬁﬁ%n&mqm%ﬁzﬁﬁi
#9213,300,0008 708 /0 45.6% °c FE PN » Zx
EENREARBTR TEE2HENRPEA
EHME (THE) EpEtER KK
BERHEMEMBERRERNIR UKT
MRz EFHAEREE AERIREG
SUFE AEBEAR D NMAR ST
Ene At RAB A ARG FEBEEBRE
FE49131,100,000 B TEMIBIMEREEL
138,100,000 7T » HIE495.3% ©

75 B A #5 [0l BR
BFERREOER

AEBR _Z_SFERARE—REER
TENEREEREEETEFREEREN
NE-BE_E_AFE=B=+—HLH=E
B AREEATBUNMRAZAZH KA
IEERROTHNEEREERZRBERHIRMH
BFEEREMRE  REEmMAEL 184,000
FHAK - THRHEINESFEFRNBEFELEIER
NEHER .

Year ended 31 March
BE-HA=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
ZEZhHEF T mAE
HK$'M HK$'M
BEHET BEET
Opening value of backlog BEEENBRYER 666.5 856.3
Value of new projects WIBENEE 7.3 -
Value decreased due to revising of projects FENIEE &R/ HEE
amount - (78.9)
Value recognised based on the percentage FERER5E T LLAIRERIVEE
of completion during the year (78.7) (110.9)
Closing value of backlog BEFEENIAREE 595.1 666.5
Note: The abovementioned value is inclusive of the PRC value added tax of 9%. Pt - FEEEZI%FEIEER
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Management Discussion And Analysis
BB wm R

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue of the Group'’s building
construction contracting business amounted to approximately HK$72.2
million (2024: approximately HK$102.7 million) and the gross profit of
approximately HK$8.8 million (2024 approximately HK$8.9 million) was
made. The Group recorded a profit of approximately HK$3.7 million
(2024: loss of approximately HK$15.4 million) in this segment.

Project Management Business

The Group has commenced to provide project management services
in the PRC since July 2020. According to the project management
contracts, the Group’s project management team is principally engaged
in management of major aspects of a construction project on yearly
basis, such as, project engineering, cost control, administration and
human resources. In view of the overall downturn in the real estate
industry in the PRC, the Group has tightened its credit assessment for
new customers in real estate related businesses. As a result, the Group
has yet to solicit any reliable new customer during the year after the
existing contracts were completed. For the year ended 31 March 2025,
no revenue of the Group's project management business was generated
(2024: approximately HK$10.8 million). Segment loss of approximately
HK$10.8 million was incurred in this segment (2024: approximately
HK$29.3 million).

Customised Technical Support Business

After the Group acquired a group of companies in August 2021 which
are principally engaged in the provision of financial information,
solutions and data analytical services to customers in finance and
property related field in the PRC, the Group combined such newly
acquired business with its building architecture and interior design
business so as to provide customised technical support services to
customers in the PRC. Same as project management business, the Group
was unable to realise any new building architecture and interior design
business during the year after the existing contracts were completed.
In respect of the data analytical services, the Group launched products
of system and platform to certain real estate companies and business
management companies.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue of the Group’s
customised technical support business amounted to approximately
HK$11.1 million (2024: approximately HK$17.6 million) and the
gross profit of approximately HK$11.1 million was recorded (2024:
approximately HK$16.1 million). Segment profit of approximately
HK$1.9 million was achieved (2024: approximately HK$6.5 million).

Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Property Brokerage Business

The Group has been engaged in provision of residential and commercial
property brokerage and consultancy services in the PRC since June 2019.
The major places of business activities are in Xi‘an, Shaanxi Province of
the PRC. During the year, the local real estate transactions and deals
were still sluggish in light of weakening market sentiment. For the year
ended 31 March 2025, no revenue of the Group’s property brokerage
business was generated (2024: nil). Corresponding loss of approximately
HK$1.2 million was incurred in this segment (2024: approximately
HK$3.8 million).

Geothermal Energy Business

The Group acquired a group of companies, which are principally
engaged in developing and utilising geothermal energy in provision of
heating and cooling supply to various buildings located in residential
areas in the PRC, in March 2020. Currently, the major places of business
activities are in Xi'an, Shaanxi Province and Henan Province of the
PRC with 15 drilling platforms, 6 heat exchange construction sites and
total pipeline network area of approximately 1.8 million square meters
covering 14 districts. The typical heating supply season in the PRC
is from November of a year to March of the next year. During non-
heating supply period of the year, the Group provides cooling supply by
geothermal energy to cope with special needs from certain districts.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue of the Group's
geothermal energy business amounted to approximately HK$11.4
million (2024: approximately HK$16.4 million) and the gross loss was
approximately HK$0.03 million (2024: gross profit of approximately
HK$3.3 million). Given the lower-than-expected growth in business
expansion, an impairment loss of approximately HK$21.8 million (2024:
nil) on goodwill for the geothermal energy business was recognised in
the year ended 31 March 2025 with reference to the valuation result
conducted by an independent professional valuer. Corresponding
segment loss of approximately HK$31.8 million was incurred in this
segment (2024: approximately HK$5.8 million).
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Management Discussion And Analysis
BB wm R

Property Investment Business

The Group acquired a group of companies in January 2019 which mainly
hold the investment properties in the PRC for rental income and capital
appreciation. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the rental income
generated from such investment properties amounted to approximately
HK$6.3 million (2024: approximately HK$6.3 million). Corresponding
profit of approximately HK$1.0 million (2024: approximately HK$0.2
million), after deduction of unrealised fair value loss of approximately
HK$1.9 million on the Group’s investment properties with reference to
the valuation result conducted by an independent professional valuer,
was made in this segment. As at 31 March 2025, the fair value of
the investment properties was approximately HK$107.3 million (2024:
approximately HK$110.1 million).

Trading Business

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 23 March 2023,
the Group's two major trading customers deregistered which caused
severe difficulties in carrying on the Group's trading business. During the
year, the Group was reviewing the internal control and risk management
in respect of the trading business, formulating possible business model
and discussing with potential business partners. As such, no revenue
of the Group’s trading business was generated (2024: nil) for the year
ended 31 March 2025. The Group recorded a loss of approximately
HK$11.8 million in this segment (2024: approximately HK$15.3 million).

Money Lending Business

The Group holds a money lenders licence in Hong Kong pursuant
to the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and provides loan facilities to prospective customers including
enterprises and individuals. The Group earns interest income from the
provision of such loan facilities. The money lending customers are mainly
referrals from the business partners/existing clients of the Group and
business contacts of the Group’s senior management, who are high net
worth individuals or companies engaged in various industries including
investment fund, trader of hi-tech equipment, investor of tourism-
related activities, etc. This segment has begun to generate returns to the
Group since April 2016. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue
of the Group’s money lending business amounted to approximately
HK$5.1 million (2024: approximately HK$7.5 million). Taking into
account credit risks associated with borrowers, the Group assessed
their respective financial position and solvency as well as considered
the assessment result conducted by an independent professional valuer.
Accordingly, an impairment loss of approximately HK$11.3 million
(2024: approximately HK$7.5 million) on loans and interest receivable
was recognised in the year ended 31 March 2025. Corresponding
segment loss of approximately HK$8.4 million was incurred (2024:
approximately HK$2.5 million).
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Securities and Futures Brokerage Business

The Group has been providing brokerage services for securities and
futures traded on exchanges in Hong Kong and major overseas countries
since August 2017. Due to the gradual saturation of the market for
SFC licensed corporations in the financial services industry and the
intensifying competition with the other market players, the operating
results of the regulated financial services business of the Group was
lower than those expected at the time when the licensed corporations
were acquired by the Group in August 2017. Subsequent to the end
of the reporting period, the Group has disposed securities brokerage
business. The Group still has been negotiating with certain independent
third parties for the potential disposal of futures brokerage business so
as to reallocate and concentrate resources to other potential business.
For the year ended 31 March 2025, no revenue of the Group's securities
and futures brokerage business was generated (2024: approximately
HK$0.05 million). Corresponding segment loss of approximately HK$4.9
million was incurred (2024: approximately HK$6.7 million).

Centralised Heating Business

The Group started the centralised heating business after becoming the
reorganisation investor of a company, which is principally engaged in
the business of providing the heat and steam supply services in the
licensed area of Yuncheng, Shanxi through centralised pipe networks,
in September 2020. The Group was further granted an exclusive license
for the provision of centralised heating service in Yuncheng City for 30
years from 1 January 2021. In July 2024, the Management Committee
of Yuncheng Economic and Technological Development Zone*
(BI& B MEZEEEELZESE) (the “Yuncheng Management
Committee”) served a notice dated 22 July 2024 to the Group and
decided to unilaterally terminate the franchise agreement pursuant
to the termination provisions thereof (the “Termination”). As a result,
the Group's centralised heating business has been suspended and no
revenue has been generated since 23 July 2024. The Group requested
an administrative review against the Termination and it has been
rejected by the Yuncheng Municipal People’s Government. The Group
has then initiated an administrative litigation with the Peoples’ Court
of Yanhu District in Yuncheng City* GEimE#& AR ABT) against
the Termination and the administrative litigation is still in the process
of the first instance trial. Based on the PRC legal adviser’s opinion, the
administrative litigation is subject to lengthy process and there is high
uncertainty in obtaining the court order to withdraw the Termination.
In order to realise the value of the Group’s past investment in the
centralized heating business, optimize the allocation of resources, and
strengthen financial support for the development of other business
of the Group, the Group disposed the centralised heating business
subsequent to the end of the reporting period (the “Disposal”).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue from the provision
of steam supply services before the business suspension amounted to
approximately HK$9.9 million (2024: approximately HK$51.9 million)
and the gross profit of approximately HK$2.0 million (2024: gross loss of
approximately HK$12.2 million) was achieved. Considering the expected
loss on the Disposal of approximately HK$48.8 million, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$39.4 million (2024: nil) on property, plant and
equipment utilised for the Group’s centralised heating business was
accounted for in the year ended 31 March 2025. The Group recorded
a loss of approximately HK$40.5 million (2024: approximately HK$19.7
million) in this suspended segment.

Finance Leasing Business (classified as
"Discontinued Operation™)

As disclosed in the 2023/24 annual report, the Group has no plan to
develop new business cooperation in this segment. The Group mainly
endeavoured to follow up with existing clients for debts collection.
During the year, the Group was unable to fulfill requlation requirements
of operating finance leasing business and was demanded by the
government authority to amend its business scope for prohibition of
such operation. Accordingly, this business segment was discontinued
and there was no revenue from finance leasing for the year ended
31 March 2025 (2024: nil). The segment loss from this discontinued
operation of approximately HK$4.1 million was incurred (2024:
approximately HK$1.1 million).

Freight Forwarding Business (classified as
"Discontinued Operation”)

As disclosed in the 2023/24 annual report, the Group entered into
a share transfer agreement in January 2024 to dispose of its freight
forwarding business in Singapore. Upon completion of the aforesaid
disposal, the Group has been no longer engaged in the freight
forwarding business. For the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no
revenue of the Group's freight forwarding business (2024: approximately
HK$1.6 million).

Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BUSINESS UPDATES

Reference is made to the voluntary announcement and the
supplementary announcement of the Company dated 5 March 2025
and 28 March 2025 respectively, regarding the formation of a joint
venture company by way of restructuring to develop business operations
related to humanoid robot intelligence technology and products. In late
March 2025, the restructuring of the joint venture was completed, with
senior management personnel progressively deployed. Meanwhile, R&D,
operation and service teams have been established. As of the date of
this report, the joint venture and its PRC subsidiary have a workforce of
nearly 20 personnel, the majority of whom are technical staff. In April
2025, the joint venture submitted an application for admission to the
Hong Kong Science Park and has successfully obtained the eligibility
for admission, with plans to officially settle in July 2025. During this
period, the joint venture has advanced solutions for multiple application
scenarios of humanoid robots, including security scenarios, healthcare
communities, health care and intelligent education, among others. In
respect of the aforementioned business development directions, the
Group has respectively signed cooperation framework agreements
or reached cooperation intentions with several partners, including (i)
the People’s Government of Haiyong Town, Haimen District, Nantong
City, (i) a subsidiary of a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) that is principally engaged
in property management in Hong Kong, (iii) a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange that is principally engaged in great healthcare
industry in Mainland China, and (iv) a subsidiary of a company listed on
the Stock Exchange that is engaged in financial leasing, and continues
to negotiate on specific cooperation details.

Reference is made to the voluntary announcement and the
supplementary announcement of the Company dated 10 March
2025 and 15 April 2025 respectively, regarding the formation of a
joint venture company by way of restructuring to jointly develop Al
education application solutions, as well as the R&D, production, sales
and operation and maintenance of Al education intelligent hardware
(educational robots). In April 2025, the joint venture was established
in Beijing, and meanwhile, the promotion of the business model for
educational robots was carried out in Henan, Shaanxi, Guangdong,
Sichuan and other regions. Based on the design schemes of educational
robot products, the Group has gradually formed its business model.

BEEwR D

EHBEMW
BIRBMAABANR T _HAF=AFEH =
TTHF=ZRTHNBHEZEEEAM
REFRAMG AEERUEESANILE
BRE UEREATHS NS ERTTKR
EmBRNEBEE-_SZ"_AF=ATF
B BB RENE HEE}Z BEABEEE
i EREHRMAE BErRBERK =
ZIS%E%EIHH@%’&E&HEPWE’&EA
B0 EP RO REMAE - ZF
“hEMA - AEARREARKERY
TAKHRF WEMNERS T AEER 5
g'JH"_% EELRAMERXAR BB &
NBERATATNKBAZERBSRO
E*}ELI{’E HaE ZRER - RE
HHtE BEBRKRESHESHE FAT
HREXBEEIA FAEEEDHEET
GEBMH A el maEmh sri&BxiE
ARBM ()V—HREEREVEEEDN
EBMERZFARAR (MBI £H
REZHBRE > (i) —BRPEKELS
ﬂtﬁ%@?ﬁﬁ’]iﬂi\léﬁ#’“%ﬁﬁiﬁ’&ﬂ’
Riv)—EREMEBEENMBA LT AR
ZHWBAB BECFERBENE E}ZA
ER M Wt ARS G R /EER o

ZRRAATIN _E_RAE=A+H -
ETHRFENB+AHVEZBEE MR
BAEAB ABERAUEEASARIEGE
NE EEFAEAIMESERBNE RS R

Al%ﬁt*“abﬁﬂ@# (B EHBE AN WAL
ERNEBH  _ S _HFEMNH 58 AT
FIERERTHE BRERET AR K
Fa~EER ) ||%%E@%51’;§$%&%%%AE’\J%¥¢E
NEET(F-REBEHSEKBAERNR
AR BT HER T AEENEEER -

BIFHSBRAERIZRERAT 2024/255F 3

13



14

Management Discussion And Analysis
BB wm R

Reference is made to the voluntary announcement of the Company
dated 24 March 2025, regarding the construction of the “HK Robotics
HealthCare and Wellness Demonstration Park Project” in Haiyong Town,
Haimen District, Nantong, Jiangsu Province. As of the date of this
report, the Group has submitted the conceptual design of the project
to the local government for approval. The government is assisting
the Group in negotiating the overall planning of the robot healthcare
demonstration park with the park and surrounding property owners,
and facilitating the implementation of supporting services around the
demonstration park.

Reference is made to the voluntary announcement of the Company
dated 29 July 2024, regarding the signing of a strategic framework
agreement with China Radio and Television Ningxia Network Co., Ltd.*
(FHEEBEEMEERAST)("China Radio and Television”) in
relation to a strategic cooperation covering the development of artificial
intelligence, various computing power services and advanced computing
infrastructure. The Group’s technical team conducted a comprehensive
inspection of the facilities such as the computer rooms of China Radio
and Television in Zhongwei City and proposed technical improvement
plans. Meanwhile, business contacts were made with several large
model companies in China, but due to difficulties in reaching a
consensus on the business model, the relevant cooperation ultimately
failed to proceed to the implementation stage.

OUTLOOK

As of the date of this report, the Company has changed its name to
“Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited”. The change of the
Company’s name is primarily intended to more clearly demonstrate the
Group's commitment to transforming into the cutting-edge business
fields of robotics and artificial intelligence. Taking Hong Kong as a
pivot, the Group will radiate to global markets and strive to become
a "pioneer in the civilianization of humanoid robots” and a “leader in
intelligent scenario solutions”. Through technological innovation and
industrial integration, the Group will promote the deep penetration of
robotics technology from the industrial field into scenarios such as life
services, health care, and educational scientific research.

Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion And Analysis

In terms of the development of artificial intelligence and robotics
business: (i) In Hong Kong, the Group plans to gradually enter the
deployment of humanoid robot application scenarios in the second
half of 2025, and will implement humanoid robot products with
signed partners to achieve commercial use; and (ii) In Mainland China,
the Group also plans to first roll out educational robot products in
selected target provinces in the second half of 2025. The overall
business model will, in accordance with the national policies on Al
education, unite content providers, local educational enterprises, and
financial institutions to form a full-industry chain implementation
model. Meanwhile, the Group expects to complete the formal
project establishment of the “HK Robotics HealthCare and Wellness
Demonstration Park Project” and successfully sign operation service
agreements for the demonstration park, including the sales of
healthcare robots.

Regarding the development of existing real estate-related service
business, as the domestic real estate market continues to consolidate
and decline, the Group will raise the selection threshold for related
projects and adopt a more prudent strategy to seek future development
opportunities. One possible direction is to explore the field of
“themed real estate” in conjunction with the new business of artificial
intelligence and robotics, that is, to provide corresponding services for
robot healthcare related real estate projects. In addition to the "HK
Robotics HealthCare and Wellness Demonstration Park Project” on
Chongming Island, the Group also intends to negotiate similar projects
with the governments of the Greater Bay Area, Tianjin, Zhejiang and
other regions.
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LIQUIDITY AND CASHFLOW RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the equity and net current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$617.1 million (2024: approximately
HK$758.1 million) and HK$60.7 million (2024: approximately HK$116.5
million) respectively. On the same date, the Group had bank balances
and cash of approximately HK$46.1 million (2024: approximately
HK$34.2 million) and the current ratio was 1.07 (2024: 1.12). As at 31
March 2025, the Group had (i) secured trust loans of approximately
HK$214.5 million (2024: approximately HK$216.4 million) bearing
fixed interest rate at 12% per annum which have not been repaid
upon maturity and are subject to negotiation with the lender for
extension of loan period, (ii) secured bank loans of approximately
HK$19.3 million (2024: approximately HK$99.5 million) bearing fixed
interest rates ranged from 3.0% to 4.9% per annum and to be repaid
from September 2025 to March 2026, (iii) unsecured short-term loan
from an independent lender of approximately HK$2.1 million (2024:
approximately HK$3.2 million) bearing fixed interest rate at 6% per
annum and to be repaid on demand, (iv) interest-free and unsecured
advance payments from independent third parties and subcontractors
of approximately HK$40.6 million (2024: approximately HK$11.4
million) and approximately HK$73.6 million (2024: approximately
HK$92.9 million) respectively to be repaid on demand, (v) interest-
free and unsecured short-term loan from an independent third party
of approximately HK$18.1 million to be repaid on demand (2024:
interest free and secured short-term loan from an independent third
party of approximately HK$2.6 million to be repaid on demand), and (vi)
unsecured short-term loan from a shareholder of approximately HK$3.3
million bearing fixed interest rate at 4% per annum and to be repaid by
November 2025 (2024: nil).

As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
0.24 (2024: approximately 0.25). The gearing ratio is measured on
the basis of the total amount of interest bearing and interest free
borrowings/advance payments over the amount of total assets. As
at 31 March 2025, the total amount of interest bearing and interest
free borrowings/advance payments and the amount of total asset
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$371.5 million (2024:
approximately HK$426.0 million) and approximately HK$1,536.1 million
(2024: approximately HK$1,722.9 million) respectively.

The Group has readily available financial resources for both general
working capital purposes and existing business operation.

Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion And Analysis

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, none of the Group’s securities was
pledged to brokers to secure the margin loan. As at 31 March 2025,
certain flats of the investment properties held by the Group were
pledged to banks to secure the bank loans borrowed by the Group
(2024: bank deposit of RMB15.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$16.2 million) and investment properties of RMB101.8 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$110.1 million) held by the Group were
pledged to banks to secure the bank loans borrowed by the Group).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group incurred
approximately HK$9.3 million (2024: approximately HK$7.6 million) as
capital expenditure mainly in respect of plant and equipment situated in
the PRC.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no material capital
commitment.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income of approximately HK$7.9 million
(2024: approximately HK$5.3 million) which represented unlisted
equity securities in Hong Kong. No financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss were held as at 31 March 2025 (2024: nil). During the
year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded a fair value gain of
approximately HK$2.7 million on securities investments that are not
held for trading in other comprehensive income (2024: fair value loss of
approximately HK$3.5 million).

The Board acknowledges that the performance of the equities may be
affected by the degree of volatility in the stock market and susceptible
to other external factors that may affect their values. Accordingly, in
order to mitigate possible financial risks related to the equities, the
Board will continue to closely monitor the performance of its investment
portfolio (if any) from time to time.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company did not hold any significant
investments in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

There was no material acquisition or disposal (including the acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies) for the year ended
31 March 2025.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

The Company did not conduct any fund raising activities in relation to
issue of equity securities during the year ended 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the amount of approximately HK$4.4 million
out of the net proceeds from the Company’'s rights issue, which was
completed on 21 September 2023 (the "Rights Issue”), remained
unused and is expected to be utilised as intended on or before 31
March 2026 for the capital contribution of certain subsidiaries of the
Company for the purposes of exploring and developing big data and
digital-related businesses.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no significant fluctuation
in the exchange rates of Hong Kong dollars and US dollars whereas
Renminbi had a downward adjustment, resulting in an exchange loss
of approximately HK$2.0 million recognised as other comprehensive
expense of the Group. The Group will take a prudent approach against
any impact arising from the fluctuation in exchange rates but currently
is not engaged in any derivative activities and not committed to any
financial instruments to hedge its balance sheet exposure.

EMPLOYEE AND HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 99 staff (2024: 279 staff).
The total staff cost incurred for the year ended 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK$40.1 million (2024: approximately HK$52.9 million).
The remuneration of employees was determined with reference to
the qualification and experience of individual staff member, market
circumstances and the Group’s performance. In accordance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), the staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function have adequate training programmes and budget.

Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted on 1 September 2021 (the
“2021 Share Option Scheme”), the Board may grant options to, among
other, directors (including non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) and employees of the Company and any of
its subsidiaries or associated companies, to subscribe for shares of the
Company. During the year ended 31 March 2025, no options were
granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
2 September 2025 to Monday, 8 September 2025 (both days inclusive),
during which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
to be shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on Monday, 8 September 2025, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited (effective from 15 July 2025)
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 1 September 2025.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee currently comprises Ms. Yin Meiqun, Mr. Liu Tonghui and
Mr. Ye Jianmu, the three independent non-executive directors of the
Company. A summary of duties and works of the Audit Committee is set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control
and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 in
conjunction with the Company’s external auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
EEEwmR D Hh

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE OF THE
LISTING RULES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has fully complied
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code"”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, with deviation
from the code provisions C.1.6 and D.2.5. Details of the Company's
corporate governance are set out in the section headed "“Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for establishing and
maintaining the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems to safeguard shareholders’ investment and for reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis under code provision
D.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Group has adopted and followed a series of internal control
procedures to regulate the money lending business to ensure a
comprehensive risk management, so as to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its shareholders, including (i) credit risk assessment by the
business team, (ii) formulation of the preliminary business proposal by
the business team, (iii) assessment by the risk control and compliance
department, (iv) credit approval, and (v) ongoing monitoring of loan
recoverability and loan collection. Details of such internal control
procedures are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholders’ value and safeguard shareholders’
interests. The Group’s corporate governance principles emphasise
a quality Board, effective internal control and accountability to
shareholders.

The Board believes that good corporate governance practices are
increasingly important for maintaining and promoting shareholder value
and investor confidence.

The CG Code contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules sets out
(a) the mandatory requirements for disclosure; and (b) the principles
of good corporate governance, the code provisions on a “comply or
explain” basis and certain recommended best practices.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles, code provisions and certain recommended best practices as
set out in the CG Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has complied
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code, save for the deviations
from the code provisions C.1.6 and D.2.5 which are explained in the
relevant paragraphs in this report.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to
review its corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
they comply with the CG Code and align with the latest developments
of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All directors should
take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board sets policy direction and approves strategies/operational plans
to ensure effective functioning and growth of the Company, in the
interests of all shareholders.

Every director shall ensure that he/she carries out his/her duty in
good faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
matters of the Company, including: the approval and monitoring of
all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring that
Board's procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Each director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the executive directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board has the full support of the executive directors and the senior
management to discharge its responsibility.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the business
of the Company and to the exercising of independent judgment.

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises one non-
executive director, three executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors. Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report,
members of the Board do not have any relationship with any other
director.

The list of all directors and their biographies are set out under the
section of “Corporate Information” and “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 2 and page 62 respectively
and in all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director for his/her independence pursuant
to the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 and
other requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience and skills,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functions. Independent non-executive directors are invited to
serve on the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the
Company.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Company’s Bye-laws. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors. Details of the Nomination Committee and its
works performed during the year are set out in the “Board Committees”
section below.

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which can
be terminated by not less than three months’ or one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all directors of the
Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself for re-election by shareholders
at the first annual general meeting after appointment.

In accordance with Bye-law 83(2) of the Company's Bye-laws, Mr.
Li Mengzhe will be subject to re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Wang
Yinggian and Mr. Ye Jianmu shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the annual general meeting.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Pursuant to requirement in the code provision C.1.1, each newly
appointed director should receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction on appointment. Subsequently he or she should receive any
briefing and professional development necessary to ensure that he or
she has a proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities
and obligations under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board recognises the importance of directors’ training and all
directors should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, all directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses and/or reading
reference materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations:
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Attending expert

briefings/
seminars/
conferences
relevant to the
Reading regulatory business or
updates director’s duties
HEAMESH
EEHENEX
REBEERE [GE:-pd
ZERMER Mg giE
Non-Executive Director FEHITES
Mr. Li Mengzhe (Chairman) Li Mengzhest & (/%) 4 v
(appointed on 17 January 2025) (RZEZHF—FA+tH
BZE)
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Wang Yinggian (Deputy Chairman) FRTLL BIE£E) 4 v
Mr. Qin lie (Chief Executive Officer) RN E ((TEAEE) v 4
Mr. Li Haitao FEERE v v
Mr. Fan lie (resigned on 23 October 2024) BERY (R ZEZOF v 4
+AZ+=HF#E)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUEHNTES
Mr. Liu Tonghui e s 4 v
Ms. Yin Meiqun RERZL v 4
Mr. Ye Jianmu EEAREE 4 4

MEETINGS
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

During the year ended 31 March 2025, regular Board meetings
were held for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and approving the overall strategies and
policies of the Company. Most important resolutions agreed in Board
meetings were made by all directors including executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive directors.

g3
= uﬁ%ﬁﬁi%l‘i‘lr—% E.IL

REBEE_ZE_HAF=A= —f— HiEFE
EERERTHTEE MUy KA &
?‘&i‘«ﬁﬁfﬁ’ﬁ%?&?tt/&zfiﬁjzﬂ
REEBR - EERERLBEZRE
ERZRRZHOKHEBES (BEFERNIT IER
TRBILIFHNITESR) fFitio

BIFHSBRAERIZRERAT 2024/255F 3

25



Corporate Governance Report

EXEARS

The attendance records of each director at the meetings of the
shareholders, the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration

FRBREFNRRIAE - EF/H -BtE
BEg -HFMEET RLEEETAITEE

Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Executive Committee & (FLIEBABAEMR) € HED
(for corporate governance functions) during the year are set out below: [N
Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend
BHiE/AERLREZEH
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Executive
Shareholders Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors EENL BR EER Ei%Eg HNZEEG RL%8g Wi1%ZEY
(Note)
(Fi#3%)
Non-Executive Director EHITES
Mr. Li Mengzhe (Chairman) ~ Li MengzheZt % Not Applicable 11 Not Applicable  Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable  Not Applicable
(appointed on 17 January (&) AER AER AEA ~EA B
2025) HR_FE_7fF
—A1tHE
Z4)
Executive Directors RITES
Ms. Wang Yinggian BT 1/1 4/4  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 171 Not Applicable
(Deputy Chairman) &%) B TER TEH
Mr. Qin Jie BNEE on 4/4  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 1/1
(Chief Executive Officer) ({TH#EH) B B ~EA
Mr. Li Haitao ThERE 1/1 3/4  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 1/1
TEH ~EH TER
Mr. Fan ie (resigned on BRERE 1/1 2/2 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable
23 October 2024) /-y 'k 3 AER AEA ~EA B
+AZ+=H
#)
Independent Non-Executive B EHITES
Directors
Mr. Liu Tonghui AmEns 11 414 2 17 /1 Not Applicable
AEA
Ms. Yin Meiqun RFEEUL 11 414 2 17 /1 Not Applicable
AEA
Mr. Ye Jianmu ERAKL 01 414 2 17 /1 Not Applicable
AEA
Note: Among meetings of the Executive Committee, one meeting was held for the e 5 VER N

purpose of performing the corporate governance duties and the attendances of
the members of the Executive Committee at this meeting is disclosed under the

CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report

Under the code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, the independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. One of independent non-executive directors namely,
Mr. Ye Jianmu, was unable to attend the Company’s adjourned annual
general meeting held on 10 September 2024 due to his other business
commitments.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors appraised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director
also have separate and independent access to the senior management
whenever necessary.

The Chairman and the Company Secretary attend almost all regular
Board meetings and when necessary, other Board and committee
meetings to advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all
Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable period of
time after each meeting and the final version is open for directors’
inspection.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction which
involves a material conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or a director will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting and independent non-executive directors who,
and whose associates, have no material interest in the transaction are
present at the Board meeting.

The Company’s Bye-laws also contain provisions requiring directors to
abstain from voting (nor be counted in the quorum) at meetings for
approving transactions in which such directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The role of the chairman was performed respectively by Ms. Wang
Yinggian for the period from 1 April 2024 to 16 January 2025 and Mr.
Li Mengzhe for the period from 17 January 2025 up to the date of this
report, who provided leadership for the Board and was responsible for
chairing meetings, managing the operations of the Board and ensuring
that all major and appropriate issues were discussed by the Board in a
timely and constructive manner. The Chairman was also responsible for
the strategic management of the Group and for formulating the Group's
overall corporate direction and focus.

The role of chief executive officer was performed by Mr. Qin Jie, who
was responsible for the overall management and operations of the
Group. He was also responsible for running the businesses of the Group
and implementing the Group’s strategic plans and business goals.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Executive Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company's affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. Save for the Executive
Committee, the terms of reference of the other Board committees are
made available to shareholders on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (http://www.hkrobotics.ai)
respectively.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises all three independent non-executive
directors, namely Ms. Yin Meiqun, Mr. Liu Tonghui and Mr. Ye Jianmu.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Ms. Yin Meiqun.

Among the committee members, one of them possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

e  to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, internal auditor (if
any) or external auditors before submission to the Board;

e to review the relationship with the external auditors by reference
to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms
of engagement, their independence and objectivity, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditors; and

e to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year to review the
half-yearly and annual financial results and reports, financial reporting
and compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control
and risk management review and processes and the re-appointment of
the external auditors.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under the
section “Meetings” in this report.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one non-executive director,
namely Mr. Li Mengzhe, one executive director, namely Ms. Wang
Yinggian and all three independent non-executive directors, namely Ms.
Yin Meiqun, Mr. Liu Tonghui and Mr. Ye Jianmu. The Chairman of the
Nomination Committee is Mr. Li Mengzhe.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

e to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
the skills, knowledge, experience and gender) of the Board and
make recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

o to develop and formulate relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors and senior management;

o to identify suitable candidates for appointment as directors and
senior management;

o to make recommendations to the Board on appointment or
reappointment of and succession planning for directors and senior
management; and

e to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors.

Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company's
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a board diversity
policy which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board. The
Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships and senior management
by making reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of such individuals, the
Company's needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations. An external recruitment agency may be engaged to carry
out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.

Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year to review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and made
recommendations to the Board in accordance with the Nomination
Committee’s written terms of reference. The Nomination Committee
considers that board appointments are based on merit and candidates
are considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
shall discuss and where necessary, agree on the measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board and make recommendation to
the Board. The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as
applicable) such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives
that are appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Company has also adopted a director nomination policy setting out
the procedures and criteria to be used by the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors to ensure
that the Board maintains an appropriate mix and balance of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives to the requirements
of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to the director
nomination policy and the board diversity policy to nominate suitably
qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as directors at general
meetings or appoint as directors to fill casual vacancies or as an addition
to the Board.

The Board currently comprises seven directors, of whom two are female
and five are male. The Nomination Committee will continue to review
the board diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

As at 31 March 2025, among the Group's employees (including senior
management), approximately 31% were female and approximately
69% were male. The Group strives to achieve appropriate balance of
gender diversity with reference to the stakeholders’ expectation and
international and local recommended best practices. The Group is not
aware of any mitigating factor or circumstances which make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant. Details of the Group's gender ratio
and related data are set out in the section of “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this annual report.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity
policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and
the Company will disclose the implementation of the board diversity
policy in its corporate governance report on an annual basis. During
the year, the Board and the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises all three independent non-
executive directors, namely Ms. Yin Meiqun, Mr. Liu Tonghui and Mr.
Ye Jianmu. The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Liu
Tonghui.

The Company has adopted the model set out in the code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code as its Remuneration Committee model. The
primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages of the executive directors
and the senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by reference to the individual
performance and the operating results of the Company as well as the
market conditions and practice. It is also responsible for the review and/
or approval of matters relating to the Company’s share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets for reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and determination or making
recommendation of the annual remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management and other related matters
when needs arise. The Human Resources Division is responsible for
collection and administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for consideration.
The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman and/or the
Board about these recommendations on remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year to
review the remuneration packages of the directors and the senior
management and made recommendation to the Board in accordance
with the Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee comprises the following executive directors.
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governance duties including but not limited to:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the

Company;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the directors and

employees;

o to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and
° to conform to any requirement, direction,

constitution of the Company or imposed by legislation.

During the year, the policies of the corporate governance of the

Company were reviewed by the Executive Committee.
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BOARD ANNUAL EVALUATION

To ensure independent view and input from directors are available to
the Board and to drive continuous improvement in board performance,
the Board established the Board Performance Evaluation Method in
2023 and it is reviewed by the Board on an annual basis to ensure
its effectiveness. Led by the Chairman, starting from the year under
review, the Board conducted annual board performance evaluation
in the form of questionnaire and, if required, one-on-one meeting
between the Chairman and individual director. The primary goal of the
board performance evaluation is to assess board culture and dynamics,
ensure optimal board composition and improve board practices and
enhance effectiveness. Views of individual director in respect of mastery
of the Company’s goal and tasks, director responsibility, the degree
of participation in the Company's operations, internal relationship
management and communication, director training and internal control
are collected and consolidated to be presented to the Nomination
Committee annually to discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate. For the year under review, the Nomination
Committee considered all aspects evaluated are overall effectively
performed and adequate.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2
to the Listing Rules are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the members of the senior management (other than directors) by band
for the year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows:
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HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 22,000,000 75 1

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made on all directors and
the directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view and that relevant statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The management of the Company provides such explanation and
information to the Board so as to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of the Company
which were put to the Board for approval.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 80.

An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited, and its affiliate, for the year ended 31 March 2025
is set out as follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems, and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems. The systems and internal controls can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss, as they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives.

The Group has established an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks of the Group. Business
units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks
associated with their respective units. The results of evaluation will
be reported to management through regular internal meetings. Each
year, management prepares the risk assessment report listing the risks
identified and management’s assessment on the impact to the Group.
The Board discusses findings in the risk assessment report and evaluates
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system
in Board meeting, and resolves any material internal control defects.
The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, and the Company considered
them effective and adequate.

The key elements of the Group'’s risk management and internal control
systems include the following:

e the organisational structure is clearly defined with distinct lines of
authority and control responsibilities;

o a comprehensive financial accounting system has been established
to provide for performance measurement indicators and to ensure
compliance with relevant rules;

e the senior management shall prepare annual plans on financial
reporting, operations and compliance aspects by reference to
potential significant risks;

o unauthorised expenditures and release of confidential information
are strictly prohibited;

o specific approval by executive director prior to commitment is
required for all material matters; and

e  the management shall review and evaluate the control process and
monitor any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the Audit
Committee on any findings and measures to address the variances
and identified risks.
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The Group handles and disseminates inside information with due care.
Staff is required to comply with the confidentiality terms inside the
staff manual. Only personnel at appropriate level can get reach of price
sensitive and inside information. The Company regularly reminds the
directors and employees about compliance with all policies adopted by
the Company regarding inside information including the Model Code
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in
securities of the Company.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and established
to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal,
relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable
financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

Under the code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code, the Group should have
an internal audit function. However, due to the size of the Group and
for cost effectiveness consideration, the Group currently does not have
an internal audit function. Instead, the Audit Committee is responsible
for a review on the internal control system annually. The review covers
major financial, operational controls in rotation basis and also the risk
management functions. The Group continues to review the need for an
internal audit function annually.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) is in place
setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to
apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall take into account of, including but not limited to, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

o the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s contracting parties;

o the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;
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o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary, and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of the Company Secretary is held by Mr. Ho Yu. His
biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” section on page 62. Mr. Ho reports to the Chairman of
the Board from time to time. All directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that board procedures, and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year,
Mr. Ho undertook not less than 15 hours of professional training to
update his skills and knowledge.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables shareholders and investors to make
a properly informed investment decision.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong for any
inquiries.

The annual general meeting provides opportunity for the shareholders
to communicate directly with the directors. The Chairman of the
Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees of the Company
or, in their absence, other members of the respective committees, will
attend the annual general meeting to answer shareholders’ questions.
The auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general meeting
to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.
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Corporate Governance Report

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.hkrobotics.ai, where extensive information and updates
on the Company's business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

In view of the above shareholders’ communication policy, the Board
considered that the implementation of the shareholders’ communication
policy is satisfactory and effective during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board, on the requisition of
shareholders of the Company holding not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company by sending a written notice to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong, shall convene a special general meeting to address specific
issues of the Company within 21 days from the date of deposit of
written notice. The same requirement and procedure also applies to any
proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can be
sent in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

In addition, the Company maintains contact with its shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages shareholders to attend those meetings.

Notice of general meeting will be published on the Company’'s website
at www.hkrobotics.ai and the website of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk respectively or will be sent by mail to the registered
shareholders of the Company or the intermediary/nominee of the non-
registered shareholders of the Company if a printed form is requested.
Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of general meeting. A
proxy form for use at a general meeting is published or enclosed with
the notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are unable to be present
at the meeting should fill out the form and return the same to the
share registrar and transfer office of the Company, so as to appoint a
representative, another shareholder or the chairman of the meeting as
their proxy.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board confirmed that, during the year, there were no significant
change made to the Company’s Bye-laws affecting its operations and
reporting practices.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR - ERERERS

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the "ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 March
2025 ("Year 2024/25") to demonstrate its commitment to sustainable
development in aspects of environmental, social and governance
(the”ESG").

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules, which covers two
subject areas, Environmental and Social. Please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report in the annual report of the Company for details of
corporate governance of the Group.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG issues. For
the Year 2024/25, the Board and the management evaluated from time
to time the impacts of ESG-related risks towards the operation and
formulated ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The Board
ensures that the management has all appropriate tools and resources to
oversee the ESG issues. The Group highly values the opinions of each
stakeholder and regards them as the cornerstone for the development
of the Group. For the Year 2024/25, ESG governance and ESG-related
issues were reviewed at regular meetings.

The Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy for material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of different
stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment is conducted
annually by the Group. The Group ensures various platforms, and
channels of communication are used to reach, listen and respond
to its key stakeholders. Through general communication with the
stakeholders, the Group is able to understand the expectations and
concerns from its stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group
to make more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the
resulting impacts of the business decisions.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group has evaluated the materiality of ESG aspects through the
following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the Group; (ii) key ESG
areas prioritization with stakeholder engagement; and (iii) validation and
determining material ESG issues based on the results of communication
with the stakeholders.

Engaging in these steps can enhance the understanding of the degree
of importance of the Group’s stakeholders to each material ESG issue,
and can enable the Board to plan the sustainable development direction
more comprehensively in the future.

The Board’s review progress against ESG-related
objectives and targets

The performance and the implementation progress of the ESG-related
objectives and targets should be carefully reviewed by the Group from
time to time. If the progress falls short of expectation or changes
of business operations, it may be necessary to make changes and
communicate about the objectives and targets with key stakeholders
such as employees, customers and suppliers.

The Board has set future strategic goals to enable the Group to develop
a realistic path and focus on the development direction for achieving its
vision. The Board will carefully examine the attainability of the targets
which should be weighed against the Group’s philosophy and goals.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This ESG Report follows the four reporting principles in the ESG
Reporting Guide, including:

Materiality: the Group has identified a number of issues which cover
ESG, and invited stakeholders to assess the materiality of such issues
in the Year 2024/25. For details, please refer to the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” in this ESG Report.
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IRIR - ERERERS

Quantitative: data presented in this ESG Report have been collected
prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social performance
data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key
performance indicators.

Balance: an unbiased and balanced picture of the performance has been
disclosed in a transparent manner.

Consistency: unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report uses the same
methodologies and KPIs as disclosed in previous ESG reports of the
Group to facilitate comparability at any time.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

During the Year 2024/25, the Group is principally engaged in: (i) trading
of goods; (ii) the money lending business; (iii) the securities and futures
brokerage business; (iv) property investment business; (v) customised
technical support services; (vi) the property brokerage services; (vii) the
project management business; (viii) the geothermal energy business;
(ix) the building construction contracting business; and (x) centralized
heating business (suspended operations from July 2024 and disposed
of in June 2025), in Hong Kong or the PRC. The social data in this ESG
Report covers the entire group, and the environmental data covers the
business operations of the Company in Beijing, Henan, Shaanxi, Hebei,
Shanxi and Hong Kong.

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”) data are gathered only from the
operations under the Group’s direct operational control. The Group will
continue to strengthen information of the major ESG aspects in order to
enhance the disclosure of information on sustainable development when
and where applicable.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement is a key success factor in formulating
environmental and social strategy, defining the Group's objectives,
assessing materiality and developing policies. The Group's key
stakeholders include investors, government and regulatory bodies,
employees, customers, suppliers, society and the public. The Group has
conducted a survey, discussed or communicated with stakeholders to
understand their views and respond to their needs and expectations,
evaluated and prioritised their inputs to improve the Group's
performance, and finally strived to provide value for the stakeholders.
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Stakeholders
BihE

Expectations and appeals

Communication and feedback
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Investors

REE

Governments and
regulatory bodies

BT REEHE

Employees
BT

Customers
BE

Suppliers
HEER

Society and the public

HERAR
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e Financial results
S

e Corporate transparency
EFHE

e Sound risk control
=R RIES

e Compliance with laws and regulations
BTEL
e Tax payment in accordance with laws

RIEMIR

e Career development platform
BEERTE

e Salary and benefits
BRI

e Safe working environment
T2 TEIRIE

e Customer information security
ERERZ:R

e Customer rights and interests protection
B RERRE

e Good service guarantee

REHRBRE

e Integrity cooperation
HIEETE

e Business ethics and credibility
FRBEREE

e Environmental protection
FEERMR
e Employment opportunities

MERE

e To improve profitability
REAMED

e Regular information disclosure
HEEERE

e To optimize risk management and internal
control
BERREERNEEEE

e Compliance operation
BREE
e Tax payment in full and on time

2B B RRIR

e Promotion mechanism
= F 1%

e Competitive salary and employee benefits
B S NETNA S TEF

e To provide trainings for employees and
strengthen their safety awareness
RHETRHEEI NRETZ2MEEH

e Customer privacy protection

RIEE R

e Compliance marketing
BIEH

e To provide reliable energy products and
services

R P B BEIRE B K AR

e To build a responsible supply chain
TEasEnHEsE

e To perform the contract according with
laws

REBITEF

e To use environmental protection and
energy saving equipment
IRIREIERBEBRARLA

e To provide employment opportunities

R EBAL
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IRIR - ERERERS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

According to the ESG Reporting Guide, the Group collects and identifies
the issues of concern of major stakeholders through questionnaire
survey and interview, analyzes and sorts the issues to determine the
Company’s important issues in ESG for relevant disclosure. The results
of the materiality assessment will be used to guide the Group in
formulating future environmental, social and governance plans and
objectives, in a bid to creating sustainable value for stakeholders.

Based on the communication with various stakeholders, the Company
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENT

To adhere to its commitment to sustainable development and to comply
with the requirements under relevant laws and regulations related to
environmental protection, the Group has been dedicated to reducing
the impact of its operating activities on the environment.

EMISSIONS

The development and utilization of geothermal energy of the Group
may have some environmental impacts, including but not limited to:
(i) thermal pollution; (ii) air pollution; (iii) water pollution; and (iv)
soil pollution. The Group has conducted an environmental impact
assessment with reference to the requirements of the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China.

In the Year 2024/25, the key environmental performance indicators of
the Group's emissions are set out as follows:

IRIR HHERERERS

IRIR
AEBBREEFAFRERNAEURE
STIRIBREEBEZREZRORE LB
MRS RIRENTE -

HE)

AEERRENAMAEIRIBAIERS —&
B QEBARRK (VBB E (NERS
Fe5(iiKsH; R(vVEBTHR - FEEE2
RAPEARLMBEIRIBRE L) NERE
TRIEFENE-

122024/25F F » A EB PRV BIRRIRE
BRSNS

Environmental indictors Unit Year 2024/25 Year 2023/24

IRIBIERR B 2024/25% & 2023245 fE

Air emissions (Note 1 and Note 4)

BE Rk (07 52 — R M7 3 129)

Emissions of Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 25.77 40.44

AAEYINOXBER T

Emissions of Sulfur oxides (SOx) kg 0.09 0.19

R EEI(SOxHE I T

Emissions of Particulate matter (PM) kg 2.40 3.71

SERLHI(PM)BETR T

Greenhouse gas emissions

AERBHEK

Direct emissions (scope 1) (Note 4) kg COze 16,285 34,967

BHBYW EE—) W) FTRZSEIEHRES

Indirect emissions (scope 2) (Note 2 and kg COze 4,091,962 10,353,875
Note 4)

BRHW (FE =) (W =R m) FTRZSEIEHRES

Other indirect emissions (scope 3) (Note 2) kg CO2e 181,474 256,225

HihfEEgem @E@E=) i =) FTRZSEIEHRES

Total greenhouse gas emissions kg CO2e 4,289,721 10,645,067
(Note 3 and Note 4)

BERRRIBEE (Wit = RMEEE) FTRZSEIEHRES

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions kg CO2ze per employee 43,331 38,154

BEREHREE

TRZAtHREE S1ER
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

The emission factors used in the calculation of air pollutants are sourced from
the EPD Vehicle Emission Calculation model and the Vehicle Emission Modeling
Software of the United States Environmental Protection Agency. These factors
are calculated on the assumption that the relative humidity is 80% and the
temperature is 25 degrees Celsius with an average speed of 30 kilometers per
hour and include running exhaust emission only.

Emission factors are sourced from the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of
the People’s Republic of China (2023), the 2024 Sustainability Report of Hong
Kong Electric Company Limited, the 2024 Sustainability Report of CLP Power
Hong Kong Limited and the 2024 Sustainability Report of The Hong Kong and
China Gas Company Limited. The figures are calculated in accordance with the
“Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”. Due to changes in the emission
factors used to calculate the CO2 equivalents associated with purchase of
electricity and gas in Mainland China and Hong Kong, the data have been
restated to conform to the current year's calculation.

Greenhouse gas emissions (direct and indirect) and the removals can be
categorized into the following three separate scopes:

Scope 1: Greenhouse gas emissions that attribute to business owned or
controlled by the Group (primarily from the fuel consumption of
vehicles).

Scope 2: Greenhouse gas emissions occurred in the production process
resulting from generation of electricity purchased by the Group from
electric power company.

Scope 3: All other indirect greenhouse gas emissions generated outside the
Group, including (i) methane gas generated at landfill by disposal
of paper waste; and (ii) indirect emissions due to electricity used for
processing drinking water/sewage water by external institutions.

In July 2024, the Management Committee of Yuncheng Economic and
Technological Development Zone* CGEINACEFMIFE & EEEEE) served
a notice dated 22 July 2024 to the Group and decided to unilaterally terminate
the franchise agreement pursuant to the termination provisions thereof.
Therefore, centralised heating business of the Group has ceased to operate
and has not generated revenue since 23 July 2024. As the use of vehicles
and purchase of electricity involved in such business are the primary sources
of air and greenhouse gas emissions of the Group, its cessation results in a
significant decrease in air and greenhouse gas emissions for the Year 2024/25
as compared with that of the Year 2023/24.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group’s five-year target is to reduce the air emissions and the
greenhouse gas emissions intensity by 5% respectively based on the
Year 2021/22 baseline by the Year 2026/27.

IRIR HHERERERS

AEBWSFEHHBZEN2026/27FE /IR
B2021/22EERNEERERERFBE
REEBEMEZE DRI 5% °

Environmental KPIs Emission reduction targets Benchmark year Status
IRIGAARETIER B AR HEF AR &
Intensity of NOx emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
NOxBE K Z & 122026/27F E AR 5% 2021/225E T
Intensity of SOx emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
SOxBF IR 122026/27F E AR 5% 2021/225E T
Intensity of PM emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
PMEER R E 122026/27F E AR 5% 2021/225 T
Intensity of greenhouse Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
gas emissions
RERBHREBE 1£2026/27F E AT 5% 2021/22FFE EITH

The Group adheres to the principle of “Three Simultaneously”, i.e. the
environmental governance design should be designed, constructed and
put into operation simultaneously with the main part of a project. The
Group's construction causes environmental impact during two phases,
namely construction and operation, and the main pollution generated
and protection measures taken include pollution and protection during
construction and after use.

In order to reduce the dust pollution at the construction sites, the
Group sprinkles water at regular time on the construction sites everyday
to prevent dust generation, and increases the volume and frequency
of sprinkling water on windy days. Solid wastes produced during the
construction period are mainly domestic waste and waste residual soil
generated during construction, which will be collected with dustbins
and then sent to refuse disposal plants by sanitation workers for
disposal, and the waste residual soil will be cleaned up and transported
in time.
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The wastewater generated during the construction period is mainly
domestic sewage and waste water generated from construction
activities. The construction waste water mainly contains sediment and
suspended matter, which will be collected first and then treated before
discharged to the sewer pipe. The waste water generated during
operation is mainly the heat pump room cleansing waste water and
system leakage waste water. The wastewater will be discharged from
the new pipe to regional existing storm water system.

M THAI R s K EBE A LIRS KM L&
BEEEENTK - MISKEESRED
By ghRE REBETKEE-
EEHENE KA ETEARTEREBFREK
MESBRBEK - BKANEEEHER
B EERKRL

Waste Unit Year 2024/25 Year 2023/24
B B 2024/25FE 202324FE
Total hazardous waste produced kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFEEBEEEREYES T NEA ~EA
Hazardous waste intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFEEBAEEEYEE Fr/8%EE NEA ~EA
Total non-hazardous waste produced kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFELEEBEERYES T NEA ~EA
Non-hazardous waste intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFELEBEEEREYEE Fr/8%EE NEA ~EA

As the Group only generated an insignificant amount of non-hazardous
waste in its business activities for the Year 2024/25, relevant data
were not quantified. Non-hazardous waste mainly includes domestic
waste and waste residual soil generated during construction, which
will be sent to refuse disposal plants by sanitation workers for disposal
regularly. In addition, there were no relevant data as no hazardous
waste was generated in the Group’s operation. If any hazardous waste
is required to be disposed of, the Group will engage professional
institutions to dispose of it.

For the Year 2024/25, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any relevant laws or regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China({FZE A
REHMEIREREA)) and the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution({F#E A B 40
EARR52YI785%)). In addition, no major fines or sanctions relating
to the non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations have been
received for the Year 2024/25.

The Group aims to maintain zero production of hazardous waste and
minimal production of non-hazardous waste by the Year 2026/27.
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Use of Resources

The Group recognizes the importance of environmental sustainability
and endeavors to minimize the impact on business environment through
adopting numerous energy-saving and conservation initiatives. The
Group's policy is to ensure compliance with applicable environmental
laws and regulations and minimize its environmental footprint through
the efficient use of resources and the adoption of pro-environmental
management. The Group’s eco-friendly measures at the office are as
follows:

e  staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning in the
meeting rooms and computers at workstations when not in use;

e whenever possible, documents are handled electronically other
than by using physical papers;

. staff is reminded to save water;

o staff is encouraged to reuse paper printed only on one side and
duplex printing and copying. Data on printing and copying is
regularly reviewed to assess the efficiency of paper usage;

o recycled office supplies are provided whenever possible; and

e conference calls instead of face-to-face meetings are arranged
where possible.

In addition, a series of energy conservation and emission reduction
measures have been adopted for the Group’s businesses of heating and
cooling supply by geothermal energy and centralized heating in order to
reduce the use of resources effectively.

To save electricity, the Group added transducers to electrical equipment
in the plants, which effectively adjusted the power of motors and
enabled them to operate at variable speeds, so as to achieve the goal of
energy saving.

The Group introduced advanced environmental facilities to construct
dry coal sheds in the plants, which could avoid natural losses caused
by wind and rain and therefore reduce environmental pollution. Such
construction also effectively prevented coal clogging in boilers due to
wet coals caused by wind and rain, and eliminated the fluctuation of
environmental data due to the unstable bottom temperature of boilers.

The Group set up a slag cooling system in the plants to recover waste
heat, improve the thermal efficiency of boilers, and reduce energy
consumption. Slag coolers facilitated the temperature of heated slags to
decrease from 900°C to below 100°C, i.e. approximately 2.5 GJ of heat
being recovered per hour based on the calculation of 12 tonnes of slags
being disposed of per hour. Without considering heat loss, the amount
of heat collected from slags per hour approximate to that of about 150
kg of coals, which indirectly improved the surrounding environment.
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IRIR - ERERERS

During the Year 2024/25, the Group did not encounter any difficulties in
obtaining suitable water sources.

In order to enhance employees’ awareness of energy saving and
emission reduction and management’s sense of responsibility and
mission of fulfilling such goals, the Group organized training every
Saturday to continuously teach them knowledge, good methods and
tips, make modest improvements to unreasonable practices, and keep
driving technological innovation, thereby contributing to advancement
in the work of energy saving and emission reduction to improve
efficiency.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group's use of
resources for the Year 2024/25 are set out below:

12202425 > AEBEEREGBER KRS
T b R BE AT R B o

FEERTIRS B IHEERPERIEEHE K
BAaRFEEEASMTHERFNEER
MiEm R B/ EBIEI S ERER A
s 0 Al 73R~ NERFT BN SRS
EIT/NUNE ) DE MR > EEEIAE
BEF TIERIMAT SR RS Wm

122024/25F E » 7 EBEREANIBHREIR
IBAERGERTIEWMT ¢

Environmental indictors Unit Year 2024/25 Year 2023/24

IRIBIEHR =R 2024/255FE 202324F E

Total energy consumption by type

REBRDDHGEREER

Electricity purchased for consumption kWh 4,605,102 11,319,933
(Note 2)

BEENEE WD) FRE

Fuel consumption of vehicles (Note 1& kWh 59,544 128,262
Note 2)

BRI S (W5 — R TRE

Total energy consumption kWh 4,664,646 11,448,195

RERHFEAR 2 FEE

Energy consumption intensity kWh per employee 47,118 41,033

RERHFER E FTERE B8%EE

Water resource

KEIR

Total water consumption (Note 2) m?3 89,477 284,110

MRFEKE (M5t 2) IHR

Water consumption intensity m? per employee 9204 1,018

FEKEE KK/ BHEER

Packaging materials used (Note 3)

BRMEERE (Wit=)

Packaging materials used for kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
finished products

KUk AT A MR T EH B

Packaging materials intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable

FRARaEMRRE T/ 8%EE TEH B

Energy sold to third parties

ME=HHENER

Total heating (geothermal energy) kWh 65,385,402 84,995,610

BRR (MhZAAE) 428 TRE

Total steam tonnes 28,084 71,164

RS i
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Note 1: The Group uses the conversion factor of the Energy Data Manual issued by the
International Energy Agency to convert units of data collected (gasoline and
diesel) into kWh.

Note 2: In July 2024, the Management Committee of Yuncheng Economic and
Technological Development Zone* GERA BRI E & EIEREEE) served a
notice dated 22 July 2024 to the Group and decided to unilaterally terminate
the franchise agreement pursuant to the termination provisions thereof.
Consequently, the Group’s centralised heating business was suspended, and
no revenue has been generated since 23 July 2024. Given that the vehicles,
electricity purchased, and water usage associated with this operation were
the primary sources of the Group's fuel consumption of vehicles, electricity
purchased for consumption, and total water consumption, the suspension
has led to a significant year-on-year reduction in these indicators for the Year
2024/25 as compared to the Year 2023/24.

Note 3: No packaging material was consumed for the Year 2024/25 as the Group's
business does not involve the use of packing materials.

The 5-year target of the Group is to reduce the total energy
consumption intensity and water consumption intensity by 5% by the
Year 2026/27, respectively, based on the Year 2021/22 benchmark.

IRIR HHERERERS
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Environmental KPIs Reduction target Benchmark year Status
IRIZFARGEWIER A B R HAEF R B&
Energy consumption intensity Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
FERHFER E 122026/27FE ERIEE5% 2021/225F EITH
Water consumption intensity Reduce by 5% by the Year 2026/27 Year 2021/22 In progress
FEXKEE 12202627 F ERHIEIE5% 2021/226FE EITH
Environmental and Natural Resources IRIBRRAER

Featured with energy conservation, low carbon, and environmental
protection, developing geothermal heating is in compliance with
national policies. Such features determine that geothermal heating can
be a realistic choice to replace fossil energy such as coal on a large scale
and optimize the energy structure.

As a clean renewable energy, geothermal energy has the following
advantages: (i) geothermal central heating can achieve regional
modularized central heating without laying a large area of centralized
heating network, and its heating cost is lower as compared with that of
fossil energy; (i) geothermal resources are environmentally friendly and
clean and renewable, and do not produce waste gas or waste residue,
which is of great significance for the reduction of haze and smog and
suspended particles; and (iii) through the technology of geothermal
reinjection into the same reservoir bed, the heat-extracted tail water is
recharged into the same reservoir bed to achieve the renewable use of
geothermal resources.
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IRIR - ERERERS

The National Development and Reform Commission, the National
Energy Administration and the Ministry of Land and Resources jointly
published the “Thirteenth Five-year Plan on the Development and
Utilizationof Geothermal Energy” ((#ZABERESER A +=F"#E|)) on
23 January 2017, which proposed to “innovate the geothermal energy
development and utilization mode, actively develop the geothermal
energy market, and comprehensively promote the effective utilization
of geothermal energy in accordance with the general requirements
of advanced technology, environmental friendliness and economic
feasibility”, and mentioned that advantages such as “promoting
hydrothermal geothermal heating based on the combination of
centralized and decentralized methods, and replacing traditional heating
with clean energy heating under the guiding principle of taking heat
but not water”. Those advantages will be beneficial to the sustainable
development of the Group’s business.

The Group’s projects for supplying heat are mainly applied in Hebei,
Shanxi and Shaanxi, etc. In order to improve the environmental quality
of these regions, the Group has constructed geothermal energy heating
projects to control the use of fossil energy and reduce emissions of
carbon dioxide and suspended particles, so as to improve the regional
environmental quality. These constructions bring both higher economic
benefits and important social benefits.

Climate Change

The continuous emission of greenhouse gas leads to climate change. In
response to climate change, the Group refers to the framework of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) of Financial
Stability Board to assess climate-related risks. There are two main types
of risks, which are: (i) physical risks associated with climate change
impacts; and (ii) transition risks associated with low-carbon economy.

The climate-related risks identified by the Group are mainly structural
damage to buildings caused by the increase in frequency of extreme
weather events and flooding due to changes in rainfall patterns. Such
climate change may affect labor management and planning, and also
increase the risk of work-related injuries for the employees. In addition,
there is a risk that the Group’s infrastructure and machines may be
damaged by climate change, and facilities damage will affect operations
and lead to an increase in operation costs.

In response to the above climate-related risks, the Group has purchased
employee injury insurances for all employees. Such insurances cover
expenses for employees’ injuries due to weather conditions. The Group
has also purchased relevant property insurance for all construction
projects, operating projects and the Group's key fixed assets to cover
property losses due to weather conditions and reduce maintenance costs
that may be required.
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SOCIAL

The Group believes that employees are its greatest asset which is crucial
to its continuous development. The Group establishes and operates
prudent human resources policies and practices strictly in compliance
with laws and regulations in respective jurisdictions where the group
entities are carrying on business. The Group updates and improves these
policies and practices regularly by taking into consideration the health
and well-being of its employees. All employees are kept abreast of any
updated policies and practices through internal memoranda.

Employment

As of 31 March 2025, the Group had 99 employees (Year 2023/24: 279
employees). The following table sets out the Group’s total workforce by
different categories for the Year 2023/24:

Total workforce

EERH

IRIR HHERERERS

it

FEBRD BINREENEE  HEE
BEREHEEZ - AEERREEEEE
EREEBRESRZEENEZRER
HEMRBREZENANDERBERKIED -
FEBEREMNTEEEBRRE
THETHREMBUAZSEERN -FTEE
THAIEBABHESE T BELEERMN
BAHIRERER-

&=

R2025%F3H831H AEEFIIRES
(2023/24FEFE (1 279%EE) - ZEER
202324 FER A EHERE DN EBEH
T -

Year 2024/25
2024/25FE

Year 2023/24
2023245 E

By gender

¥R El o

- Male
B4

— Female

Eg 3

By employment type (Full time or Part time)
REFREREE S (X ERE
— Full time
2
— Part time

R

By age group

HEEAERE 2

— Under 30
305 AT

- 30-50
30E508%

— Above 50
5058 M

By geographical region
Pt 3B & g 3 5
- Hong Kong
BE
— The PRC
FE

68 (69%) 217 (78%)

31 (31%) 62 (22%)

86 (87 %) 235 (84%)

13 (13%) 44 (16%)

4 (4%) 29 (10%)

68 (69%) 155 (56%)

27 (27%) 95 (34%)

25 (25%) 28 (10%)

74 (75%) 251 (90%)
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IRIR - ERERERS

The following table sets out the Group’s employee turnover rate by
different categories for the Year 2024/25:

Employee turnover rate (Note 1 & Note 2)

BERKLLER (MsF—RMisE )

AEEN2024/25FERTEERE 2B
EBEMKRLERFIEIT

Year 2024/25
2024/25FE

Year 2023/24
2023/24F E

By gender

=R 52

- Male
St

— Female

2t

By age group

e Be 4H R B 73

— Under 30
305 LT

- 30-50
30E505%

— Above 50
505 4 £

By geographical region
2R & i 8 o
- Hong Kong
B
- The PRC
R

Note 1: The employee turnover rate by different categories is calculated by dividing the
total number of employees lost in that group by the number of employees in
the corresponding group.

Note 2: In July 2024, the Management Committee of Yuncheng Economic and
Technological Development Zone* CGEINASEFMIFHEE & EEREEE) served
a notice dated 22 July 2024 to the Group and decided to unilaterally terminate
the franchise agreement pursuant to the termination provisions thereof. As a
result, the Group's centralised heating business has been suspended and no
revenue has been generated since 23 July 2024. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group had a total of 121 employees engaged in this business. The suspension
resulted in a significant increase in the employee turnover rate for the Year
2024/25 as compared to that of the Year 2023/24.

The Group offers competitive remuneration and employee benefits
to attract talents and implements a performance-based remuneration
system to motivate and reward employees to contribute to the
Group's business growth. Employee remuneration is determined with
reference to performance and market benchmark. Salary levels are not
differentiated by gender. Salaries and benefits are in compliance with
local minimum wages or above. All employees are treated fairly and
equally, and their rights and interests are also protected.

The Group provides and maintains various statutory benefits for its
staff, such as mandatory provident fund, medical and work injury
insurance, sick leave, funeral leave and maternity leave, etc. The Group
regularly reviews remuneration package and career advancement
opportunities, particularly for key positions, to ensure continuing market
competitiveness.
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The Group establishes the objective basis of key qualities and
requirements for candidates in its hiring processing and assesses the
suitability of the candidate to avoid risks of discrimination or bias. Job
openings are also offered to all qualified employees with good work
records so as to promote career advancement of employees. Consistent
criteria are applied to assess both internal and external candidates
regardless of age, sex, race, nationality or physical disabilities to ensure
fair judgment and avoid any risk of favoritism or discrimination.

All work are reasonably assigned and should be performed voluntarily
by employees, and fair and reasonable working hours are arranged for
respective staff in accordance with various job needs. All employees
may resign upon reasonable notice and should not be dismissed for
unreasonable grounds.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare
for the Year 2024/25. The Group strictly complies with local laws and
regulations relating to employment, such as the Labor Law of the
People’'s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Employment Contracts. In addition, there was no circumstance
of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations for the Year 2024/25.

Health and Safety

The Group's business includes the exploration and development of
geothermal resources and geothermal energy heating projects, which
mainly involve two types of hazards; one is the hazards or adverse
effects caused by natural factors, generally including earthquakes,
poor geology, high temperature in summer, low temperature in winter,
lightning strikes and other factors; and another one is the hazards
arising from the production process, including harmful dust and poison,
fire and explosion accidents, mechanical injuries and electrical injuries,
burn injuries due to high temperature, falling injuries and other factors.

To protect employees from the impacts of occupational hazards, the
Group requires that the project must be designed in accordance with
the “Hygienic Standards for the Design of Industrial Enterprises (GBZ
1-2010)" ((TEEERSHELERE)(GBZ 1-2010)) and the “Code
for Design of Industrial Heatmg, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (GB
50019-2015)" (TR ME M T RPBER ST AR ) (GB 50019-2015))
to prevent heatstroke. Measures such as heat insulation, ventilation, and
heating shall be adopted in accordance with the requirements of the
specification in the design to ensure a good working environment for
the operation, maintenance and production personnel.
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IRIR - ERERERS

The Group has also carried out the design of overvoltage protection
and grounding of equipment in accordance with the requirements of
the“Technical Regulations for Design of Overvoltage Protection for
Power Equipment” ((BNHREBEEFRERFFMRIE)) and the
“Technical Regulations for Grounding Design of Power Equipment” ({(&
TIREFHREHRMARTIZ)), which include the design of anti-static
for outdoor equipment. Moreover, outdoor equipment such as pumps
and other equipment should be installed with lightning rods as direct
lightning overvoltage protection facilities.

In addition, the noise generated by the heat pump units and circulating
water pumps operating in the exploration and development of the
project may cause hearing damage to the staff. Therefore, the Group
provides effective personal protection measures for the staff working in
noisy operation positions and also requires them to wear ear plugs, ear
muffs, etc. while patrolling or operating, so as to minimize the exposure
to high intensity noise environment and reduce the damage to human
body as far as possible.

For the Year 2024/25, number and rate of work-related fatalities and
lost days due to work injury are set out as follow:

Work-related fatalities
EI3ET

Year 2024/25
2024/25%E

FEBTRB(ENRBEBAEERERS
RAMTARIE D K (BB IR f HE 5% St T AR A2 )
NEXRETEERREMNZEMNRE > H
TEEEIRBEIHFER S FEINR

BUMAREREBEH FRAERERE
ERREE R o

ItE5h - TR B B R K F 8 R E TR BA R A AR
MBERKREENRSIEEGHBITEN
%%17‘3?,%%0%’2!&%?%&\ B2 1 {iL
WIFAERHEEMBEALEER T
ERMMAIEETRENIRERLOAMGTE
E-HEF BAREAVESREBRBIRRE
THRE BREZABEHNLES-

R202425FE > R TIRT ABIEIET =L
RATITESEEANITERHIIENT :

Year 2023/24
202324 E

Year 2022/23
2022/23F &

Number of work-related fatalities
A TERIARMIETHIAE
Rate of work-related fatalities (%)

ETFRAFMIETRIEER (%)

Lost days due to work injury

ELEZERTIERHE

Year 2024/25
2024/255%E

Year 2023/24
202324FE

Lost days due to work injury

EIGEEANIIFEH

For the Year 2024/25, there were no work-related accidents, therefore,
there were no lost days due to work injury and no work-related
fatalities.

For the Year 2024/25, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that has a significant
impact on providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. The Group strictly complies with
the local laws and regulations relating to health and safety, such as
the Safety Production Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances of the People’s Republic
of China. In addition, there was no circumstance of significant fines
or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations for the Year 2024/25.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Development and Training

The Group encourages employees to attend appropriate training courses
to enhance their competence for performance improvement and career
development. They are also encouraged to attend appropriate external
job-related courses or to acquire higher professional qualification to
enhance their competence and performance. All new employees are
briefed by the department heads to ensure the employees are aware and
familiarize themselves with the Group's values and goals and to ensure
the employees understand their role in the Group. In the Year 2024/25,
the Group will also provide its employees with brief training on various
machine operation and safety management regulations during weekly
meetings, including but not limited to fire safety, emergency handling,
safe operation of electrical equipment, water (ground) source heat
pump system operating procedures, etc.
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Note 1: The average training hours per employee of the Company in the Year
2024/25 decreased significantly compared with that of the Year 2023/24. This
decrease is mainly due to the fact that employees have already mastered the
relevant processes, resulting in certain subsidiaries not arranging any training
courses. In contrast, given the introduction of new employees and changes in
leadership and management methods during the Year 2023/24, the demand
for training increased, thus leading to a higher average training hours per
employee. The Group will continue to review the adequacy of employee
training according to actual needs to ensure that employees’ skills align with
the development needs of the Company. Due to changes in the method used
to calculate the average training hours employees completed, the data have
been restated to conform to the current year’s calculation.

Note 2: Percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing the number of
trained employees by the number of employees.

Note 3: Percentage of employees trained by employee category is calculated by
dividing the number of employees trained in that category by the number of
trained employees.

Labor Standards

The Group from time to time reviews its employment practice and
the Group's guidelines on staff recruitment to ensure that it is in full
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations on the prevention of
child labor and forced labor in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group adopted stringent requirements in selecting employees. We
require job applicants to provide information such as identity cards,
proof of highest academic qualifications, professional certificates and
proof of separation from previous employment for identity verification
during recruitment. In the event that child labor or forced labor is
employed within the Group in violation of regulations, the Group will
immediately terminate the labor contract and, after identifying the
reasons, impose appropriate penalties on the non-compliant employees.

For the Year 2024/25, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance of the laws and regulations relating to the prevention of
child labor or forced labor. The Group strictly complies with the local
laws and regulations related to labor standards, such as the Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Provisions on Prohibition of
Child Labor. In addition, there was no circumstance of significant fines
or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations for the Year 2024/25.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has established internal control procedures for the selection
of suppliers. The Group requires that: (i) environmental certificates
shall be verified before the shortlisting of suppliers and environmental
ratings shall be approved by professionals; (ii) only those suppliers who
have been shortlisted in the resource pool are allowed to participate
in the bidding process; and (iii) during the bidding process, assuming
that all suppliers meet the technical requirements, the expert panel
shall rate their environmental ratings and environmental solutions, with
the supplier with the highest rating being the preferred supplier and
the supplier with the second highest rating being its reserve supplier
(selected only if the preferred supplier waives to continue to perform the
bid).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

“Energy saving and environmental protection” is our highlight in
rendering services and selling products, which also echoes with the
environmental protection concept of our customers. Therefore, the
Group will give priority to those suppliers with eco-friendly products
to differentiate our products from those of other competitors, so as to
achieve differentiated marketing.

While the Group has established good relationships with its suppliers,
the Group also offers equal opportunity to all potential business
partners. Selection criteria such as quality and price of products,
supplier's reputation, background and experience are key factors to
the Group's procurement decisions. Furthermore, the Group expects its
suppliers to strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations.

For the Year 2024/25, the number of suppliers by geographical region is
as follows:

Geographical region
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Product Responsibility EmafE

The Group is responsible for its products and services and does not
engage in unfair business activities of any kind. Fraud, misleading
information, or any acts that destroy customer confidence or infringe
customer rights are strictly prohibited. The Group has also strictly
complied with relevant products and services related regulations.

For the commodity trading business, the Group has established
procedures for the recycling of products. After recycling, the Group tests
the products for environmental attributes and assesses whether the
products meet the future technical conditions for recycling purposes as
far as possible. For the Year 2024/25, the Group has not received any
products subject to recycling for safety and health reasons from our
customers.
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For customers’ complaints, the Group will conduct corresponding
follow-up procedures in accordance with internal procedures and
guidelines. Upon receiving a customer’s complaint, we will promptly
contact the customer to understand the cause and discuss the solution
with the customer, conduct on-site and telephone communication
for preliminary resolution of the customer’s request and take relevant
investigation accordingly. In addition, we will carry out technical updates
or renovations based on environmental conditions for problems that
arise. The Group believes that complaints are a valuable opportunity
for it to obtain feedback from the community and customers, so as
to identify the need for service and policy improvement. Except for
complaints from customers of the centralised heating business regarding
unsatisfactory heating temperatures, the Group has not received any
complaint about its products and services for the Year 2024/25.

The Company's data protection and privacy policy is that while
collecting, processing and using personal data of the Group's customers
in its financial service sector, appropriate measures are taken to protect
such data from unauthorized access and abuse. Personal data is
collected only for lawful and relevant purposes. Employment contracts
stipulate employees’ duty in safeguarding confidential or sensitive
information that they have had access to during their employment.

The Group is committed to protecting intellectual property rights which
are of great importance to its business. The Group has developed
a method for the management of computer software copyrights to
strictly regulate its copyright application procedures. The Group has also
established a copyright list to record information such as application
numbers, application dates and deadlines of its software copyrights.

For the Year 2024/25, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to the health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to the products
and methods of remedy. The Group strictly abides by the local laws
and regulations related to product liability, such as the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance, the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China. In addition, no significant
fines or sanctions have been reported for the Year 2024/25.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to uphold high standards on anti-corruption.
Adequate guidelines are implemented to ensure that all employees
(including directors) adhere to high standards of business and
professional and ethical conduct. All employees are encouraged to raise
any related concerns to the senior management in a strictly confidential
manner. Any matters of genuine concern are to be thoroughly
investigated and actions will be taken accordingly.
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For the Year 2024/25, the Group provides its directors, senior
management members and relevant employees with training packages
for directors and professionals prepared by the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (ICAC). The training packages cover the corruption
risks faced by directors, senior management and professionals of a
company during the preparation for listing, ordinary business operation
and takeovers and mergers, and dissect issues such as corruption, fraud,
conflicts of interest, cross-border bribery, backdoor listing and insider
trading.

To the best knowledge of the Company, the Group has been compliant
with all relevant anti-money laundering laws. The risk of establishing
relationships with individuals or organizations engaged in money
laundering or terrorism activities is minimized by implementing “know
your customer” and assessment processes. The Group has robust
internal control procedures in place to provide reasonable assurance
against fraud. For the Year 2024/25, the Group has not been involved in
any corruption lawsuits.

The Group holds the license or approval required to provide money
lending services and regulated activities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance. The management supports a culture of integrity,
zero tolerance for bribery and ensures that business is conducted in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

For the Year 2024/25, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. The Group strictly abides by the local laws
and regulations related to anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China.
In addition, no significant fines or sanctions have been reported for the
Year 2024/25.

Community Investment

The Group is fully aware of the importance of interacting with the
wider community in fulfilling corporate social responsibility and has
been eager to take initiatives in making cash donations to charitable
organizations and supporting the events organized by local communities
and neighbors.

For the Year 2024/25, the Group participated in the “New Year Waste
Reduction and Warmth Campaign” organized by the Wharf (Holdings)
Limited, where we established dedicated recycling stations across our
offices to collect and properly recycle used red packets and festive food
packaging through certified clean recycling processes. Additionally , the
Group also participated in the “2024 Mooncake Box Recycling Program”
organized by the Wharf (Holdings) Limited.

The Group would explore the possibility of finding suitable partners
and make contributions to community and environmental protection
programs that facilitate positive changes. The Group would also, from
time to time, encourage its staff to support community service activities.

IRIR HHERERERS

12024255 E  AEBSHEEER -BRE
BEENEREMETRMARRAZSHME
NWEEREEANTHEINEM - HNHEME
PREAFDEFT BREEABREZEA
ITREXEFLTHBE ATXEHHBE
EREBEEHERHMEHNETEA
o WEITARE S WEF M anER B
EHE A ERLETRARR S SRE

BARNBFEN AEBEEREAE KT
RAEBAR WEHRITHREL M2
FFr2EARERBAKRELERIDHMESE
SEENAY(E A S0 AR 48 R ST RA A A9 LB o A £
EREREENAIIZESNRER  BESEN
REREEIREE o FR2024/25F B > ZNEE X iE
ESTRESTRAE Y-

AEEBER R ENE RS ME5 RAERF
PIETRREEBFANFT R B -
EEEXFHC HHERTHATETHNX
b MEFRREBEENAREIRAEES

72024/25F E > REBE W AFE A BB LE
BB R ME AR E A ENERE R
HEEEMNERERBR AEBRKE
THEKESHBM A EEER WL
FERSEA ) ~ (hE AR ERBERE) K (F
#FE AR MBI R FEEED o LI > 532024/25
FEETREZEAZEI AN EHBIE R

HERE

FEERDEHIIBTEEAESERA
BFPAMEEFHNEZE  TRAERRING
HEMEBERURZFTEMT & REE
mEe

R202425FE - AEBZ2E THAES
EEERABUHEREXETEAE
BN AEARRILEIWEEWF EH &
BEEem BB&FOIW LI KEBIR
Z2ETHNAEAEBRERATNTBHE
o] U 5t &12024  ©

AERRREINEESBNSERHAEE
Mo i8R i R RS RV IR IR (R &
StEIFHBER - A E B TR AR REHEE
IXFHERFES -

BIFHSBRAERIZRERAT 2024/255F 3

61



62

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFRRREEEREFB

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Li Mengzhe (Chairman), aged 30, has been appointed as non-
executive director of the Company since January 2025. He graduated
from University of British Columbia with a bachelor's degree of Art
in 2019 and obtained a master’s degree of Liberal Arts from Harvard
University in 2021. Mr. Li established his own private equity investment
entity in October 2020 which is principally engaged in undertaking
and managing various private equity and pre-initial public offering
investments in the high-tech sectors in the PRC, covering artificial
intelligence, big data, financial technology about deep learning-
based investment strategies, smart hardware, intelligent logistics and
innovative pharmaceuticals. Besides managing his investments portfolio,
Mr. Li also served in the private bank team of a North American bank
from September 2017 to February 2018, and in Power Capital, a
financial institution based in the PRC with approximately RMB20 billion
of assets under management, from August 2021 to December 2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yinggian (Deputy Chairman), aged 61, has been appointed
as non-executive director of the Company since June 2018 and
redesignated as executive director since October 2019. She holds a
bachelor degree of Economics from Renmin University of China (FRE]A
EEK#) and a qualification of intermediate economist issued by Ministry
of Personnel of the PRC (FAZE AR FEFMEI AFEF) . Ms. Wang worked in
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Beijing Municipal Branch (FR[E]
TER1TIER™217) from 1985 to 2006 and was the deputy general
manager of its corporate banking department from 2005 to 2006. She
worked in Bank of Communications Beijing Municipal Branch (323&
tRITIER ™ 17) from 2006 to 2016 and served as its vice president
from 2010 to 2013 and was a director of Bank of Communications
Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (RIRERBEFREEAE) from 2010 to
2012. For the period from April 2017 to March 2019, Ms. Wang was
an executive director of Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited
(currently known as Hong Kong Chaoshang Group Limited), a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2322). For
the period from March 2016 to January 2020, she was the supervisor
of Fortunes United International Leasing Co., Ltd. (BIfk & BEERE
FAEEBRAE), a company established in the PRC. For the period from
March 2019 to June 2025, Ms. Wang was an independent director of
Bloomage Biotechnology Corporation Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 688363). She has also been appointed as
(i) an independent director of ABC Life Insurance Co., Ltd, a subsidiary
of Agricultural Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1288) since March
2018, and (i) an independent director of Huatai Securities (Shanghai)
Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (ERFZH (LB EEEEERAT)
since December 2022. Ms. Wang has over 30 years of experience in the
commercial banking industry and have extensive experience in project
management and financing.
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Mr. Qin lJie (Chief Executive Officer), aged 58, has been appointed
as executive director since January 2020. He graduated from Beijing
University of Civil Engineering and Architecture* (JEREHE KX
2) (formerly known as Beijing Institute of Architecture and Civil
Engineering* (JEREFETIEZ2ET)) with a bachelor’'s degree in
engineering in 1990 and obtained the qualification of senior engineer
in December 2000. Mr. Qin has nearly 30 years of experience in the
real estate construction management industry. He served as the chief
engineer of COSCO Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (FRizE#
EREARAT) (stock code: 3377) (currently known as Sino-Ocean
Group Holding Limited GREEBIERABRATF])), which is listed on
the Stock Exchange, from 2002 to 2004. He was the project general
manager, general manager of the intercity company and regional deputy
general manager of the eastern China in Neo-China Group (Holdings)
Limited (stock code: 563) (currently known as Shanghai Industrial Urban
Development Group Limited (/8B XM TEEEBARAE)), which
is listed on the Stock Exchange, from 2004 to 2009. He was also the
general manager of the Beijing company and the Shijiazhuang company
in Dalian Wanda Group Co., Ltd.* (KEBEZEEBEKHBERAT) from
2009 to 2011, and the president of Newbeacon Group Limited* (41 &
E£EERAE) from 2014 to 2017. Mr. Qin is also the general manager
and/or director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Li Haitao, aged 52, has been appointed as executive director of the
Company since December 2021. He graduated from Renmin University
of China in 1997 and majored in international finance. Mr. Li has over
20 years of experience in real estate development industry, specializing
in real estate policies analysis, land development, project management
and team building. He has successively held various management
positions since he formally entered the industry in 1997, including the
deputy general manager of Beijing Kehua Hongye Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
(ERFIFEBEEME AT from 2000 to 2003; the general manager
of the project development department of Beijing New Shine Investment
Group Company Limited* (JEEFMIRNEEEBBRAE) from 2003
to 2007; the deputy general manager of project development of Yihai
Group from 2007 to 2009; the deputy general manager of Beijing
company of Beijing Changdao Xingye Real Estate Co., Ltd.* GtREE
EEEMERZARAE)from 2010 to 2012; and the deputy general
manager of Beijing Taihe Jiayuan Real Estate Co., Ltd.* QR K& =E
EEREAREEAE)from 2012 to 2019. Mr. Li joined the Group
in 2019 and is responsible for the operation of several subsidiaries
of the Company. Currently, Mr. Li is also the general manager and/or
director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Tonghui, aged 62, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since April 2016. He obtained
a bachelor’s degree in international politics and a master degree in
international relations from Tokyo International University in 1995
and 1997 respectively. He has over 20 years of extensive experience
in investment activities and business management. During the period
between 1997 to 1998, he served as the representative of Nippon
Howaito Cooperation* (H 78 H B &% &%) in China. He had been
working as the deputy general manager in each of Shouchuang Longji
Company Limited* (HERIBEERMKBBRAE) from 1998 to 2004 and
Huajian Dongfang Software Company Limited* GEEREBEHHUHARE
£/~ ) from 2005 to 2008, respectively. He was the general manager
of Tangshan Haigang Xingerui Company Limited* (B /8B RIHAE
[REEAE) from 2009 to January 2019 and the assistant president of
Unisplendour Corporation Limited * (82821 B RAF]) from 2012 to
June 2019, which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000938). Since June 2019, he has been appointed as the executive
director of Qingkong Technology Services (Shenzhen) Company Limited*

CRERER (R BRAT).
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EFRRREEEREFB

Ms. Yin Meiqun, aged 54, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 2021. She graduated
from Shenyang University of Technology with a bachelor’s degree in
accounting in 1993 and obtained a master's degree in management
science and engineering from Harbin University of Science and
Technology in 2001 and a doctor's degree in accounting from Renmin
University of China in 2005. She is a PRC certified public accountant, a
council member of the Accounting Society of China, a member of the
Accounting Education Committee of the Accounting Society of China
and a member of the Expert Committee on Management Accounting
of China* (FEIEEGHEXRKZEZESE). Ms. Yin has nearly 30 years'
experience of teaching in colleges. From July 1993 to June 2007, she
taught at Harbin University of Science and Technology. From July 2007
to August 2021, she taught at Beijing International Studies University
and successively served as the finance director, auditing director of the
university and the dean of School of Business. She was re-designated
to China University of Political Science and Law in September 2021
and currently is the deputy dean, a professor and a doctoral supervisor
of its School of Business. In addition, Ms. Yin has been appointed as
an independent director of (i) Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and
Shenzhen Stock Exchange respectively, stock code: 1812 and 488) since
June 2019 and (ii) China Testing & Certification International Group
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the main board of the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 603060) since March 2024.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ye Jianmu, aged 57, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since October 2022. He graduated
from China University of Geosciences, Wuhan with a bachelor’s
degree in Industrial Management and Engineering in 1992 and
obtained a master's degree in Engineering in 1996 and a doctor’s
degree in Management Science and Engineering in 2003 from Wuhan
University of Technology. Mr. Ye has been teaching in the School of
Management of Wuhan University of Technology since July 2003 and
currently is a professor of the Finance and Accounting Faculty and a
doctoral supervisor. He is an expert reviewer in various science projects
conducted by government bodies, including the National Natural
Science Foundation of China* (B BARIE2E %), the National
Social Science Fund of China* (EIZR# &R E2EE)and The Ministry
of Education of Humanities and Social Science Project* (A& ZF A X1t
FIEHE). Mr. Ye is also a council member of the Accounting Society of
Wuhan City* (F2m 252 ). From April 2012 to March 2014, Mr.
Ye was an independent director of Hubei Hongcheng General Machinery
Co., Ltd.* GEYIE 338 R A% 15 B IR A B)) (currently known as Hubei
Jumpcan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* GHILZEIZE£ RSB BRAED), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600566).
Since December 2021, Mr. Ye has appointed as independent director
of Wuhan Changli New Material Technology Co., Ltd.* (B2 EF)#
MR IR B BRAE]), which is in process of application for initial
public offering on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He has also appointed
as independent director of Shanghai Baolong Automotive Technology
Co., Ltd.* (LBRESERERMHBRAE), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603197), since December 2022.

Senior Management

Mr. Ho Yu, aged 50, has been appointed as the company secretary and
chief financial officer of the Company since May 2013. Mr. Ho received
a master’s degree of Accounting from Curtin University of Technology,
Australia. Mr. Ho is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ho
was the company secretary and/or financial controller for two companies
listed on the Stock Exchange.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 86 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Particulars of a discussion and analysis on the activities specified in
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong
Kong), including a fair review of the Group's business, a discussion on
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of
important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the
end of the financial period and future development in the Company’s
business and analysis using financial key performance indicators, are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Message”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.
The above sections form an integral part of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and suppliers are keys
to its sustainable growth and development. The Group is committed to
establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees, providing
quality services to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its
suppliers.
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Employees

Employees are crucial assets of the Group. The Group strives to
enhance employees’ sense of belonging and loyalty to the Group. The
Group provides a fair, healthy and safe workplace, promotes diversity,
provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group
also aims to commit resources to providing employment training and
development opportunities so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their skills and performance in their respective positions and
build up confidence and self-esteem. The Group also values and is open
to receiving feedback from employees with an aim to foster a good and
long-lasting relationship.

Customers

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide products and services in a
way that satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
strives to enhance the relationship with customers by continuous
interaction and communication with customers so that the Group can
respond proactively to cater for customers’ needs. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints to
ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and timely
manner. During the year under review, the Group has maintained good
relationship with its customers.

Suppliers

The Group is also dedicated to developing a good relationship with
suppliers and contractors as long-term business partners to ensure
stability of the Group's business. The Group reinforces business
partnerships with suppliers and contractors by ongoing communication
in a proactive and effective manner so as to ensure quality and timely
delivery. During the year under review, the Group has worked closely
with its suppliers and maintained good relationships with them.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda and therefore the Company
is subject to relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda. In addition, the
Company is registered as a non-Hong Kong Company under Part 16
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) and
therefore is subject to the relevant provisions under the Companies
Ordinance.

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the
Company is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules including the
disclosure requirements and corporate governance provisions therein.
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Under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), the Company is
required to maintain a register of interests in shares and short positions
and a register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions and is obliged to disclose price sensitive or inside information.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) trading of goods, (ii) the money
lending business, (iii) the securities and futures dealing and related
consultancy services (the business segment of the securities dealing and
related consultancy services was disposed in June 2025), (iv) property
investment, (v) the property brokerage business, (vi) the building
architecture and interior design business and data analytical business,
(vii) the project management business, (viii) the geothermal energy
business, (ix) the building construction contracting business, and (x)
centralised heating business (suspended since July 2024 and disposed
in June 2025), in Hong Kong and the PRC, and therefore is subject to
the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC where the
Group entities are carrying on businesses.

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’'s securities during the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024 Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, in the opinion of the directors, the Company had
no reserves available for distribution to shareholders (2024: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Li Mengzhe (Chairman)
(appointed on 17 January 2025)

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yingqgian (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Haitao
Mr. Fan Jie
(resigned on 23 October 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Tonghui
Ms. Yin Meiqun
Mr. Ye Jianmu

In accordance with Bye-law 83(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Li Mengzhe will be subject to re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Wang
Yinggian and Mr. Ye Jianmu shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the annual general meeting.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which can
be terminated by not less than three months’ or one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are still independent.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the following
persons other than the directors or chief executive of the Company,
in the Company’s shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and which have
been recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO, were as follow:

FTERRZRMGER RN KRG
7%

A CETRHEZRA=Z+—H ' UTEEA
T (ERBEFHEETHABRRIN R
NERD T HEEREZSERPEEAEXY
EE2/ B3N BB AN T IREL E L
MREARNBIREBEZEHRBPEEGFE3361EEF
BEERMzEREREWT

Percentage of
the Company'’s issued

Name Capacity Interest in shares share capital
ERATEET
e, A 513 R itz RABSLE
(Note 3)
(MEz%3)
Li Mengzhe (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 624,980,154 29.88%
Li Mengzhe (Fi#3E1) REGINE R
Max Kensho Capital Group Limited Interest in a controlled corporation 624,980,154 29.88%
("Max Kensho Capital”) (Note 1)
Max Kensho Capital Group Limited TEGIAB R
(TMax Kensho Capital J) (M#31)
South Leader Limited (“South Leader”) Beneficial owner 624,980,154 29.88%
(Note 1)
South Leader Limited (I South Leader J) BHEEBA
(PiiEE1)
Wang Baoning (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 244,296,000 11.68%
THRE (Mst2) REGABEE
Sunbow Int'l Enterprise Limited (“Sunbow”)  Beneficial owner 244,296,000 11.68%

(Note 2)

Sunbow Int'l Enterprise Limited (FSunbow ) B@#EA A
(fiyzE2)

Notes:

(1) 624,980,154 shares are held by South Leader, which is wholly-owned by Max
Kensho Capital. As Mr. Li Mengzhe has the 100% shareholding in Max Kensho
Capital, by virtue of the SFO, he and Max Kensho Capital are deemed to be
interested in all the shares beneficially held by South Leader.

(2) 244,296,000 shares are held by Sunbow. As Mr. Wang Baoning has the 100%
shareholding in Sunbow, by virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in all
the shares beneficially held by Sunbow.
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(3)  The percentage is calculated on the basis of 2,091,500,991 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short position in the issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executives and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company
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Percentage of
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share capital

Capacity Interest in shares of the Company

EEATBET

g1 B 15 #E %5 = g

(Note)

Name of directors BEEHY (Bt 5E)

Mr. Li Mengzhe Li Mengzhe%t 4 Interest in a controlled 624,980,154 29.88%
operation

S EERER

Mr. Liu Tonghui 2Pkt Beneficial owner 12,200,000 0.58%
BaEAA

Mr. Qin Jie ENKE Beneficial owner 7,200,000 0.34%
BaEAA

Mr. Li Haitao =RERE Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.14%
BaEAA

Note: The percentage is calculated on basis of 2,091,500,991 shares of the Company in
issue as at 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the directors
and chief executives, nor their associates, had any interests or short
positions in any shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporations.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The 2021 Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
on 1 September 2021 (the “Adoption Date”) and took effect from 2
September 2021 (the “Effective Date”). The purposes of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme are to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to employees, directors,
consultants, business associates and advisers of the Group for their
contribution to the Group and to promote its success. The 2021 Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the Effective Date.

Eligible participants of the 2021 Share Option Scheme include the
following persons:

(@) any employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which
any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(b) any directors, non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any entity in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(e) any shareholder of or holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any entity in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest; and

(f)  any other group or classes of persons or entities from time to time
determined by the Board as having contributed or may contribute
to by way of joint venture, business alliances or other business
arrangements to the development and growth of the Group.
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The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under the
2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the Adoption Date, representing 152,528,493 shares
of the Company (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") or the date of refreshing
the Scheme Mandate Limit approved by shareholders of the Company in
general meeting. The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise
of the options which may be granted under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant (other than
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director as
explained below) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time to time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their associates, are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of the Company
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is the grantee
of the options). Where any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their respective associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) would result in the Company's shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person(s) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant (a) representing in aggregate over 0.10 per cent of the Company’s
shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, such further grant of options is subject to approval by the
shareholders of the Company in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in writing by a
participant within 21 days from the date of offer upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period for
the share options granted is determined by the Board, which period
shall not be more than 10 years from the date of grant.
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The amount payable of each share to be subscribed for under an option
in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion and must be at least the higher of:

FEE BARTIIRSE

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's (i)
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant (which must be a

business day);

(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock (i)
Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The following table discloses movements of the share options under the

(iii)

REREETENERT  REBRER
BHEREROHNENSEREFRHZED

fon RIRHBH (WAEREXEH) £
P HRERFMIIBKHE ;

RONEERHAPAEEEXEE
BT RKRERMINFHKS

E4

D EE

TREBEZ-_—FBRESEETER

2021 Share Option Scheme during the year: ERERNZ EE) .
Adjusted Granted Exercised Forfeited/ ~ Outstanding
exercise price  Outstanding during during  Lapsed during as at
Grantees Date of grant Exercisable period (HKS per share)  as at 1.4.2024 the year the year the year 31.3.2025
RIEBZmE RZZB_1E
GRENEE mA—-B =B=t+-H
EBEA BHAS [ (BRRHET) HRTE ERBEH ERBTE ERRER/ &Y HRTE
Employees (Note (ii)) 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 t0 27.4.2028 (Note (i)) 0.7194* 33,361,134 - - 5 33,361,134
&8 (i) “EICE “BCEMAZHNHECZEIN
mAZ+NE FMAZ+A (EH)
Consultants
e
Wang Chunyang 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 t0 27.4.2028 (Note(i)) 0.7194* 5,560,189 - - - 5,560,189
58 IEICE “E_"FMAFN\RE
mAZ+N\R ZEIN\ERAZHR ()
Liu Xiaobin 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 t0 27.4.2028 (Note(i)) 0.7194* 11,120,379 - - - 11,120,379
-7 St -3 “B__EMAZHN\HE
mEZ+\R ZEINEMAZHLE ()
Total 50,041,702 = = 50,041,702
st
t The exercise price has been adjusted to reflect the effect of the Rights Issue in * THEEERARZR  URMR_SEZ=F182

September 2023.
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Notes:

(i) Subject to the Board's absolute discretion to change the vesting period of the
share options granted to the relevant employees in the event of termination of
employment of the relevant employees, every 20% of the share options granted
to and accepted by the relevant employees and consultants shall be vested on
each anniversary of the date of grant until such share options are fully vested.

(i) No individual employee was granted share options in excess of the 1% individual
limit under the 2021 Share Option Scheme.

(iii) ~ During the year, no options were granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme.
The number of share options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit
remained 92,478,452 as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 respectively.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in this annual report. None of the related
party transactions constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, was a party and in which a director
of the Company or an entity connected with a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the directors of the
Company had any interest in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’'s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
year is as follows:

TEXRRMERS

FRNARIETR RMEEHGESERH
ERMFBRZENIBIEIAT

Percentage of the Group’s total

LAEEBENT AL
Purchases Sales
REEEE HELE
The largest customer BRAKR = 62%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAEEGE - 83%
The largest supplier BRAMIER 8% =
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AARMEFEE 23% =

At no time during the year, have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Bye-
laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2025 and as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for director’s
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of
Hong Kong) when the report of the directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws
of Hong Kong).

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the auditors
of the Company, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Qin Jie

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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;L

ZHONGHUI

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HONG KONG ROBOTICS GROUP
HOLDING LIMITED (FORMER KNOWN AS “CHINA BEST GROUP
HOLDING LIMITED")

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong
Robotics Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 86 to 230,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March
2025, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2025 in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners
of the Company under its continuing operations of approximately
HK$133,971,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025. Further, the
Group had not repaid trust loans of approximately HK$214,537,000
and accrued interests of approximately HK$50,957,000 thereon upon
maturity on or before 31 March 2025 while it is still negotiating with
lender for extension of loan period as described in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. These circumstances along with
situation as set forth in note 3, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to
be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of goodwill for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance
of goodwill of approximately HK$226,961,000 as at 31 March
2025 and the impairment loss on goodwill for the year ended
31 March 2025 of approximately HK$21,823,000 are material to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgements and is based on
assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the identification of the related cash generating
units;

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the fair value and
value-in-use calculations;

— Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth

rates and discount rates);

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuers engaged by the Group; and

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for goodwill is
supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables and contract
assets

Refer to Notes 31, 27, 32 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group tested the amount of loans and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables, other loans and interest receivables
and contract assets for impairment. These impairment tests are
significant to our audit because the balances of loans and interests
receivables, trade and other receivables, other loans and interest
receivable and contract assets of approximately HK$245,744,000,
HK$344,921,000, HK$8,839,000, and HK$322,638,000
respectively as at 31 March 2025 and the impairment losses on
loan and interest receivables, trade and other receivables and other
loans and interest receivables for the year ended 31 March 2025
of approximately HK$11,322,000, HK$32,000 and HK$1,254,000
respectively are material to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the Group's procedures on granting loans limits and
loans periods to borrowers;

—  Assessing the transaction history with the borrowers;
—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
—  Assessing aging of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the borrowers, guarantors and
the value of collateral pledged,;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the borrowers;

—  Checking the computation of expected credit loss allowance;
and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
in the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

ii. Loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables and contract
assets (Continued)

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for loans and
interest receivables, finance lease receivables, trade and other
receivables, other loans and interest receivables and contract assets
are supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company's annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/
auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Chi Hoi

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07268

Hong Kong
27 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
maEmkEMEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

2025 2024
ZEZhHE ZZTNE
(Restated)
Cc=xl)
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FAT FHET
Continuing operations TSR
Revenue W= 10 116,083 213,349
Operating costs A 13 (84,000) (177,594)
Other income HAA 12 2,326 7,874
Administrative and other expenses THEREME N (31,533) (67,204)
Staff costs BE M 13 (40,117) (52,913)
Finance costs FATS LA 13 (25,175) (30,631)
Unrealised loss on fair value change on KREMEQNTFEES 2
investment properties REIRESIE 20 (1,945) (4,903)
Gain on disposal of associates HEME AR 2 W - 239
Impairment loss on trade and other FEE S BR S0 R ELAt FE U FR I8
receivables AEEE 27 (32) (5,230)
Impairment loss on loans and interest FEWE ST BRI BB
receivables 31 (11,322) (7,492)
Impairment loss on goodwill e REREE 21 (21,823) (2,403)
Impairment loss on property, plant and MEBRERZHRBEREE
equipment 18 (39,374) -
Impairment loss on other loan and interest EfhfEWR SR &EF BRE
receivables 518 32 (1,254) =
Loss before tax PRI AR5 1R (138,166) (126,908)
Income tax expense FTigfpX 15 (1,470) (3,372)
Loss for the year from FEREEHB 2 FRNEIE
continuing operations 13 (139,636) (130,280)
Discontinued operations BARIEEF
Loss for the year from discontinued BRIEEBZFNEE
operations 42 (4,081) (1,503)
Loss for the year FREIE (143,717) (131,783)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
e RHM2ERER

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

2025 2024
—E-RE “—ZTmE
(Restated)
Cc=xl)
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FAT THET
Other comprehensive income (expenses) H fth 2 E Yt (3Z H)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or B E# D EEEm 2 EH &
loss:
Exchange differences arising on MEBINETBRIEL Y
translation of foreign operations PE 2 A= %8 (2,044) (19,745)
Translation reserve released upon disposal  H & Bt A 5 1% R4
of associates bE e - 877
Translation reserve released upon disposal  H & i & A 511 R &
of subsidiaries - 434
Items that will not be subsequently RETrEBEN 7 EEEmZ
reclassified to profit or loss: EH
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at AT EFF AH M@K E
fair value through other comprehensive ZEMEBEEZRATE
income W, (B518) 24 2,660 (3,520)
616 (21,954)
Total comprehensive expenses FAETEZHLEE
for the year (143,101) (153,737)
Loss for the year attributable TATEA AR FEANEE
to owners of the Company
— Continuing operations —FEREER (133,971) (129,559)
— Discontinued operations —BRILERE (4,081) (1,503)
(138,052) (131,062)
(Loss) Profit for the year attributable  JEIERRHEHEIEERN
to non-controlling interests: (B518) &
— Continuing operations — B EER (5,665) (723)
— Discontinued operations —BRIEERS - 2
(5,665) (721)
(143,717) (131,783)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
maEmkEMEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

2025 2024
—E"RE TR PUE
(Restated)
(& =5))
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FET FHET
Total comprehensive expenses for the WU TEGERAZE S HAREE:
year attributable to:
— owners of the Company —RRBEEB A (137,140) (150,733)
— non-controlling interests —JEER S (5,961) (3,004)
(143,101) (153,737)
Loss per share SREE 17
From continuing and discontinued REFEREEILER
operations
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —E AR #E GBAL) (6.60) (6.90)
From continuing operations REFBEREER
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —E AR R GBIl (6.40) (6.82)
From discontinued operations RE BRI
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —E AR EE CBW) (0.20) (0.08)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEMBERE

As at 31 March 20252 —_E_AF=/F=+—H

2025 2024
ZEZRE e
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEMEE 18 209,034 271,102
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 5,720 10,901
Investment properties SEME 20 107,268 110,142
Goodwill mmE 21 226,961 249,374
Intangible asset EmEEE 22 811 811
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income Rz EMEE 24 7,920 5,260
Regulatory deposits EERE 205 205
557,919 647,795
Current assets RENEE

Inventory 75 26 5,927 3,682
Loans and interest receivables W ER T B 31 245,744 311,896
Other loan and interest receivables HEWERKRFE 32 8,839 10,226
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEWZRIE 27 344,921 387,508
Contract assets BHEE 28 322,638 307,394
Amounts due from an associate FEW—MEEE AT 2B 23 278 186
Pledged bank deposit BIEFIRITER 29 - 16,229

Bank balances and cash IRTTAERKRIRSE
— trust and segregated accounts — (B REIIRE 30 3,673 3,786

Bank balances and cash IRTTAERKRIRSE
— general accounts ——fRER P 30 46,121 34,235
978,141 1,075,142
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EEMBERE

As at 31 March 20258 —E _#F=H=+—H

2025 2024
—E-RE T OFE
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
IS FET FET
Current liabilities mREaE

Trade and other payables FETRR A R E eI =R IB 33 566,575 572,696
Contract liabilities aHEaE 28 15,957 16,029
Lease liabilities HEAaE 34 4,569 5,095
Trust loans SELE™ 36 214,537 216,389
Short term loans fEHRE® 37 64,191 17,250
Bank loans BITEMR 38 19,308 99,539
Tax liabilities mEaE 32,324 31,691
917,461 958,689
Net current assets MENBEEFE 60,680 116,453
Total assets less current liabilities MEERREBAR 618,599 764,248

Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEAaE 34 1,526 6,176
NET ASSETS BEEE 617,073 758,072

90 Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRRE

As at 31 March 20252 —_E_AF=/F=+—H

2025 2024
—EZRE —EUE
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FET
Capital and Reserves B2 B 5 1

Share capital [N 39 209,150 209,150
Share premium and reserves R im B R E 374,799 509,914

Equity attributable to owners of the KABEB AEGHER
Company 583,949 719,064
Non-controlling interests JEER R 33,124 39,008
TOTAL EQUITY s 617,073 758,072

The consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 230 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June
2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Qin Jie
Director

EF

FREEEF 2B ZGAUBREREN
E_HFARNBITLtHREREERAERE
BT TR TIIARRE

Li Haitao
iR
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
maEEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 8% —&F _—HfF=H=+—HIFFEZE

Share  Investment Non-
Share  Contributed ~ Translation Statutory options  revaluation  Accumulated controlling
Share capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
%8
Rk ROEE  BARE  REEE  AEHE BREEE  EREE  ZHER Nt SEREE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn Thn Thn Thn Thn TEn TEn TEn
(Note i) (Note il
() (i)
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=5MmA-A 152529 1,051,208 408,738 (38,567) 3,908 6,567 (32,970)  (710,086) 841,327 49,068 890,395
Loss for the year ERBE - - - - - - - (131062 (131,062) (7121)  (131,783)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) for the £/ B2 EE (i) :
year:
Exchange differences arising on translation of EEINERBELZERER
foreign operations - - - (17.462) - - - - (17,462) 2283) (19,745)
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value AT AEM2ENEZ
through other comprehensive income SREEZATEER - - - - S S (3,520 - (3,520) - (3.520)
Translation reserve released upon disposal of K B AR %k
subsidiaries - - - 434 - - - - 434 - 434
Translation reserve released upon disposal of  HEHEATERRERHIE
associates - - - 871 - - - - 871 - 871
Total comprehensive expenses for the year  FR2EZHIAE - - - (16151) - - (3520) (131060 (150,733) (3,004 (153,737)
Issue of rights share (note 39) BRRA (HE30) 56,621 3973 - - - - - - 90,594 - 90,594
Transaction costs attributable to issue of new  E{THEEREHERAAE
ordinary shares - (2378) - - - - - - (2378) - (2378)
Recognition of equity-setled share-based SR BRE BRI A BRAAT
payments - - - - - 3,036 - - 3,036 - 3,036
Forfeiture of equity-settled share-based RUNEREENRDARRNAT
payments - - - - - (1,587) - 1,587 - - -
Change in ownership interests in a subsidiary A~ BAT 2 AEREREHT
without change of control EHIRTRED - - - - - - - (6278)  (62782) (1218 (70,000)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHREAT - - - - - - - - - 162 162
At 31 March 2024 RIEZME=R=+-H 209,150 1,082,803 408,738 (54,718) 3,908 8,016 (36,490) (902,343) 719,064 39,008 758,072
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ﬁA* 4=
FOEEEHR
For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ
Share  Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Translation  Statutory options  revaluation Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total  interests Total
K&
Ry ROEE HARE  RERE  IERE BREGE  EREE  BHER it EERER a3
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TR TR TR TR TR Tz T T % TR TR
(Note i) (Note ii)
(H3ti) (W)
At 1 April 2024 RZE-mERE-A 209,150 1,082,803 408,738 (54,718) 3,908 8,016 (36,490) (902,343 719,064 39,008 758,072
Loss for the year ERBE - - - - - - - (13805) (138,052 (5665 (143,717)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) ~ FREM2ENE (i) :
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on tranlation of EEENEHBELZERER
foreign operations - - - (1,748) - - - - (1,748) (296) (2,044)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value BATEHAEMZEREZ
through other comprehensive income SREEZATEYE - - - - - - 2,660 - 2,660 - 2,660
Total comprehensive expenses for the year  ER2EZHEE - - - (1,748) - - 2,660 (138,052) (137,140 (5,961 (143,101)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BUBREEURABERNAR
payments - - - - - 2,025 - - 2,025 - 2,025
Capital injection from non-controlling interests REFFARBRLE - - - - - - - - - n n
At 31 March 2025 RIEZRE=R=1-H 209150 1,082,803 408,738 (56,466) 3,908 10,041 (33,830) (1,040,395 583,949 33,124 617,073
Note i: The contributed surplus of the Group represents (i) the difference between — [izfi: AKNEBZHMARBIE()EATRDIR—IN
the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the FEEEMERZMERAR (MM Eik
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board Rl RIBEEMEFMBENBASI 2RO EE
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 1996 BEAR }ﬁlﬁéﬁﬁzzt/\ﬁﬁﬂﬁ@féz#aﬁ
and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange and (ii) RN ZIEZEFAAZHEBFTHEAR
the credit arising from the capital reduction by cancelling the par value of the B R A E BN AR E £ ER
paid-up capital of the Company on 2 September 2020.
Note ii: In accordance with the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") Company Law  [KizFii: RiEHZEARLME (ThEL) A F)5ER R EM

and the PRC subsidiaries’ Articles of Association, a subsidiary registered in
the PRC, prior to any dividend distribution, is required to appropriate 10%
of its annual statutory net profit as determined in accordance with relevant
statutory rules and regulations applicable to enterprises established in the PRC
(after offsetting any prior years' losses) to the statutory reserve. When the
balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity's capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior
years' losses or to increase capital. However, such balance of the statutory
reserve must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after such
usages. The balance is reclassified to retained earnings at the date of disposal
of the subsidiary.

BAEZAMERME RPEEMZMEL
BIZAR D IKER R B A1 IR INE F 75 E A B
10%FINEERME - SEEZEMNTREHN
PERIZGCEBRAZAMEERIRER
HEE (E?&iﬁ&fﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁ@éﬂé) o fif 5% % 7E 1ok
BHREEEEREANS0% BT EEZTEH
EfRE— iz‘ B o R TE R R B IE S ST Al
EZ BRI MRE A BEREE#ER
ZHRERBAEREERZ25% AN HE
WEASEHBEMDEEFRERF -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SARERER

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

2025 2024
—E_RE —EIEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REES
Loss before tax from FRIAIESIEZR B
- continuing operations —FEKEER (138,166) (126,908)
— discontinued operations —BRRIEES (4,081) (1,503)
(142,247) (128,411)
Adjustments for: MTIIEEEH A
Bad debts written off EH AR 869 5,907
Dividend income & E WA = (1,972)
Depreciation of property, plant and YE -BEREEITE
equipment 8,036 11,663
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 5,064 6,393
Gain on lease modification MBIz W= (34) =
Finance costs VR %N 25,175 30,631
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME -BBEREZEZ
equipment E518 1,761 910
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 2 BB FEE - 313
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—MEBEAT 2 — (239)
Reversal of impairment loss on finance FEWRERERIBRE
lease receivable [5gi=Ec{E (714) (4,398)
Share of loss of associates DEEE QA EEE - 9
Unrealised loss on fair value KEMELNTFEEH 2
change on investment properties FREIREE 1,945 4,903
Interest income from bank and RERITREMEBHRER
other loans receivables ZFBUA (385) (1,475)
Government grant T f B (22) (3,512)
Recognition of equity-settled MR m A B L
share-based payments 1D A ERBT R 2,025 3,036
Impairment loss on finance lease FEW R B TH B IBRE
receivable 518 — 4,337
Impairment loss on trade and other JFEE ST AR R B LAt B LU R T
receivables AR S 4,353 5,230
Impairment loss on loans and interest FEWE R KR S RERE
receivables 11,322 7,492
Impairment loss on goodwill e RERE 21,823 2,403
Impairment loss on other loan HthEWER AN ERE
and interest receivables 518 1,254 =
Impairment loss on property, plant M- BRERERERE
and equipment 518 39,374 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FeRERER

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

2025 2024
—EZRE —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Operating cash outflow before movements =B & &S F] >
in working capital KEREMH (20,401) (56,780)
Decrease in trade and other receivables FEUS BR A R EL At FE W =R 1B
e 35,977 41,822
Decrease in cash and bank balances — RERIRITHEGRRL —
trust and segregated account Bt REIRA 113 81
Decrease in loans and interest receivables HthEWE R EF] ER LD 54,830 22,685
Decrease in other loans and interest HthEWEREF B
receivables 55 14,228
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other P IR R H A FE S =RIE
payables @, CRL) 19,169 (15,548)
Increase in contract assets BHEEIZMN (15,244) (3,790)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities aHaE el /1Em (72) 610
(Increase)/decrease in inventory =5 @gm R (2,293) 2,560
Cash generated from operations REXFMEIRE 72,134 5,868
Income tax paid EATFTEH (699) (5,928)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) (% EZ&Fr1E,~ (FrH)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES FRARE$%E 71,435 (60)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREIES
Interest received from bank and other KERTREMBHRER
loans receivables ZBFH & 385 377
Dividend received from financial assets at R BHi%AF{Est A EHM
fair value through other comprehensive THNREZEMEES
income B R - 1,972
Decrease/(Increase) in pledged bank B RITER
deposit R () 16,229 (16,229)
Repayment of consideration payables BiEENRE (12,000) (15,000)
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEBE AT Z
subsidiaries IBEMH 558 - (348)
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEMS AT RS
associates TAFRE - 571
Advance to an associate |—EBE AR BR (92) (186)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEZEBE K&
and equipment RBPREIA 72 3,782
Purchase of property, plant and BEVME BERRSB
equipment (9,264) (7,571)
Purchase of ownership interests in a TEEGIRL RS
subsidiary without change of control BERTEE—EWE
NEWNEB R - (52,000)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

2025 2024
—E"RE TR PUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FET
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REEZHFMARE S
ACTIVITIES (4,670) (84,632)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BB EE
Receipts of government grant EGSEEEUIL@N 22 3,512
Net proceeds from right issue BGPTSR IEF 58 — 88,216
Payment of trust loans interest FRETERFE = (26,117)
Payment of short-term loans TR ER (3,689) (327)
Payment of long term loan LR ERBER — (343)
Payment of bank loans FRAIRITER (99,394) (89,340)
Payment of bank loans interest FRIRITERFE (1,892) (4,062)
New borrowing from short term loans KEFRBERZIER 32,864 11,470
New borrowing from bank loans KEIRITERZHER 19,447 100,235
Capital injection from non-controlling JFEREREE
interests 77 -
Repayment of lease liabilities and interest {EEHEE&ERHE (5.525) (6,409)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM R & ;E8) (FrA) Fr8z
FINANCING ACTIVITIES INE B3 (58,090) 76,835
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HeRREEEEHZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS wm GRL) B58 8,675 (7,857)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE MEVIZHRERESZE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR IEHH 34,235 50,134
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate [RS8~ 5,2 3,211 (8,042)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE MEXRZIRERIREZEE
END OF YEAR HEB
represented by bank balances and cash MIRTT R R IR EFER 46,121 34,235
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

GENERAL

Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited (formerly known
as China Best Group Holding Limited) (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the "“Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

Pursuant to the approval by the shareholders at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 6 May 2025, the name of the
Company in English has been changed from “China Best Group
Holding Limited” to “Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited”
and the secondary name of the Company in Chinese [F&{F125 A
EEEZERRBIE /AT has been adopted and registered in Bermuda
to replace its former Chinese name EIZEEEZERBRAE
which was adopted by the Company for identification purpose only
but not registered in Bermuda.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries (together with the Company
referred to as the “Group”) are set out in note 45.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(a) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new
and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"”), Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”), and Interpretations)
issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA™) for the first time for the consolidated financial
statements.

—RRE R
BEMBAEEERERAT (A1
HEEMERAERAT) (KAT)
ARBEREEMAIZBHABERA
5] ELAR 1A TE ST L7 o

EABEMPERERETEEE M
AN EFERZIADERDAMEE -

KRER _E_RERANAET
ZREBR ARG LHE RATEX
£ BT China Best Group Holding
Limited 1 22% 'Hong Kong Robotics
Group Holding LimitedJ’ ZRAT XX
FELBIEBFRBSAEEERBR
NE BEERA B REE U
REERXABIBEEREZERER
RNE (HARRABRMEEHD 2B
WIFEREFTLHNLRE) o

ERBZEEEBRREER-HE
EMBRRE EREABDMRER EE
M) 2 EBHIMIEEA5-

mEMBRENET (TET)) 25
HBARNBZNEEERER -

FERME] R EIE ] B R
wEEAGFHER

(a) 7 EEIRM 2 H 3T RATIE
SEL]

REFER FEBRBRES
MBEREFCERFMUTES
B Ag (TEBEFHMA
g1 B2 KRBT E B/
BREEREHER (BEMRA
ERMBREER (EBMBR
HER)) - EBGHER ((EB
GEHER) K2 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(a) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Amendments in relation to lease liability in a sale and
leaseback

HKFRS 7 and HKAS 7 Amendments in relation to supplier finance
arrangements

HKAS 1 Amendments in relation to classification of liabilities as
current or non-current

HKAS 1 Amendments in relation to non-current liabilities with
covenants

HK-int 5 Amendments in relation to amendments to HKAS 1

The Group concluded that the application of the amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has
had no material impact on the amounts reported and/or
disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.

(b) New standards and amendments to
standards issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on 1 April
2024 and not early adopted by the Group

%m%ﬂ&ﬁpﬂéﬁjﬁ
iE % ﬁ I\IJ g E+ I& I\IJ (1\‘%)
(a) ZSE B R4 2 5T R AZ1E
T 4R &)
EEERBRLEEA  SEAAENES
%163 aEAEES
EEMBRELAEE AHEBRERY
REBGHENEIE  BEZET
EROHEAFEIE  HAGENAEH
SERB S ERE
2168
EEOHEAEIE  EHBDEN
eIy vl
2168
EH-REEYE REBEHED
1% (BETA)
AR 8T
REEE AEEADLEASHE

RS ER G ER ZESTH
BHRESUBBRRIMERZIER
K/ ZIRBELEERE

%E o
zk% \nl **iEE 1] ?ﬁén\w —
T—EpnH—H R
eI C AR LA
WZ T R AT 2RI
Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTHEH
HZBHARZ
SHBMER

HKAS 21
SR GTERAIE215E
HKFRS 7 and HKAS 9

BAMBRSESTTR
EAGsHERFONR
HKFRS 7 and HKAS 9

BGRZ D] RIRIEABRE 2 1B5T

financial instruments

dependent electricity
BRMBREER BT K
BHE G ERER

HEMTADERERMZES]

Amendments in relation to lack of exchangeability

Amendments in relation to classification and measurement of

Amendments in relation to contracts referencing nature-

1 January 2025
—E-nF—HF—H
1 January 2026
—E-XRE-A—H

1 January 2026

B R RBEREREEBNNENERBZEST —ERF-RB—H

HKFRS 18 Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
BB BIRESIERFE 1858 MR E2 R B 2+ FE—HA—H
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
BBV BIREERE199% FRRRABEZMBRR  HE T+ FE—A—H

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments in relation to sale or contribution of

To be determined

assets between an investor and its associate or joint

venture
HEEERARENNEE
HESFAEEEB BT

EBMHREERF105EK
ER G ER]E285%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b) New standards and amendments to
standards issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on 1 April
2024 and not early adopted by the Group
(Continued)

Effective for

accounting

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting periods beginning

Standards - Volume 11 on or after

RUTBEA

Z&HA

ERUBREENGHENZFERE-ENE ZEHERER

HKFRS 1 Hedge accounting by a first-time adopter 1 January 2026
BEAMBREERB15E BRRMNENE PG 5TERIE —EBARE—A—H
HKFRS 7 Gain or loss on derecognition 1 January 2026
BBMHREERETR KIEESENER “—EARFE—A—H

Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7

BIE B RS 2L
H75RHIES]

Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7

BIE B RS 2L

F73 093]
HKFRS 9
BB RS EAHOR
HKFRS 9
BB RS EAHOR
HKFRS 10
BB RS EAH 105
HKAS 7
EERHEAETR

Disclosure of deferred difference between fair value
and transaction price

NEFEATZES BRI EZRE 2 IFE

1 January 2026
_ERE—A—H
Introduction and credit risk disclosures 1 January 2026
BN REERRIEE ZZRE—HF—H

Derecognition of lease liabilities 1 January 2026

®riIFEREEaE E-RF¥—HA—H
Transaction price 1 January 2026
R HER _ERE—A—H
Determination of a ‘de facto agent’ 1 January 2026

rEEREANEE “—EARFE—A—H
Cost method 1 January 2026
R A “ERF—HA—H

KERIEEFFEZ ST RAEE
STERNEE  BHEZRBZX

The Group is in the process of making an assessment on
the impact of these new standards and amendments to
standards but is not yet in a position to state whether these EMAIARBEI R EETEHE
new standards and amendments to standards would have RELBERUBERRELEKRE

a material impact on its result of operations and financial Zo

position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

3.

GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company
under its continuing operations of approximately HK$133,971,000
for the year ended 31 March 2025. Further, the Group had not
repaid trust loans of approximately HK$214,537,000 and accrued
interests of approximately HK$50,957,000 thereon upon maturity
on or before 31 March 2025 while it is still negotiating with the
lender for extension of loan period. Therefore, it might be difficult
for the Group to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in a
short time under the normal course of business. These consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis
as the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have performed
an assessment of the Group's future liquidity and cash flows,
taking into account the following relevant matters:

(i)  The Group is negotiating with the lender to repay the trust
loans based on a mutually agreed repayment schedule.

(i) The Directors considered that even in any event that the
Group could not reach a mutually agreed repayment schedule
with the lender in future, it would not significantly affect the
continuity of most of the Group's businesses. It is expected
that value of securities pledged to the lender for the trust
loans is sufficient to cover substantial portion of the trust
loans, and the remaining portion of the trust loans could be
settled by cash inflow generated from the Group's future
operation.

(iii) The Company has received a supporting letter from one of its
substantial shareholders in relation to prospective financing of
no less than HK$50,000,000 to support the Group's business
development in 12 months from the letter date.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities
as current assets and liabilities respectively. These conditions
indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments and
investment properties that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use
of certain key assumptions and estimates. It also requires the
Directors to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements and
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial
statements using accounting policies other than those adopted
in the consolidated financial statements for like transaction and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are
made to that subsidiary’s financial statement in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved when the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s return.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses of a subsidiary are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the result of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including
any components of other comprehensive income attributable to
them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest,
with any resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in
profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as
specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business combination
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes;

assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’'s employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance
with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement of
the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with the
share-based payment transactions of the Group are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards,
are measured at acquisition-date fair value except for non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value
or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets on
a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration that is within the scope of HKFRS 9 is measured at
fair value at each reporting date, and changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9. Other
contingent consideration that is not within the scope of HKFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date and changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. During the measurement period (see
above), the provisional amounts recognised at the acquisition date
are adjusted retrospectively or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised as of that date, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability
to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is tested for impairment
together with the investment at the end of each reporting period
when there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of
the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the
consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If
the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the
profits equals the share of losses not recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s share
of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that associate and any related accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the retained
interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is
satisfied over time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTinueD) 4. BARETEE @)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to
receive payment are established.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying
a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Related Parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
i.  has control or joint control over the Group;
i.  has significant influence over the Group; or

iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Related Parties (Continued)

(B)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

Vi

vii.

viii.

The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Company or to a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fiduciary activities

The Group maintains segregated accounts with authorised
institutions to hold clients” monies arising from its normal course of
the regulated business activities. The Group has classified the bank
balances—trust and segregated accounts within the current assets
in the consolidated statement of financial position and recognised
the corresponding account payables to respective clients and
other institutions on the grounds that it is liable for any loss or
misappropriation of clients’” monies. The Group is not allowed to
use the clients’ monies to settle its own obligations. The cash held
on behalf of customers is restricted and governed by the Securities
and Futures (Client Money) Rules under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case,
such exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme and state-managed
retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leaves and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period.
Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment (classified as finance leases) held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purpose are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of
plant and equipment less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Lease
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Land and buildings 2-3 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group's incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below US$5,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessor

(i) Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

(i) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as
finance leases. Amounts due from lessees under finance
leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment in the
leases.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property is measured
initially at its cost including all direct costs attributable to the

property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its
fair value based on valuation by an external independent valuer.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the investment
property are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Intangible asset
Intangible asset acquired separately

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life that is acquired
separately is carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains
or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or
loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Regulatory deposits

Regulatory deposits are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost;

—  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income; and

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of an
investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost
and the conditions of debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is not held for trading as at fair value
through other comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses
arising from changes in fair values recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
are net of any interest income and dividend income. Interest
income and dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on
financial assets at amortised cost, contract assets and finance lease
receivables. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the
weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the
expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables and contract assets,
or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables and contract assets) has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that
represents the expected credit losses that result from default events
on that financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as
defined above.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair values of the goods or services received,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case
the goods or services received are measured by reference to the fair
value of the share options granted. The fair values of the goods or
services received are recognised as expenses, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve), when the Group obtains
the goods or when the counterparties render services, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set
out in accounting policy of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life is tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that it may
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set
out in accounting policy of goodwill above)
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value, except for the Group's share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, value in use of
property, plant and equipment and intangible asset for the purpose
of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into three
levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation technique for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis
by reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The following judgment that have the most significant effect on
the amount recognized in the consolidated financial statements
compare from those involving estimations, which are deal with
below.

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis. This involves critical judgments. Details are
explained in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to assess
the fair values of the investment properties. In determining the fair
values, the valuer has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The Directors have exercised their judgements
and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions.

Impairment of trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, loans and interest receivables,
other loans and interest receivables and
contract assets

The policy for impairment of trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, loans and interest receivables, other loans and interest
receivables and contract assets of the Group are based on the
evaluation of collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgment is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of
the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
At 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of trade receivables,
finance lease receivables, loans and interest receivables, other loans
and interest receivables and contract assets were approximately
HK$70,724,000 (2024: HK$84,703,000), HK$Nil (2024: HK$NiIl),
HK$245,744,000 (2024: HK$311,896,000), HK$8,839,000 (2024:
HK$10,226,000) and HK$322,638,000 (2024: HK$307,394,000)
respectively, and net of allowance for impairment of approximately
HK$178,338,000 (2024: HK$175,516,000), HK$40,788,000 (2024:
HK$41,849,000), HK$144,883,000 (2024: HK$133,561,000),
HK$1,254,000 (2024: HK$Nil) and HK$8,784,000 (2023:
HK$8,860,000) respectively.
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CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use or the fair value less cost of disposal of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise. The calculation of fair value
less cost of disposal under market approach mainly replies on
a sufficient number of comparable transactions. The sufficiency
of comparable transactions is limited by market information
and observability of transactions with similar natures. Actual
transactions involving the subject business might be concluded
at a higher or lower value depending on circumstances of the
transactions. As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of
goodwill is HK$226,961,000 (2024: HK$249,374,000), net
of accumulated impairment loss of HK$103,027,000 (2024:
HK$81,204,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 21.

Provision for current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining the provision for taxation
and the timing of payment of the related taxation. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax in the period in which such
determination is made.

At 31 March 2025, the Group has estimated unutilised tax losses
of approximately HK$761,104,000 (2024: HK$702,023,000)
available for offset against future profits. The Directors make
estimates on the future profit streams of the Group entities of
which tax losses are not utilised. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised of the remaining tax losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 (note 35).
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Depreciation and useful lives of property, plant
and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual value. The Group assesses annually the residual
value and the useful life of the property, plant and equipment
with reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use of these assets
and if the expectation differs from the carrying amount, such
differences from the carrying amount will impact the depreciation
charges in the year in which the estimates change. At 31 March
2025, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment was
approximately HK$209,034,000 (2024: HK$271,102,000), net of
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss of approximately
HK$94,727,000 (2024: HK$52,705,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt.
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

7. T H

Categories of financial instruments

EMITAEZER

2025 2024
—E-RHE —EIWE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESFAREMEZEREZ
other comprehensive income TMEE 7,920 5,260
Financial assets at amortised cost REER AT EC EMEE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BEREERREEEER) 578,224 671,802
586,144 677,062
Financial liabilities ERAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHER A EZEMAR 864,611 905,874

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include regulatory
deposits, trade and other receivables, finance lease receivables,
loans and interest receivables, other loans and interest receivables,
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
amounts due from an associate, pledged bank deposit, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, trust loans, short
term loans and bank loans. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8. HA#EMGEIEBEKLEE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) ()
Market risk ™ 15 & b2
(i) Currency risk (i) EiEpE

Other than the subsidiaries established in the PRC of which
functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB"”), the functional
currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is HK$.
Certain bank balances and cash are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the group
entities to which they relate. Foreign currencies are also used
to settle expenses for overseas operations, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency

PRICRBIR I Z B AR Z I8
EBAARB AR SN &
AEREMNBARZINELER
HrBT - ETRTEGRES
DEREEBERINEG R LU Z
ERstE - BINEETERINE
ENRAX WEAEERAZING
R o

FEBLUNESHEZEREER

denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as REHZREENT
follows:
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
RMB AR 685 702
United States dollars (“USD") =t (MFE5x)) 5,810 6,206

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy but the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for USD as HK$ is pegged
to USD.

7 8 0 3B AR A 1) 91 5 4 S
Ho AT ERERERINEA
B ERERENEENRE
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AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is currently exposed to RMB foreign currency risk.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10%
(2024: 10%) increase and decrease in functional currencies
of the relevant group entities, HK$ or RMB, against the
relevant foreign currencies. 10% (2024: 10%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 10% (2024: 10%) change in foreign currency
rates.

A negative number below indicates an increase in loss (2024:
increase in loss) for the period where the respective functional
currency (HK$ or RMB) strengthens 10% (2024: 10%) against
the relevant foreign currency (RMB or HK$). For a 10% (2024:
10%) weakening of respective functional currency (HK$ or
RMB) against the relevant foreign currency (RMB or HK$),
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss
(2024: loss) for the year and the balances below would be
positive.
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Effect on profit or loss

Higmz g
2025 2024
—TZHRE —ETME
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Strengthen against RMB by 10% DTAREAEI0% (Hsta)
(note a) (69) (70)
Note: PESE -

(@) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on RMB bank
balances and cash at year end.
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8. HA#EMGEIEBEKLEE
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) @)

iR @)
(i) FFmE R

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances. It is the Group’s policy to keep
its bank balances at floating rate of interest so as to minimise
the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to loans and interest receivable (see note 31 for
details), other loans and interest receivables (see note 32 for
details), finance lease receivables (see note 25 for details),
trust loans (see note 36 for details), short term loans (see
note 37 for details) and bank loans (see note 38 for details).

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary actions when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Directors consider that the interest rate risk in relation
to variable rate bank balances is insignificant due to these
balances are either within short maturity period or the
outstanding balances are not significant.

(iii) Other price risk

As at 31 March 2025, the Group is exposed to other price risk
through its investment in unlisted equity securities. The Group
has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to other price risk at the end of the reporting
period.

If the value of the financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income had been 20% (2024: 20%) higher/
lower, the investment revaluation reserve for the year ended
31 March 2025 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,584,000 (2024: HK$1,052,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of these investments.
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

8.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
a failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the
industry in which customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. The Directors consider the credit risk
under control since the management exercise due care in granting
credit and check the financial background of these customers on a
regular basis.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Directors acknowledged that operational and financial status
of the Group's customers, especially those customers in the
property sector who are vulnerable to the related governmental
policies, are subject to a certain degree of volatility under the
prevailing political, fiscal and economic conditions from time to
time.

For loan and interest receivables, the Group has a high
concentration of credit risk on loans and interest receivables as
12% (2024: 10%) and 52% (2024: 50%) of the total loans and
interest receivables was due from the single largest customer
and the five largest customers in the money lending segment
respectively.

For finance lease receivables, the Group has a high concentration
of credit risk on finance lease receivables as 46% (2024: 47 %) and
100% (2024: 100%) of the total finance lease receivables was due
from the single largest customer and the five largest customers in
the finance leasing segment respectively.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations
are mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 99% (2024: 99%) of
the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2025. The Group has
concentration of credit risk as 57% (2024: 55%) and 87% (2024:
84%) of the total trade receivables were due from the Group’'s
largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

In order to minimise the credit risk, especially on the money
lending business, the Group has adopted and followed a series
of internal control procedures to ensure a comprehensive risk
management, so as to safeguard the interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The key internal controls adopted by the Group
in terms of credit risk assessment, credit approval and ongoing
monitoring of loan recoverability and loan collection are outlined
below:

(1) Credit risk assessment by the business team

After receiving the potential customer’s application, the
business team will, in compliance with the requirements
under applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong, perform
know-your-client (the “KYC") process, conduct background
and credit checks on the applicant and guarantor (if any) and
their respective assets and financial conditions, and conduct
interviews with the applicant.

(2) Formulation of the preliminary business
proposal by the business team

Based on the results of the credit risk assessment, the
business team will formulate the key terms of the loan,
including the principal amount, the interest rate and the
tenure, and issue a preliminary business proposal, taking into
consideration factors including:

(@) whether there are any personal or corporate guarantees;

(b) whether there is any security;

(c) whether there is any connected person relationship as
ascribed under the Listing Rules;

(d) the background, income stream, and personal financial
position of individual clients;
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8. HAEMGEIEBEREE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#)
Credit risk (Continued) EERME @
(2) Formulation of the preliminary business (2) EFBEFHENL EFRAT
proposal by the business team (Continued) =
(e) the financial status, business performance, reputation in (e) REEBEPMMBRI XK
industry, business plan and shareholder’s background of RIFTEBZE -BESE
the corporate customers; REEES;
(f)  the cost of providing such financial assistance services (if f)y RHEHBREMBEBRFBEBIAN
any); xWAE) ;
(9) the risk factors; and (90 BRBREZR; X
(h) the proposed use of proceeds by borrowers. (hy EBRAEHFENIBNETE B
)
The interest rate determined should reflect the risk level P &6 76 F 22 8 2 PR 22 57 B9 /&L B ok
for the transaction and should be in compliance with the FNEREEBEARERE
requirements under applicable laws.
(3) Assessing by the risk control and compliance (3) EPEIEFIR S HEEITIFIE
department
After receiving the relevant application materials and the AEBRBEN KSR EEZE
preliminary business proposal from the business team, the FEBXNERRREME R P %
risk control and compliance department of the Group will Hetdl g BRIEZEERS
independently review the entire application including the BE 8EKYC-ERBEREE
KYC, due diligence and credit risk assessment materials and BB 5T A A7 T AR R TR AR
further evaluate the terms of the transaction, and formulate —SHEERBIER KR &
its independent opinions and/or suggestions. feE
(4) Credit approval 1) EEZE#H
For the business cases which have passed the credit BiE E M EETERERNERKE
assessment procedures as outlined above, they will then BREEERAANBNITEETHE
be passed to the executive committee or the Board or the ERFKE RIBERME) BiE L
shareholders of the Company (as the case may be) for MRANBTNER B DLEMMIER
approval in accordance with the transaction size indicated SHREBEETEH AR RE
by applicable percentage ratios under the Listing Rules. MERFAESEXZWAHRE
The company secretary of the Company will calculate the MEEEEERT=E BREEG
size tests for each transaction for Directors’ review and TR BB RKREES
consideration in order to comply with the Listing Rules HE L ERABHANQRNE
including the notification and shareholder’s approval B EEER o

requirements, and where necessary, consult with the
Company’s legal adviser or financial adviser.
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ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

(5) On going monitoring of loan recoverability and
loan collection

(@) The Group will issue a monthly statement setting out the
outstanding payables and the due dates, which will be
sent to the relevant customer as well as for the business
team to follow up in due course.

(b)  The business team will communicate with the customers
on a regular basis to understand the customers’ latest
situation.

() Customers will be required to submit supporting
documents (such as financial statements, bank or
securities account statements and title certificates)
on a regular basis. The Group will closely monitor the
situation of the customers by various means and watch
out for any adverse condition or red flag which may give
rise to a default in payment.

(d) For customers who are in default, an overdue repayment
notice will be issued, and the customer’s office or
residential unit may be visited. The Group will analyse
the financial status of the overdue customers, and
discuss with the customers and make updates to the
repayment plan as appropriate with a view to gradually
recover the overdue payments. The status of the overdue
transactions will be reported to the management
and Directors of the Company on a regular basis. If
necessary, the Group may commence legal actions
against the customer after seeking legal advice.

MEEREEBERBE

(&)

EERR @

(5) FEEXEMALKERE
ik o]

(a)

FEBREBEBEE §7
e oK 18 22 FE 19 RRIE K B 3
H UFEFHBERRE
5 E X LUGE 25 75 [ P By
R

FHEERREREATRE
B TRERIRMIER-

REREFREHMERFZAX
MM FHRE  RITHES
RPIWRERKNEES) - AEHE
RERILR > BYEAETR
BER BEEMAIEER
HERNMBYAF BRI TR
55k

HRERAROER &%
g A B ROE A 0 3 R BE A
FERMAENETEM-
rAEBROMBARETR B
RN WRE R ETH
s BATEMEE (WESR)
DUHRIZ 2 W (o] 280 85 1 7 28
RS HERRERRER
AEEEKREFER WA
B REB P SEERUKE
ERREMEHNERRIUE
72178
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

8.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following
information is used:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same borrower;

—  significant changes in the value of the collateral or in the
quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

—  significant changes in the expected performance and behavior
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more
than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment, unless
the Group has supportable information which can demonstrate
otherwise. A default on a financial asset occurs when a debtor fails
to make contractual payments within 90 days when they fall due
and this debtor is unlikely to repay the amount due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises a
receivable for write off when the Group determine that the debtor
does not have assets or source of income that could generate
sufficient cash flow to repay the amounts subject to write-off.
Where receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable
and economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to
attempt to recover the receivable due.

Save for specified in respective notes, the Group uses four
categories for loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, other loans and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from an associate which reflect their
credit risk and how the loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates based on the market benchmark or
internal records for each category and adjusts for forward looking
data.

ARE M EEHRRMEE

TAFZRA=+—HILFE

RIS EE B IR RB R
()

EEER @

TREENSEBRIAE A (0
BHEANBLAREEZNERTE)
i - WA EEECHEBALES
EFWARRAIEEEHRERER
BMERIER AEBR—RERFERE
FEWLERIE 3 S8 VE M8 o W FE W R IE
Tﬁﬂfﬁ]’ﬁuzﬁﬁg(ffﬁ’ﬂjﬁ)ﬁ TE R
B mZ BERT) #EERIGRE1TE)
ﬁtlﬂ&@éﬂﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂ% IHo

FREWEEEE N AEBEREW
EREA B ERRERERE 2
FE LI E ?A&%‘Jé &%&ET@%H&
BBl —EBERBMIES AR
BUD R RBREES J—Lﬁﬂn’&ﬁﬂaﬁé
BUWAIRMERRN DB EE - E5t 8
RREEBEXRE 2EERETS
BEENBEHNAIMLEHRE BBEES
BE W ARRBBRETHE

Category Definition Loss provision
kWl B SRR 5
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default 12-month expected credit losses
("ECL™)
R HFEFENRRME 128 A faEAE &8
(TFEHEAEE 1R
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
credit risk since initial recognition
TR EERE B % sl LR K IR IE AN SHTREEERE-—BEERE
In default There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
credit-impaired
EN BRBRTEECBHREGRE S HTREREERE—EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery.
g4 BREBERTEBALRRENBREE T ERI

M2~ & F £ B R o] ol mRIERY FE A -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

8.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8.

MEEREEBERBE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) ()
Credit risk (Continued) EERR @
Loans and Finance Other loans Deposits Amounts
interest lease and interest and other due from an
receivables receivables receivables receivables associate Total
e —
W EM K FEW R HififE HekEM HERT
i)Y HERE BREIE R A Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER T#ERT FTER TER TER
2025 “ECRE
Carrying amount REE 390,627 40,788 10,084 202,640 278 644,417
Loss allowance BEEE (144,883) (40,788) (1,254) - - (186,925)
Exchange difference b 2 = % - - 9 - - 9
Carrying amount (net)  BREE (3%0) 245,744 - 8,839 202,640 278 457,501
Loans and Finance  Other loans Deposits Amounts
interest lease  and interest and other  due from an
receivables receivables receivables receivables associate Total
e —FE
W ER K& FEM R E HtEW EekEAM id=W/NS
FIE MERE EBREAE FEWFE MIE 185t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FET FET FET FET TEx
2024 —EoE
Carrying amount IREE 445,457 41,849 10,226 210,336 186 708,054
Loss allowance E5IEBHE (133,561) (41,849) = 5 5 (175,410)
Carrying amount (net)  BREfE (3%) 311,896 - 10,226 210,336 186 532,644
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For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

ARE M EEHRRMEE

TAFZRA=+—HILFE

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 8. MAFEREIGEIBEEHEREE
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (##)
Credit risk (Continued) EERR @
Loans and Finance Other loans Deposits Amounts
interest lease and interest and other due from
receivables receivables receivables receivables an associate Total
e —FE
e EM K FEW R HitifE HekEM HERT
S HERE ERRHE FEW I b Q] Mgt
2025 —ETRFE 37% 100% 12% - - 29%
2024 —ETmE 30% 100% - - - 25%
All of these receivables after loss allowance are considered to T ZEEIEIE (&0 5?@’5‘?5?‘?‘%)

have low risk and under the ‘Performing’ category because they
have a low risk of default and have strong ability to meet their
obligations.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of its bank balances and cash so as to
minimise the liquidity risk.

The maturity dates of all financial liabilities are repayable on
demand or within one year as at the end of each of the reporting
periods.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values due
to short-term or immediate maturities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period
for recurring measurement, grouped into Levels 1, Levels 2 or
Levels 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable
or unobservable in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.

HRERBERREER TRiF EH
MR EENEBREREEER

MENE & AR

AEENDESRAE  AEREET
R TRRTARETFEEE S EU
HEBEEAAERES LTET,\A":EBZ/UZ
BREFERZFE - BEERE
HIRTTRG AR ZERMNR R LR
EREhEE R

RERESHMER FIEERERIORE
ERIN—FRER-

AT EHE
EER% ARNERREEAIE
RHEH SREERTMEEREN
EEZKEE&%EC%?@%%%%E%ZE&@@EE
HATEES

TREHBEEMLEENRZREHR
NATEFEZERIEDT R
AERESTHRBELATENEENR
THERREEDERF B - BB
HE=fE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 9. RFEFAE®
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2025: A _E_RAFE=B=+—HZR¥E
Bz BaRIEEE

Fair value measurements using
ERAUTHARBZATENE
Level 1: Level 2: Level 3: Total
FE: FIE: E=E: 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET FHET FAT

Recurring fair value measurements: & E M QA F(EE ¢
Financial assets at fair value through 2R FEFT A EM 2@ K=&

other comprehensive income Z2EMEE
— Unlisted equity security —JELEMRAEES - 7,920 - 7,920
Investment properties KEME - - 107,268 107,268
Total recurring fair value KEM AT EtEARER
measurements - 7,920 107,268 115,188
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2024: A _E_NE=ZB=+—HZA¥E
=k €A
Fair value measurements using
FEANTHABEZ ATENE
Level 1: Level 2: Level 3: Total
£ £ = Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET FHET
Recurring fair value REUERTESE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value BATEF AEMEERE
through other comprehensive ZERMEE
income
— Unlisted equity security —JELHRAES = 5,260 = 5,260
Investment properties REYE - - 110,142 110,142
Total recurring fair value KEMNTESEREE
measurements - 5,260 110,142 115,402
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EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

9.

AEE=E @

AFEFEMBZGERMRBAHK

measurements: BZHE
Level 2 fair value measurements BIEATEFE
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2025 2024
18 fR{ER M A 8% ZEZHEF —EZ_uE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FET
Financial assets at Comparable Share price and 7,920 5,260
fair value through other Transaction Method marketability
comprehensive income discount
— Unlisted equity security
BATESFARME2ERE LRIXZE B R mS R
ZEMEE #r:e
—IF LR AT 5
Level 3 fair value measurements BB RATEFE
Effect on fair
value for
increase of
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range input 2025 2024
BAYEEM
B R TIRRBAYE §E HATEZHE -k %2 “ZCME
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FEL
Investment properties  Income capitalisation (i) Monthly rental RMB165/m? (i) Increase 107,268 110,142
(ii) Rental yield 6% (ii) Decrease
RENmE BEERE (yBHEE ARMI65T/FHK () #0
(i) A2 WE= 6% (ii) B

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in

the current and prior years.

REFERBEFE > EATERBR

2B EEITER
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RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

The movements during the year in the balance of these level 3 fair

9. AFEFE ®

EEFE=—BRAFEFEZGEHRNEN

value measurements are as follow: BEUT
2025 2024
—E-Enf —=—mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Investment properties KREME
At beginning of year REH 110,142 121,433
Fair value loss REEREE (1,945) (4,903)
Exchange differences BE R =48 (929) (6,388)
At end of year R 107,268 110,142
Change in fair value loss included in profit ~ RIREHAKRFAIFTEESTA
or loss for assets held at the end of the BEMATFEBIEES
reporting period (1,945) (4,903)
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EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ

10. REVENUE 10. W 2=
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: FRAEBRWRZm Z2TWOT :
2025 2024
—E_RE —EIWE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Continuing operations FEREETR
Interest income from money lending BEF BWA 5,077 7,455
Brokerage commission and consultancy BEMIAERCEBREA A
income from securities and future (GRS ON
brokerage related services - 45
Heating and cooling supply by geothermal — #iZEABEMHBERL S
energy 11,434 16,425
Construction contracting services fee BEABRBEVRA
income 72,235 102,734
Interior design service income EANFRBUA - 254
Project management service income EHEEERBUWA - 10,792
Heating supply and industrial steam income — fHBE & T2 ZE SR A 9,948 51,928
Rental income & WA 6,280 6,333
Data analytical service income R D ITARFZURA 11,109 17,383
116,083 213,349
Discontinued operations BARIEET
Provision of international air and sea REEIREM T B L EER
freight forwarding services - 1,621
Consultancy income from finance leases FEHEREBRWA - =
- 1,621
116,083 214,970
Representing: Ao
- Continuing operations —FEREER 116,083 213,349
— Discontinued operations BRIEET - 1,621
116,083 214,970
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RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

10. Y z= @

2025 2024
ZEIEE ZZIME
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations  operations Total operations operations Total
FECEEE BRLEES By RELEXY  DRLER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT TAER TAR FAR FAER FTERT
Revenue from contracts with ERAHNRE (i)
customers (Note) 104,726 - 104,726 199,561 1,621 201,182
Revenue from other sources: REHMFRZ Y
Interest income from money lending BEMEKA 5,077 - 5,077 7,455 - 7,455
Rental income from investment BEMEZREHMA
properties 6,280 - 6,280 6,333 - 6,333
116,083 - 116,083 213,349 1,621 214,970
Timing of recognition of revenue from BRAMWR GBI
contracts with customers:
At a point in time RE—RE - - - - 1,621 1,621
Over time BRI AR 104,726 - 104,726 199,561 - 199,561
104,726 - 104,726 199,561 1,621 201,182
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EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Note:

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

Year ended 31 March 2025

BE_T-AF=RA=+—HLEE

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
RREEER BRILER
Heating
and cooling
Securities supply of Building ~ Customised
Trading of  and futures Property  geothermal  construction technical Project  Centralised Finance
goods  brokerage  brokerage energy  contracting support  management heating leasing Total
Bk k-3 i £ B
BRBR paEg ES S HERS BEAE iR BRER Shita HEHE L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn FEn FEn FEn FEr FEr FER FEn FEn FEn
Geographic Markets WEHS
Hong Kong BB - - - - - - - - - -
PRC PE - - - 11434 72,35 11,109 - 9,948 - 104,726
- - - 11434 72,235 11,109 - 9,948 - 104,726
Major Products/Services IEER/BE
Financial services SREE - - - - - - - - - -
Heating and cooling supply by geothermal energy ~ SEMEHTER S - - - 11434 - - - - - 11,434
Building construction contracting services BFEZKORY - - - - 72,235 - - - - 72,235
Interior design services BBt - - - - - - - - - -
Data analytcal services YEATRE - = = = = 11,109 = = = 11,109
Project management services R - - - - - - - - - -
Heating supply and industrial steam BRRIE - - - - - - - 9,948 - 9,048
- - - 11,434 72,35 11,109 - 9,948 - 104,726
Timing of recognition of revenue from BRAANERIRE
contracts with customers
At a point in time RE-BREE - - - - - - - - - -
Over time ftisiitiats - - - 1434 72,035 11,109 - 9,948 - 104,726
- - - 11434 72,235 11,109 - 9,948 - 104,726
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10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 8% —&F _—HfF=H=+—HIFFEZE

10. Y z= @

M5

L (8)

HEZZWE=RB=1+—HILFE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
i HES BRILEE
Heating
and cooling International
Securities supply of Building  Customised air and sea
Tradingof  and futures Property  geothermal  construction technical Project  Centralised freight Finance
goods brokerage brokerage energy  contracting support  management heating  forwarding |easing Total
#5R k-3 i £ 5 il
EEER i b H#ERS BEAG R ERER s BLEE HEHE 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn TEn FhR Thxr TEx TEx T T Thn FEn TEn
Geographic Markets HEHS
Hong Kong B - 45 - - - - - - - - I
PRC HE S S > 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 - - 199,516
Singapore il - - - - - - - - 1621 - 1,621
- 45 - 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 1,621 - 201,182
Major Products/Services TBER/RE
Financial senvices SRER% - 45 - - - - - - - - 45
International air and sea freight ERRERE LRERE
forwarding services - - - - - - - - 1,621 - 1,621
Heating and cooling supply by HAEHER S
geothermal energy - - - 16,425 - - - - - - 16,425
Building construction contracting BFREAARY
services - - - - 102,734 - - - - - 102,734
Interior design services EVEEL - - - - - 54 - - - - 254
Data analytical services HBITRE - - - - - 17,383 - - - S 17,383
Project management services BREERE - - - - - - 10,792 - - S 10,792
Heating supply and industrial steam HERTEES - - - - - - - 51928 - - 51928
- 45 - 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 1,621 - 201,182
Timing of recognition of revenve B AANGERIEE
from contracts with customers
Ata point in time RE-BEE - - - - - - - - 1621 - 1,621
Qver time REEgS = 45 = 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 - - 199,561
- 45 - 16,425 102,734 17,637 10,792 51,928 1,621 - 201,182
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ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Trading of goods

Revenue from the trading of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

—  the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

— it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

—  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 90 days.

Finance leasing

Consultancy income from finance leasing is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered. The
customers pay the consultancy service fee to the Group according
to the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts.

Securities and futures brokerage

Commission income on dealing in securities and futures contract is
recognised on a trade date basis when the services are rendered,
the amount for which can be reliably estimated and it is probable
that the income will be received. The commission income is due on
the settlement date of their respective trade dates, normally two or
three business days after the respective trade date.

Consultancy income from securities and future brokerage related
services is recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered. The customers pay the consultancy service
fee to the Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated
in the contracts.

10. Y z= @

BEE®m
BEERRER BRI RIS S
BEHEED B 6 T IR E R B :

- FEERBEREAREZIEZRAR
RERERTFET ;

- FERUTRFRBHMEBRZE
BEESHE (—REREESR
BEMZREE)  TEREBERE
k2

— WEESTEEDEMEE

— HEXSEMZEEN DA R
AFER ; &

- MZEXRZELAREELEZM
REEF]EEMIGHE o

6% F 845 — IRIZOOK 5 T HATE L o
MERE
MEREmEARARREREZ g5t

HEAER - TR RESHNTRANN
MEEROASEEZIEBREBE -

25 R R A

BERBEGHRZ ZRERARE
HIRF RS BB ERD  HEHE
BJEH] st WA TR A BERNAS ©
BEWARSERZBZEE B
Hr—RAEEXZAEMA=EE
8-

855 RS A AL RRE AR TS BB R WA
RERF 2 SsHHBAEE -ZRR
BEXIHENTREE RO AERR
TR E -
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10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Property brokerage

Commission income on dealing in property agency contract is
recognised when the services are rendered, the amount for which
can be reliably estimated and it is probable that the income will be
received. The customers pay the commission income to the Group
upon the sales of property is completed.

Consultancy income from property brokerage related services is
recognised in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered. The customers pay the consultancy service fee to the
Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated in the
contracts.

Heating and cooling supply by geothermal
energy

Income from heating and cooling supply by geothermal energy
is recognised when the services are rendered. The customers
pay the fee according to the heating and cooling supply actually
consumed. If the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.

Building construction contracting

The Group provides construction contracting services to the
customers. When the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations of a construction contract can be
measured reasonably, revenue from the contract and the contract
costs are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of contract costs incurred
to date to the estimated total contract costs for the contract. This
method provides the most reliable estimate of the percentage of
completion.

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations of a construction contract cannot be
measured reasonably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that is expected to be recoverable.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group according to
the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts. If the service
rendered by the Group exceeds the payments, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.
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ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

11.

Customised technical support

The Group provides customised technical support services which
include building architecture and interior design services and
data analytical services to the customer. Building architecture and
interior design services income and data analytical services income
are recognised when the services are rendered, the amount for
which can be reliably estimated and they are probable that the
income will be received. The customers pay the services income to
the Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated in the
contracts.

Project management

Revenue from the Group's project management business derived
from entrusted construction and management services. Project
management service income is recognised when the services are
rendered, the amount for which can be reliably estimated and it is
probable that the income will be received. The customers pay the
service income to the Group according to the payment schedules
as stipulated in the contracts.

Centralised heating

Heating supply and industrial steam income is recognised when the
services are rendered. The customers pay the fee according to the
heating and industrial steam actually consumed. If the payments
exceed the service rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Directors, being the chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on the type of goods
sold or services delivered or provided. The Directors have chosen
to organise the Group around difference in products and services.
No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

(a) Trading of goods segment engages in trading of products
including but not limited to electronic appliance in the PRC;

(b) Finance leasing segment engages in finance leasing of plant
and machinery as well as providing consultancy services with
respect of finance leasing in the PRC. Due to the failure of
fulfillment of the licence requirements (details refer to note
42 (a)), this segment was discontinued during the year;
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

(e)

)

(9)

(h)

(@

(k)

Money lending segment engages in money lending in Hong
Kong;

Securities and futures brokerage segment engages in
securities and futures dealing services as well as providing
consultancy services with respect of securities and futures
brokerage in Hong Kong;

Property investment segment engages in investments of
properties for rental income and capital appreciation in the
PRC;

Customised technical support segment engages in provision
of building architecture and interior design services and data
analytical services in the PRC;

Property brokerage segment engages in provision of property
agency and consultancy service in the PRC;

Project management segment engages in entrusted
construction and projects management services in the PRC;

Geothermal energy segment engages in provision of heating
and cooling supply by geothermal energy to buildings in the
PRC;

Building construction contracting segment engages in
provision of building construction contracting service on
project basis in the PRC; and

Centralised heating segment engages in the business of using
coal-fired boilers to provide centralised heating, including
industrial steam, through centralised pipe networks in the
PRC. In July 2024, the Management Committee of Yuncheng
Economic and Technological Development Zone* (GE1fAL
BiRMEEEEELZE®) (the "Yuncheng Management
Committee”) served a notice dated 22 July 2024 to the
Group and decided to unilaterally terminate the franchise
agreement pursuant to the termination provisions thereof (the
“Termination”). As a result, this segment has been suspended
since 23 July 2024. The Group requested an administrative
review against the Termination and it has been rejected by
the Yuncheng Municipal People’s Government. The Group has
then initiated an administrative litigation with the Peoples’
Court of Yanhu District in Yuncheng City* (GEiHEI#H&E
ANEJABD) against the Termination and the administrative
litigation is still in the process of the first instance trial.
Based on the PRC legal adviser’s opinion, the administrative
litigation is subject to lengthy process and there is high
uncertainty in obtaining the court order to withdraw the
Termination. The Group disposed the centralised heating
business subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) MN.oBEH @
Segment revenues and results S ERUN S R B4R
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by TXARERZITRERZEDZE
reportable and operating segments. Dz W R B Do
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE_ZE_AF=-HA=+—HILEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
BEREEE BRILER
Securities Customised Building
Trading of Money  and futures Property technical Property Project  Geothermal  construction  Centralised Finance
goods lending  brokerage investment support  brokerage management energy  contracting heating leasing Total
#5k HE |

BEfER & BEER MERE BERE MEEE gEEE wEE RERE  E9HB BERE @t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T TR TR TR TR TR TR T Fin T FEn TR

Revenue from external customers  SMBZ Bl - 5,077 - 6,280 11,109 - - 11,434 72,235 9,948 B 116,083
Reportable segment profitiloss) ~ EIREAER/ (58) (11,778) (8,447) (4,924) 1,044 1932 (1,162) (10,829) (31,824) 3,739 (40,494) (4,081) (106,824)

Impairment loss on other loan and  EHEREFRFE 2

interest receivables HESE (1,254)
Unallocated corporate income KRR EEKA 2,304
Unallocated corporate expenses ~ RAEAEEZ (36.473)
Loss before tax Lkl (142,241)

—
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z_NF-A=+—HIFE
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
BROLEE BRIEEH
International
Securities Customised Building airand
Trading of Money  and futures Property  technical Property Project  Geothermal  construction  Centralised Finance  sea freight
goods lending  brokerage  investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating leasing ~ forwarding Total
#5k 54 ¥ ERHZER

LD BR  HREE  URRE  REXE  MREL  BEEE MEE  BRAR  S9fth BARR  ALRE 3t
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKE'000  HKS0O0  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS00  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TEr TEn  TEx  TEm TEr  TEn  TEm  TEx TEn  TEx  TEn  TEn  TEn

Revenue from external customers — SMFERWE - 7455 45 6,333 17,637 - 10,792 16,425 102,734 51,928 - 1,621 214,970
Reportable segment profit/loss) UREAWERN/ (R (15,389) (2.456) (6,665) 241 6521 (3789 (29337) (589 (15362  (19729) (1,148) (551) (93,489
Share of loss of associates HMERERTER 9
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-ENEAT NG 205
Gain on disposal of associates HEREAT NG 239
Unallocated corporate income FRELEHA 4,364
Unallocated corporate expenses FARGEEY (39,721)
Loss before tax Ciikil 3] (128.411)
—
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RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4. Segment
results represent the (loss from) profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors’
emoluments, depreciation of certain property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, gain on
disposal of associates, net foreign exchange loss, loss on disposal
of property, plant and equipment, impairment loss on other loan
and interest receivables, interest expense on certain lease liabilities
and trust loans, interest income from other loan receivables, bank
interest income, dividend income and sundry income. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable segments.

At 31 March 2025

M. 2BER @

DE U B R AR (@)

REDE 2 & ST BUR B 4P A
EEEHEKER - D EEEIEH
R8T (BEZFE) Bz &F)

Hiﬁﬂ% PECPR RITH R A~ EE
BB TME -BRERREURERRE
BEZY %\ﬁ’é—F‘Wﬂ:Q}EZHﬂZ
m HEBEA ARz W E EREIR
BEEHEYE- r%&aﬂﬁZEﬂE\
HEWERRMEZ REEIE &

FTHEAGAREXERFAEMAZ -H
W ER 2 F B WA~ RITHI B UL
A BREWAREERA LT EFEE
EEAREERIFEFERDERFRIFT
HHETEo

STHEERER

TXRTEERBS BB D ZEE
REEDH e

\
/

R-E_RFE=RA=+—H

Discontinued

Continuing operations operations

BELERY BEALEE

Securities and Customised Building

Trading of Money futures Property technical Property Project Geothermal construction ~ Centralised Finance

goods lending  brokerage  investment support  brokerage management energy  contracting heating leasing Total
#5R B
ELET B8 HESE  MERE  RWNE  WREE  HAEER hAE BFREAE  SMMHBR REHRE it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TR TR TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TER TR TR TiEn TR
ASSETS BE
Segment assets (Note) HBEE (M) 4,721 246,583 1,249 107,398 169,101 9,690 37,844 161,889 535,187 116,622 - 1,390,290
Unallocated corporate assets ~ RARREEE 145,770
Consolidated assets RAEE 1,536,060
—
LIABILITIES afi
Segment liabilities por: =t 138,251 - 4,334 818 20,942 1,586 41,111 62,676 370,800 71,267 - 717,785
Unallocated corporate RPELEEE

liabilities 201,202
Consolidated liabiities GRafE 918,987
—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

RS MR

TAFZRA=+—HILFE

M. 2EEH @

. TP . kv
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) NTHMEERER @
At 31 March 2024 R_ZE_ME=A=+—H
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
HELEER BRILEH
Securities and Customised Building
Trading of Money futures Property technical Property Project ~ Geothermal ~ construction  Centralised Finance
goods lending  brokerage investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating leasing Total
#H5R #H
BEAM 6 HELLE  PERE O RERE  MEEE HEER WAk BTREAE  ERMR HMEEE 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn FEn Fhn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn FEn FhEn
ASSETS BE
Segment assets (Note) NHEE (i) 5,549 312,737 2,026 111,718 177,092 9,931 40,148 209,249 544,860 150,470 4,374 1,568,154
Unallocated corporate assets ~ KRELEEE 154,783
Consolidated assets REBE 1,722,937
—
LIABILITIES L
Segment liabilities PHEE 130,447 - 4,538 591 14,592 608 17,832 78,779 438,926 78,342 3,387 768,042
Unallocated corporate FORGEEE
liabilities 196,823
Consolidated liabilities SR8 964,865
—

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

Note:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, amounts due from an associate, other loan and
interest receivables, pledged bank deposit, bank balances and
cash, the equipment of head office and certain right-of-use
assets and other receivables; and

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than tax liabilities, consideration payables and certain lease
liabilities, trust loans and other payables.

In respect of business segments which incurred recurring losses and were
considered to have indication of suffering impairment loss, the assessment
of possible impairment loss was conducted on relevant segment assets.
Details of the impairment loss assessment and the impairment losses (if
applicable) made for the year ended 31 March 2025 are disclosed in the
respective notes.
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RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Other segment information

Year ended 31 March 2025

1M1.9EF @

HithERE#
BE_E_AS=-HA=+—HULEEE

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
RREEEE BALEE
Securities Customised Building
Trading of Money and futures  Property technical  Property Project  Geothermal ~construction Centralised Finance
goods lending  brokerage investment support  brokerage management  energy contracting heating  Unallocated leasing Total
#5R #3
BEER 8 HEEE  NERE  RERE  WRER ERER WHK BFRERE iR #AE  HERE @t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TiEn iR TR TR AR TR TR TERr TR TR TiEn TER TR
Amounts included in the measure B ABEEANPEER
of segment profit or loss or FAZER!
segment assets:
Additions to non-current asses REERDEE (WD)
(Note) - - - - - - - 3,562 - 5,702 - - 9,264
Depreciation of property, plantand 9% BERRETE
equipment - - 1 - - 7 - 5,252 6 2,701 69 - 8,036
Unrealised loss on fair value change ~ REMEATEZHZ
on investment properties FEBEE - - - 1,945 - - - - - - = = 1,945
Impairment loss on trade and other MRS REHENZE
receivables HESE - - - - - - - - - E) - 430 4353
Impairment loss on loans and interest NS RAISHESE
receivables - 1,322 - - - - - - - - - - 11,322
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZAEER - - - - - - - 21823 - - - - 21823
Impairment loss on property, plant  ¥1% BE R EEE
and equipment - - - - - - - - 39,374 - - 39,374
Impairment loss on other loanand ~ HtEERER RIS 2
interest receivables HESE - - - - - - - - - - 1,254 - 1,254
Amounts reqularly provided tothe ~ CHETEEBARE
chief operating decision maker TRANEE
but not included in the measre AAPEERKAHALZ
of segment profit or loss or 8!
segment assets
(Gain)Loss on disposal of property, ~ HENE BRRAEZ
plant and equipment (k%) /B8 - - - - - - - 1,764 - - B) - 1,761
Interest income FISHA - () (1) (1) (1) = (5) (1) = (1) (355) (1) (385)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

Year ended 31 March 2024

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Other segment information (Continued)

1M1. 9EF @
Hith D EER @

HE _Z_NE=—BA=+—HILFE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
REEEER BALER
International
Securities Customised Building airand
Trading of Money and futures  Property  technical  Property Project Geothermal construction ~ Centralised seafreight  Finance Total
goods  lending  brokerage investment  support brokerage management  energy contracting  heating Unallocated  forwarding leasing
#5R B BFEE iz
BEER B8 BEEE WERE REXE WEEL BAER AR AY  ERR R0k RELEE  MERE a5t
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Tén TEn TR TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEx  TExn  TEr TEx  TEr TEn TEn
Amounts included in the measure of  HEABERIADTEER
segment profit or loss or segment HAZEE:
assets:
Additions to non-current assets (Note) ~ REFFMENEE (&) - - 1 - - - - 865 3911 2780 13 1 o 757
Depreciation of property, plant and nE RERRENE
equipment - - 2 - - 8 27 3,655 8 7,700 186 3 - 11,663
Unrealised loss on fair value change on ~ REMEATFERH
investment properties FERER - - - 4,903 - - - - - - - - - 4903
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHBARZER - - - - - - - - - - - 518 - 518
Impairment loss on finance lease EYREREIEAERE
receivable - - - - - - - - - - - - 4337 4337
Impairment loss on trade and other ERESR MBS ERESE
receivables - - - - - - 5230 - - - - - - 5,230
Impairment loss on loans and interest  EREFRFISHESE
receivables - 749 - - - - - - - - - - - 7492
Impairment loss on goodwill BREZAESR - - 2403 - - - - - - - - - - 2,403
Amounts reqularly provided to the chief  EHRTBEEARE RM
operating decision maker but not BRI ENBEED
included in the measure of segment  AHEEEKEFAZLE
profit or loss or segment assets:
Loss on disposal of property, plantand  HEWEFERABEZER
equipment = = = = = = = 910 = S = S = 910
Interest income HEBA - &) (34) - (5) (1) (1,109 (1) (4 (1) (319 - (1) (1479
Note: Additions to non-current assets included property, plant and equipment, Mz REERDEECIENE BERRE B

goodwill, intangible assets and investment properties.

B BYEERREME-

BIFHSBRAERIZRERAT 2024/255F 3

157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

Trading of goods, building architecture and interior design
services, data analytical services, property brokerage services,
project management services, geothermal energy services, building
construction contracting services and centralised heating services
are carried out in the PRC. Money lending and securities and

futures brokerage services are carried out in Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the operations of the
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is

presented based on the geographical location of assets.

1M1.9EF @

wEE R

EEFR BFREREARFR
B BBEONRE HELLCRS R
BEERE MAERT BFRE
AEURBREPHARB DR PEE
T-BERBFRPEELCRBETN
BARAET

AEBNERRZELRDRERK
EtE2N AEBIIFRBEEEY
TREEREHERS -

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
SEERKE FRBEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
- Ju Z3CmE ZECEE IEINE
Continuing  Discontinued Continuing ~ Discontinued
operations  operations Total operations operations Total
FEmEEE  CRUEER B RELSEE  BRLER L H
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FERr Tén Thn ThER TER TER Thn TER
Hong Kong &% 5,071 - 5,077 7,500 - 7,500 1,813 1816
PRC 7 111,006 - 111,006 205,849 = 205,849 542,261 629,613
Singapore s - - - = 1,621 1,621 = =
116,083 - 116,083 213,349 1,61 214,970 544,074 631,429

Note: Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment, goodwill,

intangible assets and investment properties.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing

s FRBHEEBENE BEMREB HE
BIVBEERREWH-

ITEEFREM
FBRE G EAE A BB IR AR BB 10%

over 10% of the overall revenue of the Group is as follows: ZREFLRZWEAOT
2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
- Customer A! —Z R 72,235 48,314
— Customer B2 —BRZM? - 43,077

i Revenue from building construction contracting segment
2 No revenue from Customer B for the year ended 31 March 2025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

12. OTHER INCOME 12. Hftig A
2025 2024
ZEZnf ZZIMF
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations  operations Total operations operations Total
RECEEYE BRLEES Bt FELEXE  BRLEES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THET THET FTHERT FTERT FERT
Interest income from REUTEEZAEBA
- bank —iR1T 385 - 385 377 - 377
- other loans receivables —HitEWER - - - 1,098 - 1,098
Government grant (Note) BT HREEN (M 5E) 22 - 22 3,510 2 3,512
Reversal of impairment loss on EWRERENIERNE
finance lease receivable EE#E - 714 714 - 4,398 4,398
Gain on lease modification HEBTzWE 34 - 34 - - -
Dividend income [:3STON - - - 1,972 - 1,972
Sundry income EIETON 1,885 - 1,885 917 - 917
2,326 714 3,040 7,874 4,400 12,274
Note: During the year, the government grants received by the Group is mainly in M ANFE AEEESNBAHEE &6
relation to the subsidies on heating supply services provided by geothermal HBE D B K S R E D BR IR R EAAR TS HY
energy segment and centralised heating segment without condition (2024: HEEBY (T2 P4  3,510,000587T)
HK$3,510,000). BRfe
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13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

13. FAEGIE

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging the following: AEBZFABELENBRTIEIE
BEI:
2025 2024
“EInf —ZEImE
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations  operations Total operations operations Total
REREEE BRLEES By RELEEY  DRLER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THER FHER FERT FTERT FTERT
Operating costs B
Cost of providing international air and sea  RHEEIRM TR ELEE
freight forwarding services R A - - - - 1,031 1,031
Cost of providing securities and futures REESRBELLER
brokerage related services R A - - - 1 - 1
Cost of providing property brokerage and #2448 43 K BART R TS
consultancy services A 1,013 - 1,013 1,595 - 1,595
Cost of heating and cooling supply by 1 ZRBE MR B9 AR A
geothermal energy 11,465 - 11,465 13,134 - 13,134
Cost of providing construction contracting B R A BIRBK M A
services 63,429 - 63,429 93,808 = 93,808
Cost of providing heating supply and REMERTIEZEHE
industrial steam 7,955 - 7,955 64,120 - 64,120
Cost of providing project REBEEERBRA
management service 135 - 135 3,376 - 3,376
Cost of providing data analytical services BB DMERFEM & 3 - 3 1,560 - 1,560
84,000 - 84,000 177,594 1,031 178,625
Staff costs BEMA
Directors' emoluments (note 14(a)) BEHH (:E140) 5,403 = 5,403 6,845 = 6,845
Other staff costs Hit@E A 27,184 245 27,429 35,308 890 36,198
Retirement benefits scheme contributions ~ BARAEF] 3t Bl
(excluding those for Directors) (FEERESHN 5,850 43 5,893 7,841 156 7,997
Share-based payment - employees UGB AERNTR—EE 1,680 - 1,680 2,919 - 2,919
40,117 288 40,405 52,913 1,046 53,959
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MR

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED) 13. FNE1E @)

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the following:
(Continued)

FEERZFEFRNBRDENRTIIRE
BER (®

2025 2024
ZEZnf —ZImE
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations  operations Total operations operations Total
FEREEE BRLEES B FELEEE  BRLEES Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT THER THER FTERT FERT FTERT
Finance costs RS
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAGEHESMZ 513 - 513 421 - a1
Interest expense on bank loans BITEFRF MR 1,892 - 1,892 4,062 - 4,062
Interest expenses on short-term loans RAETHEMZ 50 - 50 - - -
Interest expense on trust loans EEEFFEHZ 22,720 - 22,720 26,148 - 26,148
25,175 - 25,175 30,631 - 30,631
Other items HitEE
Auditor's remuneration Gl = 1,100 - 1,100 1,300 - 1,300
Bad debts written off HEHIRER 869 = 869 5,907 - 5,907
Depreciation of property, plant and NE- -BERZEZITE
equipment 8,036 - 8,036 11,663 - 11,663
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 5,064 - 5,064 6,393 - 6,393
Net foreign exchange loss EREETE 28 - 28 127 - 127
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE BERREZHR
equipment 1,761 - 1,761 910 - 910
Repair and rectification costs (Note) BERERER () - - - 13,692 - 13,692
Share-based payment - consultants MR AERN AR —BEE 344 - 344 117 - 117
Note: For the year ended 31 March 2024, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the M BE_FT_NFE=B=+—HLEHFE &K

Company, Shaanxi Jiangwei Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.* (P&#g
SIEEETRAERAT) (“Shaanxi Jiangwei”) was ordered by the local
court to pay repair and rectification costs of approximately RMB12,568,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$13,692,000) in relation to a construction
project in Xiangshan, Ningbo.

REl—HE2ENB AT IRERTE
ARAT (TBEFATIE.L) & AR <
THRBFRRUTIREESRANEERE
MERHAR12,568,0007T HEERLY
13,692,000 7T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

Note:

(i) Other benefits represented rents paid for Directors’ quarters.

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (31 March 2024: four) were Directors whose
emoluments are set out in note 14 (a) above. The aggregate
emoluments of the remaining three (31 March 2024: one)
individuals were as follows:

14 EBERFTETHAEMER

EEME @

() EFREETHASME
)

ST -
() Hitv@FiEENEEESHES

(b) EEM=

rEBLRRSHALTEENS

“ETNME=R=+—H:'1M
%) ES T)ik Z BN B
H14@BD -Heg=% (CZTM
F=RA=1+— EI t—) A2
THREEWMT

2025 2024

—E-RE —“E N

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Salaries and other benefits HEREMBR 3,323 1,500
Retirement benefits scheme BIREH FTEI R

contributions 229 18

3,552 1,518

The emoluments were within the following bands:

M= TSR

2025 2024

—TZHRE —ET N4

No. of No. of

employee employee

BEEAH BEA#

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 521,000,000 7 1 S
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 % 1,500,000 7T 1 S
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 22,000,000 7T 1 1

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors and the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the Directors and the employees waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments paid by the Group during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 15. FRiEfiE X

2025 2024
k- Jnk 3 13
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations  operations Total  operations  operations Total

REEERYE CRLRH it BROEXE BRIEEH 5t
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TERL TERL TERL TETL TEL TERT

Current tax:
PRC Enterprise Income Tax

B2HRE.
R EER 1,470

1,470 3,372 = 3,372

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024 as the loss for the taxation purpose is
estimated during both periods.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "“EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries, except for Beijing Shuwu Big Data Research
Company Limited* QERE R AEKIZHIEERAE) (“Beijing
Shuwu"), is 25%.

Beijing Shuwu, which is principally engaged in provision of
financial information, solution and data analytical services in the
PRC and qualified as high-tech enterprise that needs key support,
is entitled to enjoy a lower tax rate of 15% pursuant to Article 28
of the EIT Law.

HREBE _ S _RER T NE=
B=1t—HILEEEMA:MREMS H
HEE RurEmEEEtiRE B
FISiREE-

BBEPBECEFRERE (TEEMRRT
MIE1) RIEERSREBRESG > &
BEWEBAR CERBERABBERARR
RAB (MEREBE) BRID 2MER
25%

ERERETBRPEEFREMBE
P BRDERBIBEDNRT BN E
KRR BMRME R RIEEEFR
BHIAE281% BJER15%HVRER

o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

15. FhifEMRAX @

FRAZAERAXRGEETD REM
£ | W m P52 BRI A S 18 ¥ AR 1

166

other comprehensive income as follows:

Lk

2025 2024
ZEIERE ZEImE
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations  operations Total  operations  operations Total
RECEEE DBRIEEER Wit BECEEE BRIEEER izt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TART TAR T T T
Loss before tax FRiRFIEE (138,166) (4,081)  (142,247)  (126,908) (1,503)  (128,411)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of AT G RE25%
25% (2024: 25%) (CZEZME:25%)
StEZIE (34,542) (1,020) (35,562) (31,727) (375) (32,102)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries A EMEAEREEZ
operating in other jurisdictions WEASRALRE
Exzg e 4,748 - 4,748 4,109 - 4,109
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  FEMREZ 2 BHTE
tax purpose 21,093 1,020 22,113 21,329 238 21,567
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ BEFRIMAZ KB E
purpose (3,260) - (3,260) (2,435) - (2,435)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KBz RHBEEZ
Bz e 13,438 - 13,438 12,088 137 12,225
Tax effect of temporary difference not KRRz EBZEEZ
recognised hExE (7 = (7) 8 s 8
Income tax expense Y 1,470 - 1,470 3,372 = 3,372

Details of deferred tax are set out in note 35.
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17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 March
2025, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2024: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share
For continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$138,052,000
(2024: approximately HK$131,062,000) and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of approximately 2,091,501,000 (2024:
approximately 1,899,858,000).

For continuing operations

The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing operations
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the loss for
the year from continuing operations attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$133,971,000 (2024: approximately
HK$129,559,000) and the denominator used is the same as that
detailed above for basic loss per share.

For discontinued operations

The calculation of basic loss per share from discontinued
operations attributable to owners of the Company of HK0.20 cents
(2024 basic loss per share: HK0.08 cents) is based on the loss
for the year from discontinued operations attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$4,081,000 (2024: loss of
approximately HK$1,503,000) and the denominator used is the
same as that detailed above for basic loss per share.

Diluted loss per share

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024 does not assume the exercise of the
Company's outstanding share options because the exercise price
of those shares is higher than the average market price of the
Company’s shares, and therefore, diluted loss per share is equal to
basic loss per share.

16.

17.

:35)

RKABTINBE_SE_RAE=R=+—
HIEFE &R BIREARE
BRESHARMUETERIKETMAERR
(ZEZOE |\ o

ShkEE
SiREFREHE
FREREEFREAILER

RABEBEAEBLEESREKREGIETD
RBEALRBDEBABGEEANEEY
138,052,000 (ZE-WE 1 4
131,062,000587T) K @A NNAEF 15
#492,091,501,000 (ZE M 1 49
1,899,858,000/%) st & o

RABIEE NELREFERSE X
ZEBRERBENFENDRELRAT
BEANEBHREFERE XK 2 F
M E53849133,971,0005E 70 (Z &M
4 1 #9129,559,0005 7T) I A LS
BEARBEERNS S GEBR L0 5
%o

BRILEF

RABEBEANEBLKREECRKRIEER
SEARZFO0.208 W (ZE WA .
GREREE0.08811) WtETL
REANDEEABGRKECHKILE
B2 BAME 494,081,000 7T (ZF
— VY F548491,503,000%8 7T) W
HEREAGEERNSE GEER
3 st8&-

SR EEE
BE_Z_HFE-RBR=+t—HBKR_Z
THOFIFFENESREEFENGE
WEBERAAR M RITENBREE
T THERZERDNTEESR
RABRMFETE Bt SKRE#
BEIEHASRERGE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

V)7 =,
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18.ME - -KBRERZE
Plant
Furniture Office Motor Leasehold and Land  Construction
and fixtures  equipment vehicles improvements ~ machinery ~ and building in progress Total

RUREE  WAZERR A% HEWERE RERHS  IMRET  HEIR it
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS000  HKS'000  HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS000  HKS'000
TEL TERL TERL TiEn TEL TERL T TEn

CosT A

At 1 April 2023 RZEZZEME-H 854 3,367 9,630 1,209 180,199 36,616 107,633 339,508
Exchange realignment EREE 23) ) (226) 4 (9,530) (1937) (5,692) (17,485
Additions AE - 157 35 - 2,701 236 448 7571
Transfer from construction in progress BREfRIR - S S = 8,173 S 8173) =
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBLT S (33) S - S S = (33
Disposals tE - - - - (5,754) - -~ (5,754)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

831 3418 9439 1,205 175,789 34,915 98,210 323,807
Exchange realignment (4 (10) (34) (1) (1,383 (299) 418 (6,409)
Additions - 34 - - 1,701 3,99 3,535 9,264
Transfer from construction in progress BRprEIR = 182 = 94 57,192 = (58,068) =
Disposals HE = = (157) - (22,744) - - (22,901)
At 31 March 2025 RIEZREZR=+-H 827 3,624 9,248 1,298 211,195 38,610 38,959 303,761
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ZHTERAE
IMPAIRMENT

At 1 April 2023 RZB-=£RFE-A il 2,945 8,862 1,098 26,766 3,679 - 44,071
Exchange realignment ERfE (1) (49) (187) @ (1479) (204) = (1,940)
Provided for the year FRER 1 204 25 109 9,644 1420 = 11,663
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - (o4 = = = = = )}
Disposals tE - - - - (1,062) - - (1,062)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIZZME=F=1+-HK

“3MEMA-A m 3,073 8,950 1,203 33873 4,895 - 52,705
Exchange realignment ERBE () (1) 21) (1) (579) (46) (10) (666)
Provided for the year FRER 6 78 119 7 7307 519 S 8036
Disposals HeE = = 89) = (4,634) = = #7120
Impairment A - - - - 37918 - 1456 39,374
At 31 March 2025 RIBZRE=F=1-H 715 3144 8,960 1,209 73,885 5368 1,446 94,721
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2025 RIBZREZA=1-8 2 480 288 89 137,310 33,242 37,513 209,034
At 31 March 2024 RIEZMEZF=+-8 120 345 489 2 141,916 30,020 98,210 271,102
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ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following useful life and rates per
annum:

10% - 33.33%

10% - 33.33%

10% - 33.33%

Over the term of the lease or three
years, whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 5% —33.33%

Land and building 3.33%

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment

Motor vehicles
Leasehold improvements

As mentioned in note 48(c) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group completed the disposal of the centralized
heating business at cash consideration of RMB32,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$34,326,000). In estimating the
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment (“PPE")
of centralized heating business as at 31 March 2025, the Group
allocated the consideration for the disposal to the assets (other
than PPE) and liabilities disposed of, with residual value being
allocated to the PPE. On this basis, impairment of approximately
HK$39,374,000 was recognised for PPE during the year ended
31 March 2025.

18.ME-BERSZHE @

LtHEME - -BERRFEEREER
EEZU T ERAFRHRFERRR

£

R REE 10%-33.33%

YN 10%-33.33%

RE 10%-33.33%

HEYEEE HEERI=F (UK
fEEA%E)

iR 55 5 1 25 5%-33.33%

THI R ETF 3.33%

WHRE M ARM E48(c)PTal » A&
E LIRS B AR #32,000,0007T (18
B 4934,326,000587T) AR HEE
RHEEF EEA S ZRHF=A
—t+—HEFHREENYE -BE
K& (TPPEY) AN Bl 28R > K
EERHERESEEEHRENEE
(PPERRSIN) MBE R EESEE
PPE- R IHE BE_E _HF=H
—+—HBLEEEERPPERBIREN
39,374,000 TG ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. ERHEEE
2025 2024
ZEZRE ZEIE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET TFHET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Office premises and staffs’ quarters —“MAENEREERS 5,720 10,901
Lease commitment of short-term leases SRR E R ERIE 980 2,295
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted ERAEBAE&ENREIR
cash flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is IREREMEIEAE DU T ¢
as follows:
— Less than 1 year —— %R 4,798 5,605
— Between 1 and 2 years ——EWF 1,547 4,882
— Between 2 and 5 years —-MERF - 1,548
6,345 12,035
Depreciation charges mEER
— Office premises and staffs’ quarters —“MAENEREERS 5,064 6,393
Lease interest HENE 513 421
Expenses related to short-term leases FEHATE EAERARE 2 4,317 4,539
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRHEEE 5,525 6,409
Addition to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE - 13,682

The Group leases various premises and staffs’ quarters. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of one to three
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(a)

(b)

20. 1 EBEME

Movement during the year (a) xXEEEH

2025 2024
—E"RHE ZEFETOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 April “mA—A 110,142 121,433
Fair value loss NEEEE (1,945) (4,903)
Exchange differences FERZER (929) (6,388)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 107,268 110,142

Investment properties valuation (b) BEMELE

The Group's investment properties were valued at their
fair values at 31 March 2025 and 2024 by independent
professional qualified valuer not connected to the Group, on
a market value basis, in accordance with Valuation Standards
on Properties issued by Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

Fair values of the Group’s investment properties are
categorised as Level 3 measurement in the fair value
hierarchy. During the year, there were no transfers among the
fair value hierarchy.

The Group's investment properties are valued using the
income capitalisation method by capitalising the net income
from the existing tenancies and reversionary income potential
at appropriate capitalisation rates for individual properties.
The capitalisation rate adopted is derived by making reference
to the yields achieved from analysis of comparable property
investment transactions and valuer's view of prevailing
investor expectations regarding rental growth and perceived
risks.

FEEREVMEER S 1LF
RZZF_NMF=R=+—H@EHA
/NSl VA== R g:
HEMUTEREEFLFTG
BB ERREMEZREM
Y EEEERET

FEBREVENLTESEN
WEBERSAFERETHE =R
Ble RAFEE  EAFERET

FEBREVERABRABERC
HEGE BEEYMESENE
FMERRJRTHEERNF WA TE
TERBRAFTUERCHE P
FANEACR2EZLERYE
RERZHEH G EMAET
REEEAS N ERARNE
EMASH e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Investment properties valuation (Continued)

(c)

Set out below is the significant unobservable inputs used for
fair value measurements:

20. KEYE ®
(b) KEMEMLE @

UTFARTFESEFRERNER
REERNEABIE

Weighted average

Fair Value capitalisation rate

AFE MEEHERLEER
2025 2024 2025 2024
“E_nf ZEQMF ZEZRE EMNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 % %

TET FTERT

Mainland Ayt 107,268 110,142 6 6

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties are
inversely related to capitalisation rates, which are determined
by reference to investors’ expectations on investment yields,
rental growth and the risk profile of the properties being
valued. A lower (higher) capitalisation rate would imply a
higher (lower) property value.

Gross rental income and direct operating expenses
from investment properties during the year amounted
to approximately HK$6,280,000 (2024: approximately
HK$6,333,000) and approximately HK$304,000 (2024:
approximately HK$289,000) respectively.

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 year,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which
time all terms are renegotiated. Leases do not include variable
lease payment terms.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

(c)

FEBREVENRFERER
EXZ28HEH HEE2ZHR
EERNREMOKOVER HE18
£ WA YD E BB R BR2ROR
EeoBXRERHMME (BF) BNEK
MEBERHES (BE -

RAFEE - KEYWENERE
WARBEZERERZDNADN
6,280,000/ (ZE - M4FE : 4
6,333,000 1) K& #9304,00078 7T
(ZE M4 49289,0008 7T) ©

AEBUEEHEESALEARE
ME-HENNGEHRBERI
FoRIEBHEBAILIEZRE
J& B Fir B {5 SR AR S 17 7R o AL
BN aEZEE R

RIS ZEBRESAH
HAVARETE » R R HARE FE UL
BURREIREEMRNOT ¢

2025 2024

—ERE —EUE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Within 1 year —&FRN 359 381
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ

21. GOODWILL 21. FE
HK$'000
FET
COST BN
At 1 April 2023 R_Z_=®FMA—H 334,427
Exchange differences R =8 (3,849)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 NZEZMEFE=A=1+—HkK
“ZETOFM™AE—H 330,578
Exchange differences (ERE%E (590)
At 31 March 2025 NZE2_RAF=F=+—H 329,988
IMPAIRMENT BE
At 1 April 2023 N_ZEZ=FMA—H 78,801
Provided for the year FEREE 2,403
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 N Z_ZEZEFE=A=+—HkK
“ZETOMFM™AE—H 81,204
Provided for the year FEREE 21,823
At 31 March 2025 RIE_RAFE=B=+—H 103,027
CARRYING VALUE IRMEE
At 31 March 2025 RZE2EZAF=HA=+—H 226,961
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_MFE=F=+—H 249,374

BEREE HRRER BEDERET
JIIREEFEMN (TREELENM) :

The carrying amounts of goodwill (after impairment) was allocated
to the following cash generating units (“CGUs"):

2025 2024

“E-HEF —EHE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET THET

Regulated financial services business SHE SRR ER 1,000 1,000

Property brokerage services business 2R A AR FEZEFE 6,837 6,895
Building architecture and interior design SIS IEERIBE T~

services under customised technical support (E=F RS B = XL RS

business 14,392 14,517

Geothermal energy business Hh B BE 2EFS 25,291 47,521

Building construction contracting business BFEERKEER 43,172 43,172
Data analytical services under customised SIS IEEFIE N

technical support business sIE SRS 136,269 136,269

226,961 249,374
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21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs (except for regulated
financial services business which is mentioned below) have been
determined based on the value-in-use calculation with reference
to a valuation performed by independent professional qualified
valuers not connected to the Group. The Board was satisfied with
the independence, capability and qualification of the valuers.
That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management of the Group covering a 10-
year period for geothermal energy business and a 5-year period for
other businesses. Cash flows beyond 5-year or 10-year period are
projected using 2% growth rate. Other key assumptions for the
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted revenue, such estimations
are based on the CGU's past performance and management'’s
expectations for the market development.

The major income of the geothermal energy business came from
supplying relevant geothermal energy to end consumers and
receiving related service income. With reference to relevant analysis
and statistics, the development cycle of providing geothermal
services in a new residential district usually lasts for approximately
10 years during which period the occupancy rate of the residential
district would gradually become normalized. Due to the nature
of the geothermal energy business, a financial budget covering
a 10-year period was adopted for value-in-use calculation. Due
to downsizing residential area for supplying geothermal energy
of heating and cooling, the carrying amount of the CGU of
geothermal energy business exceed its recoverable amount. As a
result, an impairment of approximately HK$21,823,000 for the
goodwill was recognized in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2025.

As mentioned in note 48(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group completed the disposal of certain
companies under regulated finances services business of the Group
("RFS-CGU") to independent third parties at a consideration of
approximately HK$9,000,000. As the consideration was higher
than its carrying amount, no impairment of goodwill allocated to
RFS-CGU was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024: approximately HK$2,403,000).

No impairment for the goodwill of other businesses was recognised
in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

21. B8 ®w

REELEU BGTRERHRESRR
BEBIN 2RI EERRBER
BEFEEE U2ZRAXEEMNE
MEZBEIEXGEREEMATE
TzEE-EEREMEEMYIEIL
M ENREE St EEREREE
EEEERMAEEFTE T+ FHE
R EMEHH E R B M EE
BFHZRERERA -BBEEFH
TERBAZRERER2REREHE
ERL -EREESENHEMEIER
R REFHRERA ML HRE
EESWm 2FEHAERREESE
BUNBERBEREEBHMIHEE
BYTREAIEL o

HAREEFRN T EBWAKR B @K IHH
B & {4 R AR RA Mt 20 A5 0 B 1S AE B AR TS
A o &2 Z B DT R R T EIE  7E
METTEREMAERBNEEE
HERRENE TILtEBEEE
PAFERZZHEBR BB AR
MBEXEFWEE  EKEB10FEHNTH
TEEUEEEREE - AR EBE
RSN ETEBEAER  MBAEET
NIRSELEMNREEBAETIK
[l %8 o F It - & E{E#AY21,823,000
BLTERBE_ZE_AF=B=+—
HIEEENIBR P -

B4R A B 7SR R M 5E48(b)FR At » &<
EECERNABIS = FHEARE
ESRETHRBEETHNETA
B(IERESRRF-—BeELE
fir1) » R1B4979,000,0005 7T - B
RESRHEERE RTERSEE_
E_REZRB=t—HILEEZER
ROEESHRESRRF —REE
YENUCZHERE(CE_NOE  H
2,403,0003 7T) ©

MEAMEFZ 2 BERER&E T
THEZR=+—HILEEFENERAN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant CGU and are summarised as follows:

21. B8 ®w

PRABIREDMAIH R B RIREE
FIREELEBUAMZIEERRR £
MmN -

2025 2024
ZE-RHE “ETHE
(i)  Property brokerage services business () MERLRFEER 13.87% 15.98%
(i) Building architecture and interior design (i) #FREFMEZEEFRBE T2
services under customised technical BFREEKRENRFT RS
support business 19.35% 23.11%
(i) Geothermal energy business (i) HIEASEZETS 11.85% 12.67%
(iv) Building construction contracting (iv) BFERKOER
business 19.50% 18.84%
(v) Date analytical services under (v) HFEIRMYIEEREN
customised technical support business HED IR 18.63% 19.00%

The assumptions adopted in the valuation of all CGUs mainly
include:

(a) For the CGUs to continue as a going concern, the CGUs
will successfully carry out all necessary activities for the
development of its business;

(b) The availability of finance will not be a constraint on the
development of the CGUs in accordance with the business
plans;

(c)  Market trends and conditions where the CGUs operates
will not deviate significantly from the economic forecasts in
general;

(d) The financial information of the CGUs as supplied to the
valuer has been prepared in a manner which truly and
accurately reflects the financial performances and positions of
the CGUs as at the respective financial statement dates;

(e) Key management, competent personnel and technical staff
will all be retained to support the ongoing operations of the
CGUs;

PREREEEBEUMNGERMBRKRR
TEEE!

(@ MRREELBUFELE ]
TEEBURMIIBEREERE
RFTEZEREE

(b) ESESRESEERETELE
BARBEDGHAIERE

(0 REeELBUZEEMETHNE
BERRAEREETERERBEL
BT

d) FreREHTFHEMNESESE
BUAMMBEMNENREERERE
RN EMBHREBAESE
FEUNHMHRTERRR

() ZEEEAB - BRENAERK
MAERBEALZFREELE

Iz FELE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The assumptions adopted in the valuation of all CGUs mainly
include: (Continued)

)

(9)

(h)

0]

(0

(k)

U]

(m)

(n)

There will be no material changes in the business strategy of
the CGUs and its operating structure;

Interest rates and exchange rates in the localities for the
operations of the CGUs will not differ materially from those
presently prevailing;

All relevant approvals, business certificates, licences or
other legislative or administrative authority from any local,
provincial or national government, or private entity or
organization required to operate in the localities where
the CGUs operates or intends to operate will be officially
obtained and renewable upon expiry unless otherwise stated;

There will be no major changes in the political, legal,
economic or financial conditions and taxation laws in the
localities in which the CGUs operates or intends to operate,
which would adversely affect the revenues and profits
attributable to the CGUs;

There will be no major business disruptions through
international crisis, diseases, industrial disputes, industrial
accidents or severe weather conditions that will affect the
existing business of CGUs;

The CGUs will remain free from claims and litigation against
the business or their customers that will have a material
impact on value;

The business of CGUs is unaffected by any statutory notice
and that operation of the business gives, or will give, no rise
to a contravention of any statutory requirements;

The business of CGUs is not subject to any unusual or

onerous restrictions or encumbrances; and

The potential bad debt of the CGUs will not materially affect
their business operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

INTANGIBLE ASSET

2. EBREE

License

88

HK$'000

FHET

COST AND CARRYING VALUE A& BRE (B
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 RZZ2-=#ME—Q-
and 31 March 2025 _ENFE=H=+—H"

“ENERNA—HRK

“E_RE=ZRA=+—H 811

The license has a legal life of 1 year but is renewable every year
at minimal cost. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group
would renew the license continuously and has the ability to do
so. Various studies including product life cycle studies, market,
competitive and environmental trends, and brand extension
opportunities have been performed by management of the Group,
which supports that the license has no foreseeable limit to the
period over which the provision of services restricted by license are
expected to generate net cash flows for the Group.

As a result, the license is considered by management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected to
contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The license will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead, it
will be tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period
and whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

MR ZERERRIE  BRIURER
rEFER - EERXRTEERER
BRRRER WA BB A&
EEEECETZEMR BREER
EBHAE 5 BIERIREES
DUk iR fE RS R F MR RARE
RN FEHATERRRS > MRE
HINR MR RIRS Z RBRAR S
AEREGREEZREFE-

Hit > *EEERERAZIERAE
mREAES BB ABZIEETR
FRIZEIRS A B o 1 IRIST 0
9o EEHGREBEEEAAER -
MR HEREREPRANETR
BB 7 B BT A 5 th 30 80 18 9 e T LA
Bo

23. R ERT 2 Em

2025 2024

- “ZTmE

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Costs of investment in associates REE AT ZRERK 9 24,925
Share of post-acquisition loss and other SN EREEREMEE

comprehensive income, net of dividends Yo RHMBRBE WS

received 9) (1,797)

Disposal of associates HEHZ AR = (22,251)

Exchange difference PESR =R = (877)

Amounts due from an associate i =YNCIESE: 278 186

PSS N EBZERARAR 202472505k 177
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

23. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 23.
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had interests in the following
associate:

Proportion of
ownership interests

REEQAR Z#ED @

R TE_RFE=ZRA=+—H 'F&&H
RUTHEADEREED -

Place of Class of indirectly Proportion of voting  Principal
Name of entity incorporation  shares held held by the Company power held activities
FRFHEEAR
B SMmINE  FriSRGER BRREZLH PR RHELLE) E 3
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZZCREfFE ZZCIQNFE ZEIRE ZZIMA
Shenzhen Investorigo Capital PRC Registered 24.5% 24.5% 24.5% 24.5% Not yet commence
Management Co., Ltd.* capital business
(“Shenzhen Investorigo”)
RINIAARIWERERS HE SfEL EERGIEE S

EEERAT (TRITARR)

The summarised financial information in respect of Shenzhen
Investorigo that is material to the Group is set out below, which
represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards and
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes including
any differences in accounting policies and fair value adjustments.

BRI ARRRENTERAMS B
EZMBERBRNT  ARRE
BEARAMBREEN G ERRR B
EREIMBRRATEE BEELE
E S ENFHERE BFEE
STBERMERERRATERE-

2025 2024

—E-HE —ETT N

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FET

Non-current assets ERBEE - -
Current assets REEE 515 578
Non-current liabilities ERBERE - -
Current liabilities mENAaE (740) (582)
Net Liabilities SEFEE (225) (4)
Net Liabilities BEFE (225) (4)
Less: Non-controlling interest IR S - =
Equity attributable to the owners A AEL#ER - =
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REEZ EB LA 24.5% 24.5%
Share of net assets value DMEEEFE - -
Goodwill BE - _

Carrying amount of the Group's interests REEED ZIREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

ARE M EEHRRMEE

TAFZRA=+—HILFE

23. RBE AT 2 @)

2025 2024

—E”hHEF T M

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Revenue for the year ER - _
Loss for the year FREIE (223) (528)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEBAZLEEE (223) (528)

As at 31 March 2025, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’ associate in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately HK$8,000 (2024: approximately HK$11,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

A BT HAE=ZR=+—H > &%EH
RAEBEE A ZIRTRIBESEH
LARMEHE #9%48,0008 T (ZF
“ PO D 4911,00087T) c ARER IR
BRSNS JB 3 < o B A1 BE IR AR o

24, BT ES ARMEZE RS
ZEMEE

2025 2024
- —ZNE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Equity instruments lRATA
Unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong, REBWIELHRAES
at fair value (Note i, ii) BAFESE FEki i) 7,920 5,260

Notes:

(i) In 2002, the Group, through an acquisition of a wholly-owned subsidiary,
acquired 30,000,000 promoters’ shares in Beijing Beida Jade Bird Universal
Sci-Technology Company (“BBJB”) (the “Promoters’ Shares”) of RMBO.1
each at a consideration of HK$38,250,000, which is equivalent to 1.98%
of total issued share capital (including H shares and Promoters’ Shares) of
BBJB as at the end of the reporting period.

BBJB is a joint stock company with limited liability incorporated in the
PRC with its H shares listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Board”). The Promoters’ Shares were unlisted share capital issued by BBJB
when it was initially listed on the GEM Board in 2000. The unlisted equity
investment is measured at fair value and is classified as level 2 fair value
measurement (see note 9).

() RIZTZ_E - AEEFBKE-—B2
EWBAT > 38,250,000 T EEA
30,000,000t RIEREBIRFRF KGN
BRAS (EATR) SKREEARO0.
TTZ B AR (TERARMDY »HBER
HBERRIEAETEEETRALLLE (BIEH
B% B2 BEHEE A BRAD) B91.98% ©

IEAEEARPEEMAILZRNERE
FAE > HHRRTE B RZFTGEM (TGEMARY) £
HoBRARNMABILATSER-IZZSE
BREGEMIR BT 2 IE EMmRREA -
FETRARERATEAERDELS
ZBAFEE (BKIE9) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24 AT EFFAHMEENE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ZEMEE @

INCOME (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued) MisE @ (88)

(i) The above investments are intended to be held for medium to long term. (i) EHMBEHRNPERFE -EEZERE
Designation of these investments as equity investment of fair value through REBEATEFAEMEZAKRE ZBRAEE
other comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair value EHRREREZ A ATEEHHBEESE
change of these investments to the profit and loss. HENRE o
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through other BATFESSAEMEENREZSREEN
comprehensive income approximately HK$2,660,000 (2024: loss of NTAEW 492,660,000 70 (Z B P04 :
approximately HK$3,520,000) was recognised as other comprehensive #538493,520,00087T) RBEEZS -1 F
income during the year ended 31 March 2025. ZR=+—HLEFERIAHHEHMEE I

G = 4=E= %,
25. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 25. B EHERIA

All interest rates inherent in the leases are fixed at the contract MEZHMBEEENEZBANHARRS

date over the lease terms. NEEFETE -

2025 2024

—E"RE —E_UE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Finance lease receivables R ERERIE 40,788 41,849
Less: allowance for impairment of finance RN ERERIERERE

lease receivables (40,788) (41,849)

Finance lease receivables, net FEW M ERERE F18 - =

The movements on the allowance for impairment of finance lease FEWMBEREREREREZSE W

receivables are as follows: S e

2025 2024
—E-RHE TEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET

At 1 April REA—H 41,849 43,351

Exchange difference R EE (347) (1,447)

Impairment loss recognised B EEE = 4,337

Reversal of impairment loss BRI (714) (4,398)

At 31 March W=BA=+—H 40,788 41,849
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ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ

25. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2025, there were a total 4 (2024: 4) outstanding
finance leases, with outstanding principal amounts from
approximately HK$4,270,000 (2024: approximately HK$4,306,000)
to approximately HK$18,726,000 (2024: approximately
HK$19,598,000), amounting to a total outstanding principal
amount of approximately HK$40,788,000 (2024: approximately
HK$41,849,000). To the best knowledge, information and belief
of the Directors, all these corporate borrowers and their respective
ultimate beneficial owners are independent of the Company and
its connected persons (as ascribed under the Listing Rules).

Effective interest rates of the above finance leases is 6% (2024:
6%) per annum. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all the finance
lease are secured by the leased assets, such as motor vehicle, plant
and machinery leased and/or share pledges, and/or are guaranteed
by individual who is the corporation’s owner or connected person
of the owner, and/or other corporation which is a related party to
the corporate client.

As at 31 March 2025, finance lease receivables before allowance
for impairment of approximately RMB38,024,000, equivalent
to approximately HK$40,788,000 (2024: approximately
RMB38,680,000, equivalent to approximately HK$41,849,000)
were past due. For such overdue finance lease receivables, full
impairment loss were made due to customers’ default in payment
and/or having severe liquidity problem. The Group had either
taken legal actions against these customers or assessed the
customers’ latest operating and financial position by site visit
and considered the legal opinion from independent legal advisers
during impairment assessment. As a result, the entire overdue
amount of finance lease receivables approximately RMB38,024,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$40,788,000) remained fully
impaired as at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: approximately
RMB38,680,000, equivalent to approximately HK$41,849,000).

Management closely monitors the credit quality of finance lease
receivables. As at 31 March 2025, the age of the finance lease
receivables was over three years (2024: over three years) based on
the effective dates of the relevant lease contracts.

25. FE R EREHIE @)

A _E_RE=ZR=+—H %54
M (ZEBE_ME : 4D) REBERER
B REBEAETENTF44,270,0008
T (ZE M4 | 494,306,000 70) &
#918,726,0008c (ZE_ME : 4
19,598,000/ 7T) » KR EEAREIE ST
#940,788,0008 7t (ZEZIMFE : 4
41,849,000 7T) ~IREEFTE FTAI
KRFifE FMTELELEERARES
ERAREREEAEBILNARAE K
HEABEALT (EEFR LHHRA) o

LHMBEEBERENER6% (&
TTMFE6%) RIZEZHEERZ
F_MFE=RB=+—H ' FMEMEH
ERNAE - BEAKBEHEEE
R/ HRMERFEEE R/ NHEB
ZABHEEANUZEBANBEEAL
MEA &/ HBRZABDEREHE
HBHM AT RHER

ATE_RE=ZRAZ=Z+—0 " HBAE
EREFEINERBRERAEREOAR
138,024 0007_5 (7@“‘ £4940,788,000
Br) (ZEZ_DOFE AR
38,680,0007T (7@“* 24941,849,000
Br)) Bafe AR REKARE
MERE ARELREIARER,
EREERHESHE BEHGR
BERBE PR EN LR ~£E
EHZERRARBARTHNERE
MERTFEELRITVLEE LR
MEREEREEBIEZEERZEZERE
R B R_E_AF=RA=+—
A REEBERERENE A
¥EH AR 138,024,000 (HBERH
40,788,000 ) (ZE_WWE=A
:+ H : % AR %38,680,0007T > 18

E4941,849,000/87T) B2 EEHIR A
TEO

EEERYEEREIREEAERIEL
EEER- R -_B_AF=RB=+—
B RFEMEESNZENBH
BURRMEEAERBEZRER=FU L
(CEZOEFE: =FBb) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

26. INVENTORY 26. 78

2025 2024
—E"HE —EZ_FE
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Consumables for production of heating and R R TEXKSEEN
industrial steam JHAE @ 3,105 3,033

Consumables for construction contracting BREERORBENEER
services 2,822 649
5,927 3,682

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

27. FEUR AR TR e H fth F& Wk IH

2025 2024
—TZHREF —ETOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THET
Trade receivables arising from trading business B & % 75 Ffr &= & ~ FE UL BR X 168,383 169,836
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (168,383) (169,836)
Trade receivables arising from MEREEBMEL Y
finance leasing business FE WL BR =X 4,774 4,815
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (4,774) (487)
- 4,328
Trade receivable arising from project BEEEERMEL Y
management business FE WL AR R 41,888 42,249
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (5.149) (5,193)
36,739 37,056
Trade receivable arising from centralised ERHEARERFTESE Z FEWERR
heating business 1,167 945
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (32) =
1,135 945
Trade receivable arising from customised RRRNSZREBMEEXZ
technical support business FE W AR R 13,480 21,386
Trade receivable arising from property MERCEBIESE Z BUWERRR
brokerage business 2,842 2,894
Trade receivables arising from the securities FBHRHIERKLERFIELE S
and futures brokerage business FE U AR R 225 227
Trade receivable arising from geothermal R RE ZE TSP B A 2 FEURBR X
energy business 1,948 1,292
Trade receivable arising from property MERBEBMES Z BRI
investment business - 1,446
Trade receivable arising from building BFRERKOEBMELEZ
construction contracting business & W BR =R 14,355 15,129
Prepayments FEfTIE 68,748 88,635
Value-added tax recoverable Pl EIEETR 2,809 3,834
Deposits and other receivables o R EHMEWTIE 66,981 73,506
Receivables from disposal of a subsidiary FEWH & — KB BMIE 23,027 23,226
Construction deposits BEEE 112,632 113,604
344,921 387,508
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuep)  27. FEUREBR TR R H {th FE YK 7R 18

(&)
The Group’s trade receivables arising from securities and futures AEBBSRPERLEBMESL
brokerage business include brokers with carrying amounts of ZEWERFBEBELKLZETEED
approximately HK$225,000 (2024: approximately HK$227,000). 225,000/ 70 (Z= ZIH4 : £9227,000
BTT) ©
The Group allows an average credit period normally ranging from AEBBKTFERPZFHEEHR K
30 days to 180 days (2024: 30 days to 180 days) to its customers. MTFE30HE180H (ZE_PU4E : 30H
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of ZF180H) 2M - U T ARMEHRE
allowance for doubtful debt) presented based on the invoice date BERARAEBSORmM 2B
or the payment date as stated in the respective contracts at the (BEEWREERHERR 2592
end of the reporting period, which approximates the respective FEWER RN (BB RIRE®H) R0 D
revenue recognition date. e
Building Customised
Finance  Geothermal construction  Centralised Project technical Property Property
Trading leasing energy  contracting heating management support  brokerage  investment
business business business business business business business business business
BE £ R

REXE  HERE HARRE  AORE SOMRRE HEREEER  XRER WRLLER NRRERS
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TR FERT AT TR FERT TER TR FET FER

2025: ZECRE:
Within 30 days 30HA - - 357 - - - - - -
31-60 days 318608 - - - - - - - - -
61-90 days 612908 - - - 4,290 = = = = =
Over 90 days iBB90H - - 1,591 10,065 1,135 36,739 13,480 2,842 -
- - 1,948 14,355 1,135 36,739 13,480 2,842 -
2024: EoME:
Within 30 days ~ 30B R - — - - 116 622 = S 571
31-60 days 312608 - - - - 110 622 S S 571
61-90 days 612908 = = = = 239 622 = = 304
Over 90 days iB1890H = 4328 1,92 15,129 480 35,190 21,386 2,894 =
= 4328 1,292 15,129 945 37,056 21,386 2,894 1,446
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The settlement term of trade receivables arising from the securities
brokerage business are two trade days after the trade execution
date. The trade receivables from futures brokers are repayable on
demand which represent amounts deposited for trade execution
purpose.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$70,499,000
(2024: HK$82,393,000) which were past due at the end of the
reporting period and for which the Group has not provided for
doubtful debt. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The aging analysis of trade receivables that were past due but
not impaired based on the invoice date or the payment date as
stated in the respective contracts at the end of reporting date,
which approximately the respective revenue recognition date, is as
follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

27. FEWBR T R Hth FE Y TR I8

(&)

REEFELER Z BBIRRE S
RETRZAHEMERSZ A KEH
HERR IR AREREE
HEGEFRETRSREZNIA

AREBRBWERNGHTEIEHAER
B4970,499,0008c (ZE W& .
82,393,000/ 70) 2 FEURARR > ZZEER
AR EPARCEE BAEE T E
MRRHEEBEBE AEBLERZSE
EREETEEEY-

REZHHNERS BARERSKFR
2AZAMBH (BB WmESEA
HAMBIR) 252 BRI B EREZE
WERMEREC DA T ©

2025 2024

—EZRHE —EmE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHETT FHET

Within 30 days 30BR 357 687
31-60 days 31ZE60H - 681
61-90 days 61Z290H 4,290 543
Over 90 days B1890H 65,852 80,482
70,499 82,393

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on the past experience, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balance are still considered fully recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

ARE M EEHRRMEE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuep)  27. FEUREBR TR R H {th FE YK 7R 18

The movements in allowance for doubtful debts of trade
receivables were as follows:

(&)

FEWERR RERBHEBHIMT :

2025 2024

ZEZRHE —ETmE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

1 April MmBE—H 175,516 199,947
Allowance for impairment recognised RIEm D 2 REERE

in profit or loss

— continuing operations — I EKEEET 32 5,230

— discontinued operations —BAIEERE 4,321 =

Bad debts written off MidH =R - (24,957)

Exchange difference P =28 (1,531) (4,704)

31 March =A=+—H 178,338 175,516

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed on a regular
basis.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related
to customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

EERWERREFR SEBEFEE
EERZEEER UEIERZE
BRB-BRZEERBNEHREX

N 380 H 7 Ol (B 2 B IR BR RS e 4
RIS TNV > Yl

BIFHSBRAERIZRERAT 2024/255F 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses also incorporate forward looking information.

Over

30 days

Current past due
=4 30K L
HK$'000 HK$'000

27.

PR WSt Bl R B EL th FE W RR IR

(&)

FERBEREBMBREERNFEIN
BETZBIERE BEMEBWERRZ
EHEREREATIRBENREES
B-RtERGEERE BRERR
15 & LB 45 18 R 280 A KBRS B WU AR AR
DHE-BRHEEGRTEIAEEE
o

Over Over

60 days 90 days
past due past due Total

bkt #HA
60K £ 90X £ st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FAT FAET FAT TET
At 31 March 2025 RIEZRE
=ZB=+—H
Weighted average MEFEBEREEER
expected loss rate - - - 71.8% 71.6%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) RBIUt[cl & %8 (F387T) 225 357 - 248,480 249,062
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE (T - - = 178,338 178,338
At 31 March 2024 RZRIME
—B=+—H
Weighted average MNEFETEREER
expected loss rate - - - 68.4% 67.4%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) AJUk[E]E%8 (F & 7T) 2,310 687 681 256,541 260,219
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE (TET) - - - 175,516 175,516

The Group had assessed the expected credit loss on these
receivables based on the following factors:

1.

the likelihood of recovering the receivables in light of future
market conditions and related impact on these customers;

the credit risks associated with these customers by reviewing
their financial and business status;

the history of material defaults of these customers;

the collaterals (if any) from these customers; and

the length of overdue period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The allowances of impairment recognised as at 31 March 2025 are
mainly as follows:

M

In January 2023, two customers of the Group's trading
business, namely, Shenzhen Wu Feng Ying Technology Co.,
Ltd.* CRIITMEE BB AR AE) ("Wu Feng Ying”) and
Shenzhen Feng Lei Industrial Co., Ltd.* GRYIFEEZTEX£AE
fR/AE)) (“Feng Lei”), were found deregistered. All sales to
Wu Feng Ying and Feng Lei were guaranteed by Shenzhen
Shi Jia Hao Commercial Operation Co., Ltd.* CRYIFtHES
mEBE AR /AT ("Shi Jia Hao”, together with Wu Feng
Ying, Feng Lei and their respective ultimate beneficial owners
referred as the "“Defaulted Persons”). In February 2023,
Shi Jia Hao was also found deregistered. Further details are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 23 March
2023. The Group had engaged the PRC legal adviser and
initiated court proceedings against the ultimate beneficial
owners of Wu Feng Ying, Feng Lei and Shi Jia Hao (the
“Defendants”) in front of the courts located at Shenzhen.
For the civil proceedings in relation to Feng Lei (the “Feng
Lei Civil Proceedings”), the Group received a civil ruling (8
E#HTEE)from Luohu District People’s Court in Shenzhen
(FIHEPBEARER) in October 2023 adjudicating
in favor of the Group. For the civil proceedings in relation
to Wu Feng Ying, the Group proceeded the lawsuit to
Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court GEIITH R AR E
B2) in May 2024. In December 2024, the Group signed the
settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with
the ultimate beneficial owners of Wu Feng Ying and Shi Jia
Hao to agree that the ultimate beneficial owner of Shi Jia Hao
will settle the outstanding balance due from Wu Feng Ying
of approximately RMB133,298,000 by instalments until June
2027. The lawsuit to Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court
CFRYIT 4 A B AR was cancelled after the execution of
the Settlement Agreement. Having consulted with the PRC
legal adviser, the possibility of collecting overdue amounts
owed by the Defaulted Persons is subject to (i) the traceability
and possibility in enforcement of the assets or properties of
the Defendants under the Feng Lei Civil Proceedings; and (ii)
the actual performance of contractual obligations under the
Settlement Agreement by the ultimate beneficial owner of Shi
Jia Hao. Despite the courts’ judgement and the Settlement
Agreement, the Group does not have concrete information
about traceable and enforceable assets or properties of the
Defendants for the time being. Considering high uncertainty,
impairment loss on the entire amount due from the Defaulted
Persons of approximately RMB156,973,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$168,383,000) had been recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023 and remained unchanged for the year ended
31 March 2025.

27. BWER T R E fth FE IR Fh 1B

(&)

N_E_HF=RB=+—H®EIHNH
BEREFEIEZENOT:

(1

RZBE_=F—H &~&EEEH
EXmesE BFRYITRE
BREAERAT (TRER)) &
FYTREEBEEXBRAA (TR
T BWEIRAEAM -FREH
EnrEENHEEERFRYIT
HESHEEEERAT (TEE
S ERTIER RAEREEE
HNERAERBEE O HBIEOA
TNER R ZIEZ=F_7>
HESZIREWEIRBHEM &
— S HBHENEATDHEAE
TZEZRB -+ =Bk
EECEFEPBEAEBER IR
FHERERER - RAERME
SHWEREEEASA (THEA
L)) IBEFFEA - LA B R EFHFNA
(TREREFHNR) M= ~EE
A _E_ZE+RBEFRITE
He  ANRERNESEHTE &
EAEEBHF- MEERHNRESE
HFEAME AEENR T ZMF
AR BEZFEITRRARERTIZE
HeA R —_E_WE+_H K
EREAERNTESNERS
ZHEBANSENRIGE (R
) O BEHESNERELE
BEARZE-Z+EBBEDH
BEERERNMHIRERFIELOA
R #£133,298,0007T ° & ZE M R 1%
EE o AFRITHRRARERRE
FERYFREA BN EH o K585 P E VA
ZEREZ WEERHOALXEH
BEARIENASEEEBORPO)T S
B AETEFRITRERER
MEBTHEATIHNEERTE ;
RIMESZZEBAEHHEES AR
MR EETENETNERE
TIER BB AT EH FIR KT
UMBHZE ~EEERREEEH
RS AT ol B Bt K B] s 6l 81T
EEIMENERER = EE
FERAKIABEREZ  A&EHEH
EF_E_=—F#=H=+—HIL=E
ENGaEHRREMRERED
AT 2 EBRIERE DR E R B A
AR #156,973,00070 (FHE R
168,383,000/ 70) WHREHE _=
_HEEZR=+—HIEEERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(2)

One of the Group's customers under real estate related
businesses, namely, Ningbo Tiegong Real Estate Co., Ltd.*

BHRETEEABRAT) ("Ningbo Tiegong”) was filed
a winding-up petition by its creditors on the ground of
insolvency and the court appointed a manager for its
liqguidation accordingly. As at 31 March 2025, the total
amount before allowance for impairment due by Ningbo
Tiegong was approximately RMB83,142,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$89,185,000), representing (i) receivables
under building construction contracting business in amount of
approximately RMB52,008,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$55,788,000) in nature of construction debts; and (ii)
contract assets in amount of approximately RMB31,134,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$33,397,000) in nature of
construction debt. Base on the liquidation status of Ningbo
Tiegong, the result of lawsuits against Ningbo Tiegong
and the manager of liquidation, and the estimated value
of assets of Ningbo Tiegong available for liquidation, the
Group had recognised the impairment loss of approximately
RMB8,189,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,784,000)
on contract assets. For the remaining receivables due by
Ningbo Tiegong of approximately RMB74,593,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$80,401,000), taking into account (i)
their nature of construction debts which could enjoy the
priority to recover the debts and (ii) additional guarantee and
collaterals provided by the shareholder of Ningbo Tiegong,
the Directors considered that no further impairment loss is
necessary.
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(&)

()

AEBEEMEMEABEEN -2
BR B FREIEXARAT
(M= H#ET)) REEEEIH
BEREAREBRES ZFREME
FEAHBRIEE—REEBEA N
TE_REFE=ZRA=+t—H EWK
B 88 TR (B B BT AU R IB 48
#A NR83,142,0007T (HHE
FR4989,185,00058 7T) » BN()iEF
BEAREGERBTTERERME
B FE R R IE4 AR 152,008,000
7t (A E R #955,788,0005 7T)
RNVEREHEEENGHNEEY
AR 31,134,0007c (FEERLK
33,397,000 7T)  {RIBEIRE T
FUSBAR R St EFE T KB
BEBANFRGER  URER
BT EEEENGEE
AEBEMENEERDRER
BHARKS,189,000T (FEER
#98,784,000/87T) o BN BE K
TITHANRM74,593,00070 (HHE
7R 4980,401,00078 7o) FY FE W =R 1B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMFEIRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

28. ANEERGNER

LIABILITIES

2025 2024
ZE-RE ZZTE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contract assets BREE 331,422 316,254

Less: allowance for impairment of contract 8 : 8B EREEE
assets (8,784) (8,860)
322,638 307,394
Contract liabilities HHNEE (15,957) (16,029)

Movements on the Group’s allowance for
contract assets are as follows:

expected credit loss on

FERGHEERNEEHERREE

o)L

2025 2024

ZEZHE —ETE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FET

1 April mBE—H 8,860 9,354
Exchange difference PERELR (76) (494)
31 March =BA=+—H 8,784 8,860
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The outstanding balances of contract assets at 31 March 2025
represented unsettled contract prices for property projects under
the Group's building construction contracting services business, a
breakdown of which is set out as follows:

8.ANEERGNER @

S TE_HRFE=RA=+—H"

EE’H&E%E@%E%K%I%%L%@E&
BRBEFRETYEEENREES

B HERMEESIIT ¢

Gross Subsequent
carrying settlement Outstanding
amount at up to balance at
31 March 27 June 27 June
2025 2025 2025
i BHE "
ZEZRE ZETREF ZEZAREF
=H=+—H RABAZ+tH ARBZ+tH
B4R ERE B HEBESHE HREEGR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHET
Projects A, B and C IEEA~BM)C 210,824 (3,347) 207,477
Projects D and E TEEDME 62,672 (182) 62,490
Project F HEF 33,398 - 33,398
Other projects HiIgH 24,528 - 24,528
331,422 (3,529) 327,893
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Project A, B and C

In relation to these projects, the Group entered into construction
contracts with one customer who is a property developer in the
PRC. Details of these projects are set out below:

8. ANEBEERGNER W

IEHABKC

MEEBREMS  F&EBE - PE
FHEREBERFIIEZRESH &
FIRERFIBREIUT ¢

o]

Project A

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Units for sale:

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected settlement date:

Project B

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Units for sale:

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected settlement date:

Project C

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Units for sale:

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected settlement date:

Xi'an

RMB336.10 million

98,385.44 sq.meters

2,107 units (include Project B)

On sale

RMB1,663.75 million (together with
Project B)

On or before 31 January 2027

Xi'an

RMB276.52 million

58,227.17 sq.meters

2,107 units (include Project A)

On sale

RMB1,663.75 million (together with
Project A)

On or before 31 January 2027

Xi'an

RMB272.22 million
75,190.44 sq.meters
702 units

On sale

RMB715.90 million

On or before 31 January 2027

IHHA
g : gy
BAIEEE AR %336,100,0007T
BEEE 98,385.44F 75 K
SHEEM ¢ 2,107B BN (BIEEEB)
FESTiHE AR #1,663,750,0007T
SHE . (EFIBEB)
FaET4E A B _t+HFE—R
HEHR : =+—HZ A
IEEB
g : iy
BHRIEEE AR #276,520,0007T
EEBA 58,227 17F 75K
THEBM : 2,107EEM(EIIEERA)
ERIAREE TE
EEHIHE AR #£1,663,750,0007T
S8 (ERIEBA)
JEETHEE S =Ry =
HER: =+—Hm%®ZH
HHC
g : kS
BAIEEE AR #272,220,0007%
BEEA 75,190.44F 75 3K
SHE B - 70218 B8 {iL
ERIARES ¢ TE

FEFTIHE AR #715,900,0007¢
SEE .

a5t 4 A _E_tLE—R
HER : =+—HmZH
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28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Projects D and E

In relation to these projects, the Group entered into construction
contracts with another customer who is a property developer in the
PRC. Details of these projects are set out below:

Project D

Location: Xi'an
Contract sum: RMB169.93 million
Construction areas: 32,586.28 sq meters
Expected units for sale: 284 units

Current status: On sale
Expected sales amount: RMB317.88 million

Expected settlement date: On or before 31 May 2026

Project E

Location: Xi'an
Contract sum: RMB189.12 million
Construction areas: 33,291.80 sq meters
Expected units for sale: 323 units

Under construction
RMB378.46 million

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected completion date: 31 March 2025

Expected settlement date: On or before 31 May 2026

Project F

In relation to this project, the Group entered into construction
contracts with Ningbo Tiegong. The impairment analysis of this
customer is set out in note 27. Details of this project is set out
below:

Project F

Location: Ningbo
Contract sum: RMB230.50 million
Construction areas: 85,240.52 sq meters
Expected units for sale: 384 units

Current status Suspended
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

8. ANEBEERGHNER W

IHEDKE

MZFREMS  AEERES —%H
HEMEREBE R LERGY-
ZEHEEZFBEHINNT -

IEHD

g : gy

BHEEE AR %169,930,0007%

EEEAE 32,586.28F 75 K

JESHEHE 2841 B 11
BEA1 :

ERIAREE TE

FESTEHE AR %317,880,0007%
EE

TEsT4EHE RIBZRE
HEA : AA=+—HB%xzA

IEHE

g iy

BHRIEEE AR #£189,120,0007T

BEMA 33,291.80F 75 K

EEHIHE 323fE &1
B

E RIS ¢ 11

EEHIHE AR #£378,460,0007T
SEE

FEStSEAL —E"FHHF
HEA : =B=+—H

BrtEE RIEZN
HER: ARA=+—H™%ZA

IEBF

AEEENZEEEE R TIITRZ
REN - ZERZBED T EIH
27 ZEBZFHBUWT :

IEHF

g : B

BHITEE AR #230,500,0007%

EEMEAE 85,240.52F 75 K

JESHIHE 3841 B 11
BB :

ERIAREE - BE =



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Save for Project F, all other projects are currently either on sale or
under construction. As the major business partner of the property
developers, the Group’s real estate related services team provides
one-stop service to the counter parties, including construction
works which is the key part of a property project. By working
closely with the property developers (for example, the Group's
project management teams have seconded to various project sites
during the construction period), the Group could monitor the
status of the projects and the property developers. In addition,
the Group had considered the following factors in the impairment
assessment of its contract assets:

1. the PRC's governmental policies have begun a turnaround in
favor of the property sector since 2022, in terms of mitigating
the financing difficulties of the property developers and
encouraging new home buying of end users, and it is believed
that the large and/or state-owned property developers could
benefit from the effect of favourable policies first and then
the small-to-midsized property developers, including the
Group's customers;

2. the relevant projects are located in the central or prime
area of PRC cities which is one of the distinct advantages in
property sales;

3. when the property sales rebounds, the liquidity issue of these
customers will be solved or at least eased to a certain extent
and it will expedite the settlement of the Group’s contract
assets;

4. pursuant to the PRC's laws and regulations, the property
developers have to designate specific bank accounts for
receiving sales proceeds from buyers in property presale, and
cash outflow from such designated accounts are supervised
by the local government and are to be strictly utilized for
limited purposes, including settlement of constructors’ costs;
and

5. in extreme case of default in payments by these customers,
the Group, as construction contractor, has priority in being
paid by the property developers under the PRC's laws and
regulations, including taking possession of the relevant
project properties and/or application for judicial sales of the
relevant project properties.

8. ANEBEERGNER W
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ERTERE - FARMEREINEE
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BEZEE (Fl> AEBSER LB
HIEHEEEKERARKESEIER
Th) » REBAEEIEIER & F it ER
BENRR oI REBTEHES
NEEETHRENGREZTBEUTHE
=

1. BZZZTZFUR REBEE
REEHMERSARERNE R
BRImARBENESEEER
Ma@mAEMNREMETE A8
ERER/HEEEMERES
THE AR m BRI ME - 24
BETNEEMERERD SF
TERNER

2. HEEEBURTEETHONE
THME > EFEMEHENREE
2z—;

3. EFRMEHELAR ZFFR
RS ETHERSIBRRANE
DIBE—ERERER LM
REEBEGHNEENGSE ;

4. REPEEERER MERE
B REEFERIRTIRA UK
NERNYEREFNHEMS
MIE M ERERPNREM
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RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

In light of the above, taking into account the subsequent
settlements and assessment of recoverability of the contract assets,
the Directors were of the view that the contract assets as at 31
March 2025, except for the contract assets from Ningbo Tiegong
for which the impairment loss of approximately RMB8&,189,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$8,784,000) had been provided
for the year ended 31 March 2023, would be fully recoverable and
therefore no further impairment loss was recognised for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied
at end of year and expected to be recognised as revenue in:

8. ANEBEERGHNER W

BREX REBENEENE
EBEEROWEIMTFEERE EF
RENR_E_HEF=B=1+—HHA
NWEEBE_Z_=F=RB=+—
HEFEEBESFRABEENARE
8,189,000t (1HE 51 478,784,00078
7o) MERE T HENEERIN B
2HWE AEBEE_ZE-_HAFE=1
—t+—HIEFETNERDE—T RE
f518 0

REXRDEERERBHEETREH
RUTFERIBBRNIZZE

2025 2024
—E_REFE —EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET

For the year ending 31 March HE=-BA=+—HULtFE
- 2025 ——Z"RHE - 120,801
- 2026 ——Z X 141,594 108,194
- 2027 ——ZE"tEF 160,903 216,389
-2028 ——ET)N\E 96,542 161,782
- 2029 ——ZETAEF 85,815 =
- 2030 ——E=FF 52,056 =

Significant changes in contract assets and contract liabilities during

FREHNEEREGNABINERE

the year: & .
2025 2024
—E"RE 115
Contract Contract Contract Contract
assets liabilities assets liabilities
BNEE aaf BREE BHER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR FTAER TER FTET
Increase due to operations in the year FERREEEEMIEMN 72,235 - 102,734 =
Transfer of contract assets to BHEEERERKIIE
receivables (56,991) - (98,944) -
Transfer of contract liabilities to BHERERENR
revenue - 20,202 - 68,719
Consideration received BUREEFNRE
from customer - (20,130) - (69,329)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT

The pledged bank deposit as at 31 March 2024 was pledged to
bank for the purpose of securing the bank loans and carried at
fixed interest rate of 2.05% per annum.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Bank balances - trust and segregated accounts

The Group receives and holds monies deposited by clients and
other institutions in the course of the conduct of the securities and
futures brokerage business. Such monies are maintained in one
or more segregated bank accounts. The Group has recognised the
corresponding liabilities to respective external clients and other
institutions as trade payables (note 33). However, the Group does
not have a currently enforceable right to offset those payables with
the deposits placed.

Bank balances - general accounts

Bank balances and cash comprises cash held by the Group and
bank balances that are interest-bearing at prevailing market
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.30% (2024: 0.01% to
0.30%) per annum and have original maturity of three months or
less.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations or not
freely transferable:

29.

30.

B IRITF

ACE_NME=A=+—HNEBEIRM
RITEFREEBTIRT UAIRTE
TR ERYIZE EEMZE2.05%5T
Bo

IRITHERREE
IRITHEER —EE R IBILAR P

AERRETESRPEECERRF
TRMRFEZERREMEBETERZ
ME-ZEFRENFER—EANZAE
BUBIRTHRF - AEBEERFH K
BERREMEBNERERRERS
FEATBRTR (FY5E33) o AT > AEEIR
Rl L P 7 B ORI F A
IERYSRHIBITRER]

IRITHEER——MRERF

BTERERSOEAERFRFRES
FRITHEF  BIRTHBEENENTF
0.01%=E0.30% (ZZZFH4 : 0.01%
F0.30%) stE - HRFHBA=1ES
(=17 N

IRITHERRRIBE R AL AR IMNE
ERRARB AT EBREREZR
p—

2025 2024
—E"hHE —EZE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET
Amounts denominated in: Ty et EZFUIE ¢
RMB AR 7,994 31,820
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 3. BRIMERRF 2
2025 2024
—ZE-RHE TEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Loans receivables: EUWER
Secured BIEFE 40,000 40,000
Unsecured KR 306,754 358,462
346,754 398,462
Interest receivables FEUSF B 43,873 46,995
Less: allowance for impairment of loan R ER K
and interest receivables B Y B B (144,883) (133,561)
Loans and interest receivables, net R ER LT B HEE 245,744 311,896
Analysed for reporting purposes as MMSEN DA RBEE
current assets 245,744 311,896
The movements in allowance for impairment loss of loan and EWER RIS Z REBIEEFHES
interest receivables were as follows: mr
2025 2024
—E-Enf —= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 April “mA—A 133,561 126,069
Impairment loss recognised ERARERE 11,322 7,492
At 31 March R=B=+—H 144,883 133,561

196 Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2025, there were a total of 15 (2024: 15)
outstanding loans, out of which 7 (2024: 7) loans were loans
to individuals and 8 (2024: 8) loans were loans to corporations,
with principal amount per loan ranging from HK$3,101,000
(2024: HK$3,101,000) to approximately HK$40,000,000 (2024:
approximately HK$44,093,000). Loans to the largest customer and
top 5 customers constituted approximately 12% and 52% (2024:
approximately 10% and 50%) of the total outstanding principal
and interest amount of the loans respectively as at 31 March 2025.
To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors, all
these borrowers and their respective ultimate beneficial owners (in
case of corporate clients) are independent of the Company and its
connected persons (as ascribed under the Listing Rules).

The loans to individuals in aggregate amount of approximately
HK$112,388,000 (2024: approximately HK$144,282,000) are
unsecured and unguaranteed. Considering the corporation is in the
nature of limited liability, the loans to corporations in aggregate
amount of approximately HK$234,366,000 (2024: approximately
HK$254,180,000) are either secured or guaranteed. Among the
loans to corporations, one loan in the amount of HK$40,000,000
(2024: HK$40,000,000) is secured by a segregated portfolio
account of an investment fund and the remaining loans in the total
amount of approximately HK$194,366,000 (2024: approximately
HK$214,180,000) are backed by guarantees respectively provided
by individual who is the corporation’s owner or connected person
of the owner, and/or other corporation which is a related party to
the corporate borrower.

31.

ARE M EEHRRMEE

TAFZRA=+—HILFE

EREMRRHE @

A ZEHF=ZR=+—H H#£HE15
B (CEHE D 15%) ﬂifés%iéiw
Hp7&£ (T2 ZHE 7%)7%1!)6‘?
T8E(CE_INF 1 8%) AnTE
FoBEEREAETENTF3,101,0008
m(_i U4 : 3,101,000 %) =
#940,000,0008c (ZEZMF @ 4
44,093,000 7) -RZZEZHFE=H
—t+—H HERAFEERRANAL
EENERDIEERKREERE R
) BAEEELY12% /%52% (C = /N4 .
710%&50%) BBEMAM TER
i FIEZEERARKESEN
Ein\gﬁﬁ%ﬁ/\ (ﬁuﬁ,@ﬁ%ﬁ) B
YREADREBEEAL (EER L
mRAY) ©

BAERABEEL 112,388,000/ 7T
TEUUE D £144,282,0008
o) T EEERERER o ZEIAQ
BANMEABRET ABEMIEEE
#974234,366,00058 75 (& /04 !
#J254,180,000%87T) » hBEIKEN A
ERo-NBERF»—240,000,000
Bt (ZZ M4 © 40,000,000 7T)
MERITH—SZREESNE LA
ERAFRTFE MABRENEEY
194,366,000 (ZZ ZMF | 49
214,180,000 7T) v D RIHBRZA
BEE ANZEBS ABNBEALTHE
N K/ BBRZABEBRABES
BEMA TR MEIER
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31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The loans advanced to the borrowers under the Group’s money
lending business normally had loan periods from 6 to 54 months
(2024: 6 to 54 months). The loans provided to borrowers bore
interest rate ranging from 8%-15% per annum (2024: 8%-15%
per annum), depending on the individual credit evaluations of the
borrowers. These evaluations focus on the borrowers’ financial
background, individual credit rating, current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the borrowers as well
as the guarantees and/or security from the borrowers (where
necessary). The details of internal control procedures on credit risk
assessment are set out in note 8. The loans provided to borrowers
are repayable in accordance with the loan agreements, in which
the principal amounts are repayable on maturity and the interests
are repayable half-yearly, yearly or on maturity.

The following is an aged analysis of loans and interest receivables
(net of allowance for impairment), presented based on the dates
which loans are granted to borrowers and interests are accrued.

31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

FEREFEFE @

REBZEEEFETRLFERA
ZERCERBEEAESER (Z
TTUE I 6ESAER) BT ER
ANZERBENF8%UE15% 2 FF| K

ZEBNE D 8%E15%Z FFIK)
AR ORFEERAZEREE T ET
o ETEETNERAZHBES
S EAEETHR BN KR
BREFAZEINBERURKBERA
ZRER/ RIEH (WHME) -8R
B S A B9 9 SR I AR PR s 1B U M 5T
S RMFEBRAZENERBEERRD
ZEBE BERASBEENINARES
EFEESEE - SFERN I HRE

N

=e

UFBEEERARDER & F]
BHEHHZIZBRERKFE (3
PRBERRE) ZBRE DT -

2025 2024

—EZRHE —ETmE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHETT FHET

Within 90 days 90H ™A - 12,791
91-180 days 91ZE180H - 896
181-365 days 181%365H 224 1,673
Over 365 days B48365H 245,520 296,536
245,744 311,896
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2025, loans and interest receivables before
allowance for impairment of approximately HK$390,627,000
(2024: approximately HK$397,810,000) were past due. Included in
the carrying amount of the above loans and interest receivables as
at 31 March 2025, receivables of approximately HK$144,883,000
(2024: HK$133,561,000) which impairment was made based on
the expected credit loss assessed with reference to an assessment
performed by independent professional qualified valuer. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, impairment of approximately
HK$11,322,000 (2024: HK$7,492,000) has been made for loans
and interest receivables of which the related credit risks increased.
The Group assessed the credit risks associated with loan and
interest receivable of each borrower by assigning the credit rating
with reference to the repayment track record, the financial position
and market benchmark to compute the impairment ratio (or
expected credit loss ratio). Details are as follows:

3. EINEFKRFE @@

A _E_HEZARAZ=Z+—H Kk
BEEEBEN Z2EBRER KR EDN
390,627,000 (ZEZHE © 4
397,810,000 ) ERAH - R ZE
THEHE=ZRB=+—H LHEKE
AEMEZEDEGIERKRHRIE
#144,883,0008 7 (ZE_MF :
133,561,000 7T) ' 2R EREE
BUSXCERGEEMET ZTME
st B EEBBERRE-
RBEEZFT_AF=H=+—HI
FEECEMEREREMEEHR
B4911,322,0008c (ZE W& .
7,492,000 7t) » HiERE1E &5 BB 1T
MeAEBE2EZERTELHE BB
KRR HiEE % HREETFRTE
ZEFANEBRET M ENHEBEE
B LGTERER (NFBHEERFIE
) oFEIBWT ¢

Impairment Impairment loss Impairment

loss as at recognised/ loss as at

Interest Impairment 1 April (reversed) 31 March

Principal receivables 2024 for the year 2025
RZE-RE g 3

mE-A ERE®RE/ =A=+-AH

Borrowers fAmA ¥ R HER HEGR (RE) AEGSR HEHR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TER TER TER TER

(a) (b) © (d (e)=()-(d) (f)=(a+b) x ¢

Category A 8 63,628 5,243 100% 68,871 - 68,871
Category B B 79,336 4803 43.5%-48.3% 45,337 (7,243) 38,094
Category C € 203,790 33827 31%175% 19,353 18,565 37,918
133,561 11,322 144,883
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

3. EINEFKRFE @@

Impairment loss

Impairment loss

recognised/  Impairment loss

Interest Impairment as at 1 April (reversed)  as at 31 March

Principal receivables ratio 2023 for the year 2024

RIBZ=F RIBZME

mAE—A FRERE:D —A=+—H

Borrowers EEON piN A S HEE HESE (BE)AESE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FET TAET TET TET

@ (b) (© (d) (e)=(f)-(d) (f=(a+b) x ¢

Category A A 63,628 5,243 100% 68,871 = 68,871
Category B B#E 79,336 4,803 46.0%-60.1% 44,116 1,221 45,337
Category C € 255,498 36,949 1.2%-14.8% 12,423 6,930 19,353
Category D DE - - N/A REF 659 (659) =
126,069 7,492 133,561

In computing the impairment ratio (or expected credit loss ratio),

the Group performed the following procedures:

(a) to identify categories of loans and interest receivables with
the same or similar credit risks by considering the following

factors:

(1) whether the borrower and guarantor (if applicable) is in
bankruptcy and/or has ceased the operation in case of

corporate client;

(2) whether the borrower has settled the principal and/or

interest during the year;

(3) whether the principal has been defaulted;

(4) whether the borrower can provide supporting
documents to demonstrate its or his solvency;

(5)  whether the borrower is a public figure; and

(6) whether the borrower can provide other indications of

recoverability.
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

31. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The main characteristic of each category is as follows:

Category A:

Category B:

Category C:

Category D:

Borrower(s) and guarantor (if applicable) have
been in bankruptcy and/or ceased the operation
in case of corporate client.

Borrower(s) defaulted the principal repayment
upon maturity and could not provide supporting
documents to demonstrate its or his solvency.

Borrower(s) defaulted the principal repayment
upon maturity but could be able to provide
supporting documents to demonstrate its or his
solvency or is a public figure.

Borrower(s) did not default the principal
repayment upon maturity and had settled some
principal and/or interest during the year.

(b) to estimate the expected settlement date of each borrower;

(c) to assess a loss given default of the respective categories;

(d) to assess the probability of default rates of each borrower;

(e) to adjust the probability of default rates by forward-looking
factors such as the GDP movements; and

(f)  to compute impairment ratio (or expected credit loss ratio)
after considering the discount factor for impairment loss

assessment.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the amount of
HK$3,000,000 (2024: approximately HK$3,100,000) were settled.
The remaining past due amount of approximately HK$242,744,000
(2024: approximately HK$261,149,000) are due from several
borrowers with whom the Group is negotiating practicable
repayment terms and schedules. Accordingly, the Directors
considered that no further impairment loss is necessary. Save for
the aforesaid secured loans, the Group does not hold collateral
over other balances.

3. EINEFKRFE @@

BEMEBHHOT

AR MREEFR BMARE
RA (WMBRA) BERER,
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RIEHREZ > 2 %83,000,0008 5T
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

32. OTHER LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

32 Hfth B E R KR F S

2025 2024
ZEZRE —TuE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Other loan receivables: HuhfEWER :
— Advance to third parties (Note) —BEHE=HEBR ¢ 6,382 6,492
Less: allowance for impairment B OBE RS (1,245) =
5,137 6,492
Other loan interest receivables: HifalERAE :
— Advance to third parties —MBE=FBM 3,702 3,734
Analysed for reporting purposes as current  FhERE B DR E E
assets 8,839 10,226
The movement in allowance for impairment loss of other loans and HMEWER RN E Z BEBIBEE
interest receivables were as follows: EEIWT -
2025 2024
—E"RE TR TOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At 1 April REAE—H = S
Impairment loss recognised ERARERE 1,254 =
Exchange difference ERE%E (9) =
At 31 March W=B=+—H 1,245 -
Note: MIEE -

The Group advanced RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,436,000)
to a corporation, an independent third party in the PRC, with the interest rate of
8% per annum. The advance is secured by 50% shareholding in the corporation
and guaranteed by the individual shareholder of the corporation and should have
been repaid in 2021. During the year, the amount of RMB50,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$54,000) was settled. The Group is currently negotiating with
the corporation for practicable repayment terms and schedule for the remaining
balance of RMB5,950,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,382,000). Since
the other loan receivable has been past due for several years with only a limited
settlement, in the opinion of Directors, an impairment loss of approximately
RMB1,161,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,254,000) was made based on
the credit risk assessed.
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33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

ARE M EEHRRMEE

33. FEfIRRAR B E Ath & (4 "R IE

2025 2024
ZEZRE —EIE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET
Trade payables arising from securities and REBSFRPERCER ZEN
futures brokerage business IR 3,899 4,013
Trade payables arising from property KA ERL A ETS 2 FETIRRR
brokerage business 1,432 436
Trade payables arising from geothermal HERRE ZE TSP 4 2 IR T BR X
energy business 30,641 48,827
Trade payables arising from centralised ERHARERFIESE ZETRM
heating business 66,401 62,094
Trade payables arising from building BFRRAKEEBMELEZEN
construction contracting business IR 256,220 239,676
Accrued charges FESTE R 14,813 15,119
Consideration payables B RIE 6,000 18,000
Advance from subcontractor REDBEEENR 73,629 92,930
Trust loans interest payable B EEERFE 50,957 28,644
Other payables Hih e I8 62,583 62,957
566,575 572,696

The Group's trade payables arising from securities and futures
brokerage business include margin clients and cash clients with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$3,888,000 and HK$11,000
respectively (2024: approximately HK$4,003,000 and HK$10,000
respectively).

For trade payables arising from the securities and futures brokerage
business, no aging analysis is disclosed for the Group’s margin and
cash clients as these clients were carried on an open account basis,
the aging analysis does not give additional value in the view of the
nature of business of securities brokerage.

For trade payables arising from property brokerage business, no
aging analysis is disclosed as the Group is yet to receive invoices
at the end of the reporting period. The payables is accrued based
on the monthly statements agreed with the respective agents.
According to the relevant agency contracts, the invoices will be
billed in the following month and the settlement terms is within 3
business days from the invoices date.

NEBREESRPERLET -
FRAEEFEEARRETEZE
FERFN  BREE D 5 %93,888,0007 7T
F211,0008 7T (ZE-WE 938
4,003,00078 75 % 10,0007 7T) ©

MARBRBFRIPESLEFT BN
MME BRAERFRRREER
TR ERRPEZES|R BERNE
REEHBZ2EE RESFTLESLT
BIMEE HEAERTEREZEER
R ZAREC DA o

MYECLEFTEEZRMARRM
EoHERAEER KRS HRE KK
IR B AR B AR DA o RAURRIE
EENERETRAGERS - RE
HENESN ERFREBERA M
BREEHAERRARE=EZ%
B
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For the year ended 31 March 20258 F —&F - hF=H=+—HIFFEZ
33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

For trade payables arising from geothermal energy business,
centralised heating business and building construction contracting
business, they are mainly accrued and settled based on the
progress of performance and the settlement obligation as
stipulated in the respective contracts. The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled
within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables from
geothermal energy business, centralised heating business and
building construction contracting business presented based on the
invoice date and/or the settlement obligation as stipulated in the
respective contracts at the end of the reporting period:

33.

P& A iR 7R e EL fth F& {9 "R IR

(&)

PMBAEES ERHAEZBRET
BRADEFRMELE ZEBMNRRM
B HIBRBRNEERERGHS]
Rz BEEERFRER KEEF]
BEMHRREEBRURRTA BN
MEDLREERBERNGES -

UTRRBREHARKEMBAEERS
ETHAEBREFTERRKEEBZ
ENRRRERLSAKR EFEHR
SJRZBEEE2YMRE D

Building

Geothermal Centralised construction

energy heating  contracting

2025 —E-REF business business business
BFEE

MEREET SEhHHAER REEF

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000

FHT FHET FHET

Within 30 days 30HA 47 - 8,461
31-60 days 31&260H 268 - 2,789
61-90 days 61£290H - - 430
Over 90 days #BiE90H 30,326 66,401 244,540
30,641 66,401 256,220

Building

Geothermal Centralised construction

energy heating contracting

2024 —EuE business business business
BFER

MEBEZETS SEPHMAER e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET TFET

Within 30 days 30 80 5,230 901
31-60 days 31260H 15 9,621 -
61-90 days 61290H 17 4,742 20,868
Over 90 days 838901 48,715 42,501 217,907
48,827 62,094 239,676
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For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ

34. LEASE LIABILITIES 3. HE&EE
Lease payments Present value of lease payments
HE I HEMMAE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—EZERE “ETTE ZEZhE i 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TER TAT TERT
Lease liabilities comprise: HEAEGE:
Within one year —ER 4,798 5,605 4,569 5,095
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEFRE
(BEERRE) 1,547 6,430 1,526 6,176
Less: Future finance charges B ARRHEER (250) (764) = =
Present value of lease liabilities HEARRAE 6,095 11,271 6,095 11,271
Less: Amount due for settlement BRTZEAR
within twelve months HBREZEE
(shown under current liabilities) (RREEEE TR (4,569) (5,095)

Amount due for settlement after R+_@B%

twelve months BBz 1,526 6,176
At 31 March 2025, the average effective borrowing rate ranged RZEZ_HEF=A=+—H F¥HE
from 5% to 6% (2024: 5% to 12%). BEEENF5%E6% (ZETIUFE .

5%%E12%) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

35.

36.

DEFERRED TAX

At 31 March 2025, the Group has estimated unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$761,104,000 (2024: approximately
HK$702,023,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of estimated
unutilised tax losses (2024: nil) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

The estimated unutilised tax losses of approximately
HK$557,024,000 (2024: approximately HK$549,123,000) may be
carried forward against future taxable income indefinitely under
the current tax legislation in Hong Kong.

The estimated unutilised tax losses attributable to subsidiaries
in the PRC amounted to approximately HK$204,080,000 (2024:
approximately HK$160,674,000) that will expire within five years
from the end of the reporting period.

Other than the estimated unutilised tax losses, the Group had
no other unrecognised deductible temporary difference as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries (31 March 2024: nil) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

TRUST LOANS

35. IRIEFR I

A—E_REZA=+—H F~£H
AR R KGR 2 Gt RE B
MBEIEAA761,104,0008 T (T
ZPU4E : #9702,023,00057T) o R R
AETERIB B ZHEA AR A EE L
ER AT RSN EERDIELER
BHEE(CZMME . F) o

et R AR R 1RAI557,024,00078
7T (ZZTZPU4E © 49549,123,00078 7T)
RIESBRTR LT ERBEE Y
IR R R AER TR WA ©

FBRPEKB AN RE B
P E18 A 49204,080,0008 75 (&
T4 £9160,674,00058 7T) 0 B
EHRERERNE R

BRESFABRARBHERIN - RZT
THERZZFZNEF=ZA=1t—H"
7 5= [ 0 S HL A R BE SR AT FO R B A=
LED

REFHEEEMBHREZ BTN
F-RB—HiEE BIREBITRETREH

MEBABMFENZEIKKRE BRI
EE A IE T B R £ 88 2 BRIKRE
BEEREBRAETGR D] RRRE
B WEMRBRTENB AR RE
i ) 2 B A R BV AR AE AR TR A R L AR
EMBRRFHEE CEHNE=
A=+—H:®-

36.SsEE™

2025 2024

ZEZhHEF —ETNE

HK$000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Trust loans—secured EEEM—BIKHR 214,537 216,389
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For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ

36. TRUST LOANS (CONTINUED)

On 19 February 2020, the Group entered into the trust loan
agreements with an independent third party to obtain loans with
principal amounts of RMB200,000,000 in aggregate which carry a
fixed interest rate of 12% per annum and is repayable by March
2022. The Group received loan proceeds of RMB198,000,000
in March 2020, net of 1% of loan principal amounts (i.e.
RMB2,000,000) which is required by the relevant rules and
regulations to be invested in the trust protection fund in the PRC.
The loan proceeds were intended to be used for the acquisition of
the entire equity interest in Beijing Yuehai Enterprise Management
Co., Ltd* (It EBELEEZIEBMRAF)and enhancing the
general working capital. The repayment date of the trust loans
was extended to March 2023 according to the first supplemental
agreements entered in June 2022. In June 2023, the Group
entered into the second supplemental agreements pursuant to
which the overdue interest of approximately RMB24,000,000 shall
be repaid by 31 July 2023, the partial principal of RMB30,000,000
and accrued interest thereon by 31 October 2023, the partial
principal of RMB70,000,000 and accrued interest thereon by 31
December 2023 and the remaining principal of RMB100,000,000
and accrued interest thereon by 31 March 2024. The Group had
settled the overdue interest of approximately RMB24,000,000 as
agreed during the year ended 31 March 2024 while the principal
and accrued interests thereon had not been repaid upon maturity
on or before 31 March 2024. Up to the date of this report, the
Group is still negotiating with the lender for extension of loan
period. Pursuant to the trust loan agreements (as amended and
supplemented), the trust loans are secured by pledging of (i)
100% shareholding of Jiangsu Meili Kongjian Construction Design
Development Co., Ltd* CIBAEREEEERSAEXZLEEBRL
&) ("Jiangsu Meili Kongjian”) and 70% shareholding of Baoshihua
Geothermal Energy Development Co., Ltd.* (EG{E#tBARER A
BR/AE)) (“Baoshihua Geothermal Energy”), (i) the land use right
held by Jiangsu Meili Kongjian and any constructions thereon; and
are guaranteed by (i) Jiangsu Meili Kongjian, and (ii) irrevocable
corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

SEEM®

A TETEFR AR AERA
—%5%4% FEIMEsEERBEMN
BAEEAEE ARK200,000,000
T REEEMNEK12%TERARZ
T -HBEEENER - K~EER
RIEZEE=-FWMEBERMER
8 A R #198,000,0007T (&H1B&1%4E
FARAAEREEBRENRFPEEER
EESHI%ERATE (BDARE
2,000,00070)) e ERFTERIER AR
WREIRESCEEEERATZE
HRERIEA—REEEE - BER
CE T TERABIUNE—DER
ZOEERNERHBEREE
TZEZR R IE=ZFE,A K
EEUSE M ERmE Bk EBR
—EC—FtB=+—HAEERAH
FMEHNANRME24,000,00070° P&
—_=Ft+A=1+—HAEBEIDEKE
AR #30,000,0007T % 8 FE B9 FE 5t 7]
B RIEZ=F+ZBA=+—H#l
EEInAE ARME70,000,00070 K
HEENESFE  UERZEME
—A=+—HEEBERGAS ARE
100,000,000t K AEFEBY FE 51 7] B o 7%
EEERBE_E_NE=AB=+—
HIEFEEZpBRBEEARNENAR
#24,000,00070 > MRS R ESTFIE
BMAR_Z_ME=A=+—H=zx >
FIEIfEE BEARSHE &E
ENTEAKBEAEEEREERAR-
*E%}f{;a EXtE (RETRER)
EERERI)IGEEEHER
.ﬂnﬂX%?éEﬁBE’&a (BIgFEET
M) 100%B% #E K2 B8 A 16 3h 24 55 B &%
BRAT (TELEM AL ) 70%%
1> Re(ii)) T B8R = RE 25 B P i3 £ #h 58 7B
BRE EEAREERER; WAG)T
BRERTH  R(iVEAATRMEHN AT
BEIARE R HIER
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37.SHORT TERM LOANS 37. 59 HAE R
2025 2024
—ZE-RHE TEE
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Short term loans: FRHRER

— Secured — Bk - 2,613
— Unsecured (Note (i) & (i) — IR (M E) Rz (i) 64,191 14,637
64,191 17,250

Notes: FEE

38.

(i)

The Group entered into unsecured short term loan agreements with
independent third parties to obtain loans with principal amounts of
approximately RMB56,719,000 (approximately HK$60,841,000) in
aggregate, for which loan amounts of approximately RMB54,719,000
(approximately HK$58,696,000) are interest-free and repayable
on demand, while loan amounts of RMB2,000,000 (approximately
HK$2,145,000) (the "Overdue Loan") is carried a fixed interest rate of 6%
per annum and should have been repaid in June 2022. As at the date of
this report, the Group is still negotiating with the lender about practicable
repayment schedule for the Overdue Loan.

In addition to the abovementioned unsecured short term loans, the
Company also entered into unsecured short term loan agreement with
a shareholder during the year to obtain loan with principal amount of
HK$3,300,000, which carried a fixed interest rate of 4% per annuum and
repayable in November 2025 (“Shareholder Loan"”). The Shareholder Loan
together with accrued interest thereon has been settled subsequent to the

() FAEBHRBIF=HTULELTFEH
EXtE UREASEEENARE
56,719,0007T (4960,841,000# 75) W& »
Heh#y AR ¥#54,719,0007T (458,696,000
BT NERARERBREREIE MA
R #2,000,0007T (492,145,00038 7T) I E
(MR ER) REZERNX6%st A
BER-ZZT - AHEE -REREH
B AEENEAZREABSBHEER
IR TE SR REIR

(i BREMERFRBEERII FATRER
R—L BRI EIRBEHERBS
LUER {8 4% 3,300,00058 T E R Z B
BREEEFRINF ERBR_S_RHE
+—BEE ((RRER) -BREERER
BEEAFBEERREHEREN S A

end of the reporting period in April 2025. FEPF LB
BANK LOANS 38. IRITEM

2025 2024

—EZRE —EUE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Bank loans — secured IRTER—FEM 19,308 99,539
The secured bank loans are secured by (i) the corporate guarantee Fﬁﬁié%ig%ﬁ%ﬁé(ﬁ(_)iﬁgﬁigg
rovided by an independent third party, (i) personal guarantee of a € R B PIIR TR, (1)28 2 Bl T I
P Y P party, 1 p " BARESNEARR ;(i)SERR

director of certain subsidiaries of the Company; (iii) the investment
properties held by the Group and (iv) corporate guarantee provided
by a subsidiary of the Company.

The bank loans are repayable within one year which carry fixed
interest rates ranged from 3.0% to 4.9% (2024: 3.7% to 5.0%)

per a

nnum and are dominated in RMB.
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39. SHARE CAPITAL 39. i 4~
Number Number of Share Share
of shares shares capital capital
RH®E B & E i [EEN
2025 2024 2025 2024
“E°RE “ETE “EZRE “ETNE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FERT FTAET TER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 BREEIBT (CE_ME
(31 March 2024: HK$0.1) ZA=+—R:01%Em 2
each EBER
Authorised: EE
At 1 April and 31 March REBE—-RAK=B=+—H 25,000,000 25,000,000 2,500,000 2,500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
At 1 April REA—A 2,091,501 1,525,285 209,150 152,529
Issue of rights shares (Note) BATHRRG (D) = 566,216 = 56,621
At 31 March R=ZB=+—H 2,091,501 2,091,501 209,150 209,150

Note: On 21 September 2023, the Company completed a rights issue of
566,216,052 shares at a price of HK$0.16 each per share with gross
proceeds of approximately HK$90,594,000 of which approximately

HK$56,621,000 was credited to share capital and approximately
HK$33,973,000 was credited to share premium account. Details of the
Rights Issue were set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 24 August
2023 and the announcement dated 21 September 2023.

et RZE2EZ=FABZ+—H K28
FRR0.16BTHIBIRTEMS566,216,0520%
A% FR1S TRIB 4238 4 4990,594,0008
7t H P 4956,621,00058 o5t AR 49
33,973,000/ 75t A B (D i ERR - B B
BNEEENAATEHAZSI =N\
B+ HBEMNHERERERAHRA-Z =
FABZ+—HMAL-
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 1 September 2021, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2021 Scheme”) under which the Board may at its
discretion offer to any Director (including non-executive Director),
employee, suppliers, customers, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to the
Group, shareholders of any member of the Group or any entity
in which the Group holds an equity interests and any other
group or classes of persons or entities who have contributed or
may contribute to the development and growth of the Group
("Participants”) to subscribe for shares in the Company in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Scheme. The principal
purpose of the 2021 Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards for
the Participants’ contributions to the Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2021 Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2021 Scheme, unless a refresh approval from the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained. However, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
2021 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

The subscription price of the option shares granted under the 2021
Scheme shall be a price to be determined by the Directors being
not less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value
of a share.

The total number of shares issued and may be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to any individual under the 2021 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

The 2021 Scheme does not contain any requirement of a minimum
period and the Board may in its absolute discretion impose a
minimum period requirement for each option granted on a case by
case basis.
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40. BB R tEEt &l

AZEZ—FNA—HB > AR B
BREE (T2 —5513)) »
b EFERTNEREMES (B1E3F
WITES) EE-HER -FR -EAX
EEREAE - BEREMEMEIE
ZRARMALTHER - AEBTAHE
RNEIZKREAAEBFEEAREZF
MEBURAREREZERERER
SEHEMZEMEMARIER >
ATHERE (128E) Z2BERE
IR B - —F ot 8 2 ERBE KR
NBEZRH B —FHBFE
ENTERSB N ERSH2EAEARER
EHERL o

RARE T - —F5 28 RERAFEM
HMtBEREA SR TIRHEZMEBR
BETEMAEET ZRBESE &
BBBERM_S _—F=t8 AR
SEETRAEZI10%  EEERAT
B ER B RTHLE R BRI o 23T AIRR —
T —FHE A RBEEAEMBR
B EIRHBR FITEMRITEZR
EREREETERUEZTZRMN R
BHE aRABBBAAABDREE
BT 230% ©

RE-T - —Fst8REZBRER
MZRBEBERAREFTEEZER T
BERUT=EPESE ()R ELH
Bl (AREXD EMXFISARER
PRREARBRKRMDZWHE (IHRE
BREBHMAAARZ BEMIE
HIRBERFARAEQT RN ZFHUWS
8 ik zmEe

RIFHBH (8#E%H) ELEA+ 2@
BHEXN ARE_ZEZ_-_—F:t8 K
RABEAEMBEREST BT FEMA
BAZEREETEMmMEITROIESR
TZRMHBE RIRHHBAEBA
BETRMHZ1%-

TEC-Fr3UEHAEAREH
RzBRE MEEHTE2ENBERE
REFEHR -FAIRHUSHEREZ
REFEHRETRIBRETE -
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For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The 2021 Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing from the effective date of the 2021 Scheme to 2
September 2031, after which no further options will be granted
but the options which are granted during the life of the 2021
Scheme may continue to be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of issue and the provisions of the 2021 Scheme shall in all
other respects remain in full force and effect in respect thereof.

Options granted under the 2021 Scheme must be accepted within
21 days after the date of grant. Upon acceptance of the option,
the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for
the grant.

On 28 April 2022, 90,000,000 share options have been granted to
six employees and five consultants of the Group. As at 31 March
2025, these six employees and two consultants remained in the
Group (2024: six employees and two consultants).

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options granted under 2021 Scheme during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

ARE M EEHRRMEE

TAFZRA=+—HILFE

40. BB AR EEHE @

—E T —FHERBREZEZ—F5TE
Exﬁaﬁﬁti_vz—iﬂﬁ E|JJ:
TERN—BEAERO LEBRFEIAGE—F
?ﬁﬂjﬁ%lﬂyfé’lﬁﬁ\_v_—fﬁﬁr Ellped
%E,HHF'Eﬁ?xﬁZE%EﬂET*E?FE’%ﬁﬂm

TEEFUTFE B - —F:t8
Zﬂ/\XT_ﬁﬁEHﬂﬂEEi’:M%%—i—E%Z
JIRAERB °

BEZZT - —FFr8IRE 2 BRES
PO H HEAE2 1 R 424 o ﬁf%;z%ﬁﬁ%
RER ) KEANBARAT G178
o R EREREZ B

W_E__FMWA-_+NH'»=&
%@/\%1@5\&35%@3%3%?2%
90,000,000 ERE - BE_ZT_H
F=HB=+—8H" “i%/\%fga&ﬁﬁ
ZEEEMBEAER (T2 ME X
ZEEKRMALEER) o

TREBBE_ZE_AFAREM
FZA=+—HLEFERE-T_—
FEERENARRBERENEEE
P

BE_ESE_RSE=-H=+—HLEEE

Number of share options
BRiER
Adjusted Outstanding Forfeited/ Outstanding
exercise price as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
per share 1 April during during during 31 March
Grantees Date of grant Exercisable period (Note ii) 2024 the year the year the year 2025
Sk k-2
LREERRN R-ERoRE =R=+-A
A RHAH i frfE@ (Witi) MA-BHXGE EREH ERAE  ERRK/ KR WA
HKS
BT
Employees 28 April 2022 28 April 2022-27 April 2028 (Note i) 0.7194 33,361,134 - - - 33,361,134
&8 - S = “BCCEMAZTNRE
mAZ+/NH ZZD)\EMBZTER (M)
Consultants 28 April 2022 28 April 2022-27 April 2028 (Note i) 0.7194 16,680,568 - - - 16,680,568
Ef -3 “B_TERAZTNRE
mAZ+NH S N\EMAZA ()
Total 50,041,702 - - - 50,041,702
)
Exercisable at the end 20,016,680
of the year
REXTFR —
Weighted average HK$0.7194 HK$0.7194
exercise price
METHHRE 0.7194%7 0.719%%7
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2024

40. BB H#EETE (@
HE_Z_NE=RA=1+—HLFE

Number of share options

BRERE
Adjustment
to number
of share
Adjusted options due Outstanding
exercise price Outstanding to Rights Granted Exercised Forfeited/ a at
per share asat 1 April Issue during the during the Lapsed during 31 March
Grantees Date of grant Exercisable period (Note i 2023 (Note ii year year the year 2024
RIB_ME
EERSREN RZFZZERA  RERSZER ZA=t+-H
EBA =l T IR@E ) —HEXTE  EEE () EREL EnfTfE ERRN/XH HAE
HKS
#7
Employees 28 April 2022 28 April 2022-27 April 2028 (Note i) 0.719% 30,000,000 3,361,134 - - 33,361,134
&8 g ZZTCEMAZTNEE
MEZ+AB  ZEN\EMAZFE ()
Consultants 28 April 2022 28 April 2022-27 April 2028 (Note i) 0.719% 60,000,000 6,722,269 - (50,041,701) 16,680,568
B St 4 ZRICEMAZNBE
TmAZ+AR ZZZN\EBAZtLR (M)
Total 90,000,000 10,083,403 - (50,041,701) 50,041,702
)
Exercisable at the end 10,008,340
of the year
RERFTE
Weighted average HKS0.80 HK$0.7194 HKS$0.7194
exercise price
mETsiTRe 0807 0.719%4%7 0719457
Notes: (i)  Subject to the Board’s absolute discretion to change the vesting MizE: () fERIEE MEERIEIRLIZMBIER
period of the share options granted to the relevant employees in HENE200%FRBEHEHBENESEE
the event of termination of employment of the relevant employees, FHEB BEZSHERELTRES
every 20% of the share options granted to and accepted by Al EHEREEFABSRE &S
the relevant employees and consultants shall be vested on each BrR2ENIEENEMEEEEE
anniversary of the date of grant until such share options are fully BRI BT HA o
vested.
(i) As a result of the Rights Issue which was completed on 21 (il HBRERR-Z2Z=FhLAZ+—

September 2023, the exercise price of the share options was
adjusted from HK$0.80 to HK$0.7194 under the 2021 Scheme
and the supplementary guidance regarding adjustment of share
options under Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rule. The number of
shares of the Company that will fall to be issued upon exercise of
the outstanding share options were also adjusted accordingly.

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 6 years from the
date of grant, the options will expire. Options are forfeited if the
employee/consultants leave the Group.

Hong Kong Robotics Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024/25

Bef BB _E_—F8xktH
FHASE17.0313) KB T ERIFAERE
IR ETRIES] > BIRENITEES
0.8078 AR A0.71948 o IR IM K
TEEREETERATETNE
ABIRNEBINEABERE

fid B H B FE RN ARITERBER
o RBREREISN - MES B
PSR RIBRER UL -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The binomial option pricing model was used to estimate the fair
value of the share options. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the
independent professional valuer's best estimate. The value of a
share option varies with different variables and certain subjective
assumptions. The estimated fair value of the share options on their
respective grant dates or the vested dates (as the case may be) are

40. IR HEETE

“ERAHEEEREEANGESER
BZAFE -FEBREQATEFRA
ZEERRBRRIENBILEEGEM
ZREMGF -BREZEBETHAEST
FEENRETIBERRMED - BR
BREEZREBHARNBELN (RIS
RME) ZEEtAFENT -

as follows:
Fair value on
Share option type Grant date grant date
g ] EHAEH RIEHBBHZATE
Employees 28 April 2022 0.34-0.36
/=] 2 HFMWAZ+N\H
Fair value on
Vested date vested date
BEE REBANRZATE
Consultants 28 April 2025 0.10
Eaf “E2THFEMABEZ+N\RE
28 April 2024 0.03
“Z2AFEMAEZ+N\HE
Share option type
fERg LR EY
Employees
EE
Share price on grant date RiEHHBZRE HK$0.80
0.8078 7T
Exercise price on grant date RIEHHBZITHEE HK$0.80
0.8078 7T
Volatility Al 49%
Post vesting forfeit rate FEERUWE 14%-21%
Expected life TAEtF 8 6 years
64F
Risk-free rate A A = 2.59%
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

40. IR HEETE

Share option type
fER R Ry

Consultants

L

Vested on Vested on

28 April 2025 28 April 2024

AT _RE ATETHE

mA—+NAH mA—+/A\H

7 B 7 B
Daily average price from e _g_ﬂﬁﬂﬁ +A\BZE
28 April 2024 to 27 April 2025/ “ErFEAZ+HEHS
28 April 2023 to 27 April 2024 “E=FEAZ+HNHE

TETMFEMAT+EHZ HK$0.30 HK$0.20

S HFEHES 0.30% 7T 0.20%87T

Exercise price on vested date RER B HHNTTEE HK$0.7194 HK$0.7194

0.7194%E 7T 0.7194%8 7T

Volatility Al 80% 57%

Post vesting forfeit rate IRl S 0% 0%

Expected life TEET AR 3.5 years 4.5 years

3.54F 455

Risk-free rate R A = 3.07% 3.55%

Volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the
Company with the trading history commensurate with the time
frame of expected time to maturity.

The Group recognised share-based payments expense of
approximately HK$2,025,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025
(2024:HK$3,036,000) in relation to the share options granted by

the Company.

Bz 1 B

RIBRIBERAEATNELKIBME
T HERZELETES

B RA R EIAR A o

BE_Z_AE=ZR=+—HL
EE FAEERFTRATDERHNE
BUR MG A E RN R

% %92,025,0008 7T (ZE _MWE .
3,036,000 7T) ©
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ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group enrolled all Hong Kong employees in the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 (31
March 2024: HK$1,500) per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which
the contribution is matched by employees.

The Group's subsidiaries operating in the PRC participate in
defined contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant
local government authorities in the PRC. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of its payroll costs
to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
schemes is to make the specified contributions under these
schemes.

The total costs charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of approximately HK$6,143,000
(2024: HK$8,336,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(a) During the year, Shenzhen Rongjinda Equipment Leasing
Co., Ltd.* (RIITRESEREEEBRAQE) ("Rongjinda”)
(formerly known as Rongjinda Finance Lease Company
Limited* (MM ZEMEMEBRAF)) failure to fulfill
regulation requirements of operating finance leasing business
and was demanded by the government authority to amend its
business scope for prohibition of such operation. Accordingly,
the Group discontinued its finance leasing business.

Rongjinda is a reportable segment of the Group - finance
leasing. This segment engages in finance leasing of plant
and machinery as well as providing consultancy services
with respect of finance leasing in the PRC. This segment is
separately reported with the comparative figures restated
accordingly.

41.

42.

BAREFETE

AEBEAEBEESEEESERES
e RESHE v EERAAERE
EXPRFEAE THSEAUESERX
PEl o ANE IR AR F AL AR Z25%
BHEERSEH1,5008 T (ZE
“HEZB=+—H : 1,500%87T) [
BESHEFHMER BES ZHA
HHHE o

FEERRPEEEZNBRAT2HER
rp B AR B 75 BT BB PT E M 2 fE E R
FORRET B o 2 F M 2~ B A
PR A Z 35 TE B 70 tE B R KR A 5t 8 7F
R HER - AEBERIKE
M8l Tz -—SERFHZS
BIEEZHR -

EEGeERKEMEEWE RN
ZHARR AR #96,143,0008 T (Z=2 =M
£ 18,336,000/ 7T) IEAEENAY
BN A

BARIEER

(@ FM R)mRTERBEEES
RAE (TREE) FIERTE
MEBEERRAF) REBTH
EMEHEEBNEEER ®
TR ERENHEKCERE
RIEABEE HIL AEEK
IFEREHEEER-

MEEARER RS-
EHE -Z DB R PERERE
REGSMERAEURLEBREMR
ERHEBRB 2O BEBR
T WHEE LR F -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

42.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 42. BRRIEETRE @
(@) (Continued) (a) &
The results of the discontinued operations (finance leasing) HEZZE-HRF=-_BA=+—HIk
for the year ended 31 March 2025, which have been included FEBSAGLSETNBERIEE
in consolidated profit or loss, are as follows: % (MERE 280T
2025 2024
ot Tk 7 —= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue: EES LN
— Consultancy income from finance leases —RIEFREEERT WA - =
Operating costs: KERA
— Cost of providing consultancy income —EHRMEREEMRA
from finance leases B9 AR s = =
Other income Hang A 714 4,398
Administrative and other expenses TBREMSZ (186) (670)
Staff costs =% (288) (539)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNB ARz Wam - 205
Share of loss of associates DEBERBEE - 9)
Impairment loss on finance lease FEW R B ERIBE R EEE
receivables = (4,337)
Impairment loss on trade and other & WSt BR R R EL M FE WL R IE
receivables HEEE (4,321) =
Loss before tax PRI AIESE (4,081) (952)
Income tax expense PRSI = =
Loss for the year FRNEIE (4,081) (952)
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For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

42. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

In January 2024, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with an independent third party to dispose 93%
equity interest in Jet Air (Singapore) Private Limited (“Jet
Air Singapore”) at a consideration of SGD1 (approximately
HK$6). The disposal was completed on 16 January 2024
and the Group ceased to hold interest in Jet Air Singapore.
Upon completion of the disposal transaction, the Group
discontinued its international air and sea freight forwarding
services.

Jet Air Singapore is a reportable segment of the Group -
international air and sea freight forwarding services. This
segment engages in the provision of international air and
sea freight forwarding and logistic services to customers
in Singapore. This segment is separately reported with the
comparative figures restated accordingly.

The results of the discontinued operations (international air
and sea freight forwarding services) for the year ended 31
March 2024, which have been included in consolidated profit

ARE M EEHRRMEE

TAFZRA=+—HILFE

42. BERIEEFE @

(b)

RIZZME—R  "EREHE—
BBIUE=DRITRMDEEW
2 LUAE 1T st (89678 D)
HERED G BRAR (T
RN 93% MR- HE
At Ee S B WA= B0
FEBABRARMMKIE
AEDm - REMHERZE &
%IE”\&EIB"‘% kg tE&
BIRFS ©

ROMMNEASEEBRATRSED
B-BEEMERES LEERT -
ZO IR ERE P R M
Bl ZE K £ B E U RYR AR
BRI ZOHEBFHRS AL
RBFEEY -

BE_T_NME=-RA=+—HL
FEEBSAGEEGmNBERIEE
% (BEMERE LEERS) *#

or loss, are as follows: /T
2024
—ZETOF
HK$'000
FHET
Revenue: EES LN
— Provision of international air and sea freight —iR BRI 2= K F EEIRFS
forwarding services 1,621
Operating costs: KERA .
— Cost of providing international air and sea —RRHEIEM T 8 L EERBHMA
freight forwarding services (1,031)
590
Other income =R N 2
Administrative and other expenses TBREMSZ (118)
Staff costs BE MK (507)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNB AR ZEIE (518)
Loss before tax PRI AIESE (551)
Income tax expense PRSI =
Loss for the year FREE (551)
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e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

42. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

42 BERIEEFE @

(Continued) (b)y @&
The results of the discontinued operations for the year ended HEZZE-HRF=-_BA=+—HIk
31 March 2025, which have been included in consolidated FEEFAGGEaNBERILEE
profit or loss, are as follows: BEGNOT
2025 2024
—E_RE —EI@EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue: [
— Consultancy income from finance leases —RIEFREEERT WA - =
— Provision of international air and sea — B PR A 2R R
freight forwarding services B LEEERY - 1,621
- 1,621
Operating costs: E A .
— Cost of providing consultancy income —EHERMERAEEM A
from finance leases )N - =
— Cost of providing international air and —REEEMNERE LEE
sea freight forwarding services AR5 89 Ak A = (1,031)
- (1,031)
- 590
Other income HMkA 714 4,400
Administrative and other expenses TBREMSZ (186) (788)
Staff costs BE 4 (288) (1,046)
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZEEFER - (313)
Share of loss of associates DEBERBEE - 9)
Impairment loss on finance lease FEW R B ERIEREEE
receivables = (4,337)
Impairment loss on trade and other & WSt BR R R EL A FE WL R IE
receivables HEEE (4,321) =
Loss before tax PRI AIESE (4,081) (1,503)
Income tax expense PRSI = =
Loss for the year FRNEIE (4,081) (1,503)
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43. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  43.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MR

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

(b)

activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities

meHERERME

(a)

MEIBHEEZEFRED

TRFVNAEERETFENRE

arising from financing activities during the year: EEELZABEET .
Total
liabilities
Short from
Lease Trust term Long-term Bank financing
liabilities loans loans loan loans activities
REMEEH
HEaf FEER REER REBEM BITER HEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT FHERT FTERT FTERT TERT
At 1 April 2023 RZIE-_=FMA—H 3,682 228,472 6,529 343 93,674 332,700
Changes in cash flows Renesy (6,409) = 11,143 (343) 10,895 15,286
Non-cash changes FREEH
~ interest charged Gl 421 - - - = 421
- addition of right-of-use assets —ERAEEERE 13,682 - - - = 13,682
- exchange difference —-ERERE (105) (12,083) (422) = (5,030 (17,640)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZEZNE=A=+—H
RZZEZMFEMAE—H 11,271 216,389 17,250 - 99,539 344,449
Changes in cash flows Renesy (5,525) = 29,175 = (79,947) (56,297)
Non-cash changes FREEY
~ transfer from advance from —BHEREREA
subcontractor - - 18,098 - - 18,098
~ interest charged —FEtAIE 513 - - - = 513
- exchange difference —-ERERE (164) (1,852) (332) = (284) (2,632)
At 31 March 2025 R-B-REF=RA=+—H 6,095 214,537 64,191 = 19,308 304,131

Major non-cash transactions

(i)

(ii)

For the year ended 31 March 2025, part of the trade
payables under Henan Province Baoshihua Geothermal
Energy Development Co., Ltd.* CAIEI& & A EMEEE
BIE¥AR/AE)) (“Hennan Province Baoshihua”) was
settled by netting off the proceeds from judicial disposal
of property, plant and equipment of RMB17,097,000
(approximately HK$18,471,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2025, part of the advance
from subcontractors of approximately RMB16,872,000
(approximately HK$18,098,000) was become the
interest-free and unsecured short-term loan after the
loan agreement was entered in July 2024.

(b) EEIFRERH

(i)

(i)

BHE_ T _HE=-R=+—
HEFE - Am&Eatit
BEMEARAT (THIEE
BATE) B EMNEKRRE
BBNRIAEZHEYE K
BRZHEMERBARKE
17,097,0007T (918,471,000
BoT) EE o

HE_ T _HE=—RB=+—
HEEE BoREDEH
B NE 116,872,000
(#918,098,000% 75) R =
ZETMEt BRI B HE
BRARERERFEHREE

==
Ko
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S MBI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

44. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

45.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has entered into the following transactions
with related parties:

4. FAEHRINE

BRI e M B RRAMES D FTIKEE
o> AEETFARIESFIIL TR ¢

Compensation of key management personnel FEEEASHM
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key BEEREMEIEESEAEBRFERNZ
management during the year were as follows: FWMTF
2025 2024
—E-RE —E_UE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Short-term benefits ZHAR A 6,653 8,006
Post-employment benefits BEHBEN 268 357
6,921 8,363

The remuneration of Directors and key management is determined
by the remuneration committee having regards to the performance
of individuals and market trends.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

EEkTEEEBCMEHRFMES
E2EBARBERTHEBBRETE

45. ZABEEMB AT F B

Nominal value
Place of Type of legal of issued and fully
incorporation entity paid share capital/  Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiaries and operation  registered registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMMILR HfEARR BETRARRE
WEARRE S bepdl afE/#REE FARFREEETRAEE/ ARESLE) TEEH
Directly Indirectly
HH k3
2025 2024 2025 2024
—BC1f  BIME “BCRf CEIMAE
% % % %
Jet-Air (HK.) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$142,000,200 - - 100 100 Investment holding and
ROTE (BR) BRAR &R company 142,000,200 7 office management
BREAR RERRRNATER
Global Star Corporate Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 - - 100 100 Acts as administrative
Management Limited & company 10,0007 centre of the Group
REGEERERAT BREAR fERRERZITHAD
Qianhai Honghu Teri PRC Limited liability HK$110,000,000 - - 100 100 Trading of goods
Technology (Shenzhen) ] company 110,000,000 7 BEEm
Co., Limited* BREAR
AiEBERRRE (R
BRAF
China Best Finance Limited  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$2 - - 100 100 Provision of money lending
HERBERAT 5% company BT services
BREALR REMERS
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. Z AT EEM B AT HE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
Nominal value
Place of Type of legal of issued and fully
incorporation entity paid share capital/  Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiaries and operation  registered registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
BUTA FEARRE BETRERRE
MEARRE EESE b afE/HREE FRFFRKEETRAEE /ARG AL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
BE 3E3
2025 2024 2025 2024
—Z-if  E_ME ZECRF “ECQNE
% % % %

China Best International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$102,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of securities
Securities Company &8 company 102,000,000% 75 brokerage and related
Limited BREAT consultancy services

EERRIFERAT REFSLLK

HEEARS

China Best International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$67,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of futures
Futures Co., Limited 58 company 67,000,000%7¢ brokerage services

HERRBEERAT BREALR RUEBETLRE

Beijing Fudajia Enterprise PRC Limited liability HK$10,000,000¢ - - 100 100 Property investment
Management Co., FE company 10,000,000 75* REME
Limited* BREAT

TREEEREEE
BRAE

Shanghai Xuanmei Property ~ PRC Limited liability RMBS5,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of residential and
Agency Company FE company AE#5,000,0007 commercial property
Limited* BREAT agency services

TEHERMELL RECEREENE
BRAE BLRH

Shanghai Tuxuan PRC Limited liability RMBS5,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of building
Construction Design E company AE#5,000,0007 architecture and interior
Company Limited* BREALR design services

LREERER REBFEER
BRAE ELESE T

Guohua Jiaye (Beijing) PRC Limited liability HK$50,000,000 - - 100 100 Investment holding and
Enterprise Management Al company 50,000,000 7t provision of project
Co., Ltd.* BRETAF management

HERE (iR bEEE RERRRREREEERE
BRAE

Henan Province Baoshihua ~ PRC Limited liability RMB100,000,000* - - 525 525 Heating and cooling supply

AEEERTE FE company ARE by geothermal energy

BREEAT 100,000,0007%* HAERERS

Wujixian Baoshihua PRC Limited liability RMB60,000,000* - - 36.4 364 Heating supply by
Geothermal Energy HE company AE#60,000,0007¢* geothermal energy
Development Co., Ltd.* BREAR AR

("Wujixian Baoshihua”)
BRRELTTHRERY

BRAF

(MRBHERT))
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For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. Z AT EEM B AT HE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
Nominal value
Place of Type of legal of issued and fully
incorporation  entity paid share capital/  Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiaries and operation  registered registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR BLEIN-:H ERTRBRRE
WEARRE RS g EfE/HREE FAFFREEETRAEE/ ARE AL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
BE 3E3
2025 2024 2025 2024
—Z-if  E_ME  ZECRF B[R
% % % %
Xian Baoshihua Energy PRC Limited liability RMB50,000,000* - - 100 100 Heating supply by
Technology Group HE company AR #50,000,0007¢ geothermal energy
Co., Ltd.* BREALR AR

("Xian Baoshihua")
ARARTERNRER

BRAR
(BEZERTE)
Shaanxi Jiangwei PRC Limited liability RMB100,000,000* - - 100 100 Provision of projects
WAL company AR construction contracting
HE AREEAT 100,000,0007% RETRERES
Yuncheng Baoshihua PRC Limited liability RMB50,000,000* - - 100 100 Provision of centralised
Regional Energy HE company AE50,000,0007¢¢ heating and industrial
Technology Co., Ltd.* BREALR steam
("Yuncheng REERHARTEESR
Baoshihua")
ENERTEHARNE
BRAF
(MERERT)
Beijing Shuwu PRC Limited liability RMB20,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of financial
TREE FE company AR 20,000,000 information solution
BREERE and big data analysis
services
REMBERRATER
RUBA RS
# The registered capital is yet to be paid/fully paid as at 31 March 2025. # R ZE_RF=ZRB=+—H ZAMEX
EESSANPAES S S-XN
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ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258 % — & — A F = H =+—HIFFZ

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Except for a limited partnership incorporated in the PRC, all other
subsidiaries are companies incorporated with limited liability in the
respective jurisdictions.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at
the end of both periods or at any time during both periods.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI") material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amount before inter-
company eliminations.

45. X AT X EMB AT FHE

(&)
Br—ERPEEMA Lz BREGBE
ENPMBHMKNBARNERERRM
BEREEMRILZABRAT

B 52 i 18] 57 83 2K 50 = i 118 57 FE) P9 £ £
By ] 3 452 Y T A B SR AT R AR A
ZEFE S o

J:%%Fﬁ@JﬁZZK%WE’&ﬂ%%%
RN TEEEENEERBNIEY
ﬂzﬁﬁ? NSIES- & FV k{,itﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ

BABZFBRERBERT

TRITHAERNS BEARBIIFE
o (TFFEREDR)) NHE AT
B -MBENBTIEERRATME
REHRTAYEER -

Henan Province

Name Baoshihua
%iE AREERTE
Principal place of business/country of incorporation PRC
FEEEMI M ER FR
% of ownership interests/voting rights held by NCI 47.5%

R ERNEE RS REE BN

2025 2024
“EZRE —ENEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET
Non-current assets EREBEE 70,833 91,583
Current assets MENEE 17,131 21,659
Current liabilities mEMaE (16,185) (33,929)
Non-current liabilities EREBERE - =
Net assets EEZFE 71,779 79,313
Accumulated NCI Rt EERER 34,095 37,674
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e HRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. Z AT EEM B AT HE
(&

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) )
2025 2024
—E-RE —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue & 11,174 12,591
Loss for the year FRNEIE (6,905) (75)
Total comprehensive expense PE HAEZE (6,905) (75)
Loss allocated to NCI DNEEEIEEREm 2 Ei8 (3,280) (35)

Net cash generated from/(used in) KESERFRE S (FTA) IRe 358
operating activities 2,122 (157)

Net cash used in investing activities KEEFPIARE R (2,336) =
Net cash generated from financing activities BREEZNFISIREFEE = =
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents REKRIREEEBEE 2 H/D P48 (214) (157)

RBRERKX xRAEHHMEEEER
WARERZHBRAB - ZFWE AT
ZEEEBEMMT ¢

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Number of subsidiaries

WEAREE

Principal activities Principal place of business 2025 2024
FTEEH FTEEEMEL ZEZHEF T TNE
Investment holding BVI 25 24
KEER BEELHE

Hong Kong 8 5

BHE

The PRC 15 13

lE
Inactive The PRC 18 14
RIETER lE

Samoa 1 1

R

BVI 5 2

BEELHE

Hong Kong 5 5

BHE

77 64
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46. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

46. AT Z AR MR

2025 2024
—E-RE “ZETNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRBZKE - 1M
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables HpE U RIS 370 379
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note (i)) FEWLHS /8 2 Bl I8 (B EE()) 566,111 820,457
Bank balances and cash RITEBRKRIRE 13,224 7,113
579,705 827,949
Current liability mEan
Other payables Hn e RIE 3,590 3,616
Short term loan RRHERE R 3,350 -
6,940 3,616
Net current assets MENEEFE 527,765 824,333
NET ASSETS BEFE 527,765 824,344
Capital and reserves R A R Rt
Share capital (&N 209,150 209,150
Reserves (Note (ii)) EX-R(AEID)) 363,615 615,194
TOTAL EQUITY tEEm 527,765 824,344
Notes: [
() The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured (i) ER ECAHBARREAFEES N

and repayable on demand of which the balances of approximately
HK$383,797,000 (2024: approximately HK$419,462,000) carry interest
rates of 6% (2024: 6%) and the remaining balances of approximately
HK$182,314,000 (2024: approximately HK$400,995,000) are non-interest

bearing.

E EBARBEREREE HP4E
B8 #9383,797,0008 T (ZE W :
#9419,462,000/87T) 6% (ZZE MM
F16%) WAMERHE  MEGREHFD
182,314,000 T (ZBEZMF I &
400,995,000 7T) AR5t E o
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RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

46. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) Reserves

46. m AT Z FHERAR @

M5

(ii)

G

#E

Share  Contributed Share option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
Rt MARE  BRERE REtEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 A ZEZ=FMF—H 1,051,208 455,053 6,567 (789,520) 723,308
Loss for the year FREE - - - (142,745) (142,745)
Total comprehensive expense FREEMAZRE
for the year - - - (142,745) (142,745)
Issue of rights shares BITHERRMD 33,973 = = = 33,973
Transaction costs attributable to BOMEBREERZRA
issue of new ordinary shares (2,378) - - - (2,378)
Recognition of equity-settled ERURSEEURMD AR
share-base payment NN - - 3,036 - 3,036
Forfeiture of equity-settled B RS A E UKD AR
share-based payments NN - - (1,587) 1,587 -
At 31 March 2024 and at AZEIME=B=1+—HK
1 April 2024 “Z-MENE—H 1,082,803 455,053 8,016 (930,678) 615,194
Loss for the year EREE - = = (253,604) (253,604)
Total comprehensive expense FREERZRE
for the year - - - (253,604) (253,604)
Recognition of equity-settled ERUREEEURMD AERN
share-base payment i = = 2,025 = 2,025
At 31 March 2025 R_E_RE=ZA=+—H 1,082,803 455,053 10,041 (1,184,282) 363,615
The contributed surplus of the Company represents (i) the excess of RABZBABBIE()ERBA RGP

the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange in 1996 over the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued in exchange thereof and (ii) the credit arising from
the capital reduction by cancelling the par value of the paid-up capital of
the Company on 2 September 2020.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the

aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium accounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M EEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —&F _— A F=H =+—HIFFE

47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/LITIGATIONS

(a)

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Huaihua Qinneng
Technology Development Co., Ltd* (1Z1t2hsEF} 5 5 &
BIRAF) (“Huaihua Qinneng”) was under dispute with
Beijing Aoke Ruifeng New Energy Co., Ltd * (JEFRERIF
LHAERIRDARAT) (“Beijing Aoke”) regarding the
value of assets of approximately RMB18,850,000 which were
transferred from Beijing Aoke to the Group. Such assets,
mainly consisting of plant and machinery, were utilised in the
Group’s centralised heating business operated by Yuncheng
Baoshihua. Yuncheng Baoshihua is wholly-owned by Huaihua
Qinneng. Beijing Aoke won the case in the arbitration
proceedings for claiming back, inter alia, the value of the
transferred assets and applied for the court's enforcement.
The Intermediate People’s Court of Yuncheng* (Eifm e
M AEREPBD (“The Intermediate People’s Court”) ordered
Huaihua Qinneng to enforce the arbitration award and to,
inter alia, freeze entire equity interests in Yuncheng Baoshihua
held by Huaihua Qinneng. The Group has accounted for the
value of the transferred assets in its consolidated financial
statements but has not yet agreed on the settlement plan
with Beijing Aoke. In September 2024, the Group received a
notice from The Intermediate People’s Court in which it was
required to provide information for evaluation of total value
of all the equity interests and income of Yuncheng Baoshihua.
The Group has filed an objection with The Intermediate
People’s Court and the relevant objection has not yet been
responded. As at the date of this report, since the Group has
disposed the entire equity interest in Beijing Yuehai Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd.* (bR EBEEEEBRAE) which
wholly owns Huaihua Qinneng and Yuncheng Baoshihua (the
"Disposal”), the Directors consider that the Group’s obligation
to settle the disputed amounts to Beijing Aoke is released
accordingly.
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RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/LITIGATIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Certain suppliers of geothermal energy business brought
lawsuits to the court against Henan Province Baoshihua
and Wujixian Baoshihua (both being non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company) and Xian Baoshihua (a
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company) with total
contracts sum of approximately RMB26,371,000. As there
were contract disputes with such suppliers, Henan Province
Baoshihua, Wujixian Baoshihua and Xian Baoshihua did
not pay the suppliers even though the payment has been
due. After receiving the judgement from the courts, Henan
Province Baoshihua and Woujixian Baoshihua have settled
approximately RMB2,430,000 in total and the remaining
outstanding contracts sum of approximately RMB23,941,000
have been accrued in trade payables arising from geothermal
energy business as at 31 March 2025. Due to the
abovementioned lawsuits, the assets of Wujixian Baoshihua
and Xian Baoshihua totaling approximately RMB3,000 were
freezed as at 31 March 2025. The Directors are of the view
that these lawsuits and the frozen assets do not have material
impact on the Group’s financial position and operation.

(0 A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Shaanxi
Jiangwei, has also been involved in a number of lawsuits with
total contracts sum of approximately RMB45,560,000. As
there were contract disputes with suppliers under building
construction contracting business, Shaanxi Jiangwei did not
pay the suppliers even though the payment has been due.
After receiving the judgement from the courts, Shaanxi
Jiangwei has paid the suppliers approximately RMB6,254,000
in total and the remaining outstanding contracts sum of
approximately RMB39,306,000 have been accrued in trade
payables arising from building construction contracting
business as at 31 March 2025. Due to the abovementioned
lawsuits, the assets of Shaanxi Jinagwei amounted to
approximately RMB116,000 were freezed as at 31 March
2025. The Directors are of the view that these lawsuits and
the frozen assets do not have material impact on the Group’s

financial position and operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20258 F — &

47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/LITIGATIONS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Yuncheng Baoshihua, has also been involved in a number
of lawsuits with total contracts sum of approximately
RMB40,619,000. Given contract disputes with suppliers under
centralised heating business and uncertainty of the final and
conclusive result of the objection against the Termination
(as detailed in note 11(k)). Yuncheng Baoshihua did not
pay the suppliers even though the payment had been due.
After receiving the judgement from the courts, Yuncheng
Baoshihua has paid the suppliers approximately RMB880,000
in total and the remaining outstanding contracts sum of
approximately RMB39,739,000 have been accrued in trade
payables arising from centralised heating business as at 31
March 2025. Given the Disposal as set out in note 47 (a), the
Directors are of the view that the Group is no longer subject
to the aforementioned liabilities.

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Shanghai
Xuanmei Property Agency Company Limited* (/B &R
ERLARAT) (“Shanghai Xuanmei”), has been involved
in a number of with total contracts sum of approximately
RMB1,063,000. As there were contract disputes with agents
under property brokerage business, Shanghai Xuanmei did
not pay the agents even though the payment had been
due. The outstanding contracts sum of approximately
RMB1,063,000 have been accrued in trade payables arising
from property brokerage business as at 31 March 2025.
The Directors are of the view that these lawsuits do not
have material impact on the Group’s financial position and
operation.

ARE M EEHRRMEE
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RS M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20258%F —ZF _— HFF=H=+—HIFFZ

48. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@) On 30 April 2025, the Board has resolved to grant share
options to certain employees to subscribe for a total of
92,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company, pursuant to the 2021 scheme. The

exercise price is HK$1.04 per ordinary share.

(b) On 26 May 2025, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with independent third parties to dispose the
entire equity interest in China Best Financial Holdings Limited
at a consideration of approximately HK$9 million. Its wholly-
owned subsidiaries are principally engaged in regulated
financial services, including the provision of securities
brokerage service and asset management service. The disposal

was completed on 6 June 2025.

(c)  On 23 June 2025, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of
the entire equity interest in the subsidiaries engaged in
centralized heating business (the “Disposal Group”) at cash
consideration of RMB32 million and agreed to repay the
amounts due to the Disposal Group of approximately RMB7.7
million. The Disposal was completed on 25 June 2025. Details
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 23 June

2025.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
I AT E

RESULTS E$ 5 |
Year ended 31 March Fifteen months
BHE-A=+—HLEE ended 31
2025 2024 2023 2022 March 2021
.
ZA=+-H
—E_RE “E-ME “ET=F “ETCF E+HEA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERT FTERT FERT TET TET
Revenue et 116,083 214,970 504,665 858,457 1,182,493
Loss before tax BRI E (142,247) (128,411) (316,076) (1,088) (20,681)
Income tax expense Ffsimx (1,470) (3,372) (16,054) (10,035) (15,728)
Loss for the year/period £/ HREE (143,717) (131,783) (332,130) (11,123) (36,409)
Loss for the year/period WFREE/ R
attributable to: BE
Owners of the Company i UN=IE/Z=PN (138,052) (131,062) (333,793) (6,349) (42,578)
Non-controlling interests TR ER (5,665) (721) 1,663 (4,774) 6,169
Loss for the year/period £/ HREE (143,717) (131,783) (332,130) (11,123) (36,409)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
As at 31 March
R=B=+—-H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E_RE “ETME “E°=F “ETCF “ET-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FTERT FET TET FTET
Total assets BEBE 1,536,060 1,722,937 1,894,159 2,340,888 2,072,872
Total liabilities SEEE (918,987) (964,865) (1,003,764) (1,080,380) (923,155)
617,073 758,072 890,395 1,260,508 1,149,717
Equity attributable to E/NSIE PN
owners of the Company #m 583,949 719,064 841,327 1,209,425 1,100,143
Non-controlling interests iR R 33,124 39,008 49,068 51,083 49,574
617,073 758,072 890,395 1,260,508 1,149,717
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Schedule of Investment Properties
REYER

As at 31 March 20258 —E _#F=H=+—H

Percentage held

Address Use Category of the Lease by the Group
ik R& HERLAER TEEFEERL

1 Room 01, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABERAREISHIE01E (EES FREAFR AT

2 Room 02, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABERAREI15R1E02E (EES FREAFR AT

3 Room 03, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/E03=E [EES FREAFR AT

4 Room 05, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/E05= [EES FREAFR AT

5 Room 06, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER A REE151/E06= [EES FREAFR AT

6 Room 07, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABERAREI5R1E07TE [EES FREAFR AT

7 Room 08, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/EB08=E [EES FREAFR AT

8 Room 09, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/E09=E [EES FREAFR AT

9 Room 10, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
RSB ERAREISFIEI10E [EES FREAFR AT

10 Room 11, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
RSB ERAREIFIEBIE [EES FREAFR AT
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